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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present the strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Review of the company's business and principal activities

The company is a member of the Linde plc group and its ultimate parent company is Linde pic.

The company's principal activity has been throughout the current and preceding year the management and
administration of its subsidiary companies. During 2022, the company s subsidiaries ceasad to trade and the
directors are overseeing the orderly winding down of these companies. It is envisaged that this will continue to
be the principal activity of the company for the foreseeable future.

Performance of the company's business during the financial year

The company's income is mainly derived from dividends and management charges from its subsidiary
undertakings. There was investment income of £3,001 during the year (As restated 2021 £nil} following an

increase in dividends received.

The results for the year are contained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page 7 and show a profit
after tax for the financial year of £98,456 (As restated 2021: loss £17.572).

Key performance indicator

The directors refer to the company's level of income. its operating and retained profits. the value of its
investments and net asset value in evaluating the company's performance.

Position of the company's business at the year ended 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2022 the company held net current assets of £11,439.669 (As restated 2021 £11,211.698)
ang net assets of £14.415 570 (As restated 2021; £14.317.114).

Objectives and strategies

The company's primary objective and strategy is to continue as a holding company for its subsidiary companies.

Markets

Industrial Supplies & Services Limited is the holding company for a group of companies, principally operating in
the United Kingdom.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risk and uncertainty facing the company is investment risk. As a holding company, Industnal

Supplies & Services Limited is exposed ta the risk of impairment through poor performing subsidiaries.
Impairment reviews are carried out at least annually to effectively manage and mitigate this risk.

This report was approved by the board ot directors on 25 September 2023 and was signad on its behalf by:.-

DocuSigned ay:
Edﬂbz illiams
a2 TN S

S A Williams
Director
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Directors
The directors who held office during and after the year under review were,

J P Black

J M Bland {alternate director to S A Wiiliams)
G Gill

S A Willams

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.
Dividends
There were no intenm dividends paid during the year (As restated 2021 £nil}.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (As
restatec 2021 £nil).

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors hoiding office at the date of approval of this directors report confirm that so far as they are aware.
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are unaware and each director has taken
all steps that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company s auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditor

Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006. the auditor will be deemed to be re-appointed and BHP
LLP will therefore continue in office.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 25 September 2023 and was signed on its behalf by:-

DacuSigned by

ERL T A Y

S K Kelly
Secretary

Forge

43 Church Street West
Woking

Surrey

GU21 6HT

England
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT,
DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the the strategic report, directors’ report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
* make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been foliowed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- assess the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and

- use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due tc fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safequard the assets of the company and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES
LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Industrial Supplies & Services Limited (*the company”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which comprise of the Profit and Loss account, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of
Changes of Equity and related notes, including a summary of significant the accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework {United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the basis for
qualified opinion section of our report, the financial statements

. give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of its result for
the year then ended,;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with UK GAAP; and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accerdance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusion relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the director's use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authcrised for
issue.

Our responsibilites and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained
within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course
of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the wark we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES
LIMITED

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In aur opinion, hased on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

sthe information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report. We have nothing to report in
respect of the folfowing matters in refation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, in our
opinion:

-adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

«the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

-we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit;

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, an¢ for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’'s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below:

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the company and the industry in
which it operates, and considered the risk of such regulations, including fraud. We designed audit procedures to
respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES
LIMITED

than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error.

We focussed on laws and regulations relevant to the company which could give rise to a material misstatement
in the financial statements. Our testing included discussions with management for the compliance of laws and
regulations, agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, and reviewing
legal expenses. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described and, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely we would become aware of it.

As part of our audit, we addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including testing of
journals and review of the nominal ledger. We evaluated whether there was evidence of bias by the directors
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including
those leading to a material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk
increases the more that compliance with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to become aware of instances of nen-compliance.
The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, as fraud involves
intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Use of this report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lisa Leighton (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of

BHP LLP,
Chartered Accountants

2 Rutland Park
Sheffield
S10 2PD

Date: S€P 26,2023
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Administrative expenses
Other operating income
Intercompany write off

Operating loss

Income from shares in group undertakings
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar expenses

Profit before taxation

Tax on profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

All of the above relates to continuing operations.

Note

As restated

2022 2021

£ £

(224,804)  (127,210)
120,651 -

- 109,942
(104,153) (17,268)
3,001 ;
203,808 7,165
(10,261) (2,758)
92,395 (12,861)

6,061 (4,711)
98,456 (17.572)

The company has no items of other comprehensive income in the year other than those included in the profit
and loss account above and therefore no separate statement of comprehensive income has been prepared.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 01538873

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note
Non-current assels
Tangible Fixed Assets 9
Fixed asset investments 10
Current assets / {liabilities)
Debtors amounts fating due within one year t
Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors amounts falling due within one yeaar 12
Net current assets
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year 13
Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 15

Share premium account
Profit and loss account

Shareholders’ funds

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

As restated

2022 2021

£ £

134,050 402170
2,966,937 3064 332
3,100,987 3.466.502
16,729,228 13.006.124
79,781 168.485
(5,369,340) (71.962.911)
11,439,669 11.277.698
(125,086) {361.086)
14,415,570 14.317.114
14,415,570 14317 114
10,250 10.250
14,998 14 998
14,390,322 14 291.866
14,415,570 714317 114

The financial statements were approved by the beard of directors on 25 September 2023 and were signed on its

behalf by -

DoruSigned oy
[S au% 0 Laams
el ian ol G

S A WilHiams
Director

Page 8



DacuSign Envelope 1D 6D533155-1D54-4FBA-8879-1858F7076A5F

INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Share As restated

Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
£ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2022 10,250 14,998 14,291,866 14,317,114
Profit for the year - - 98,456 98,456
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 98,456 98,456
Balance at 31 December 2022 10,250 14,998 14,390,322 14,415,570

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Share As restated

Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
£ £ £ £
Balance at 1 January 2021 10,250 14,998 14,309,438 14,234,686
Loss for the year - - {17,572) (17,572}
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - {17,572) (17,572)
Balance at 31 December 2021 10,250 14,998 14,291,866 14,217,114

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies

Industrial Supplies & Services Limited is a private company limited by shares incorporated and
domiciled in Engfand in the UK. The 1eyistered number is 01538873 and the registered address s
Forge, 43 Church Street West, Woking, Surrey, GU21 6HT, England.

The company is exempt by virtue of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the company as an
individual undertaking and not about its group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework ("FRS 101").

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
("Adopted IFRSs"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies
Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been
taken.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking, Linde ple, includes the company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained
fram its principal trading address at Forge, 43 Church Street West, Woking, Surrey, GU21 6HT,
England.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:

- a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

- comparative period reconciliations for share capital, tangible fixed assets and intangible assets;

- disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly cwned members of the Linde plc group;

- disclosures in respect of capital management;

- the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

- disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out in this note have been applied consistently in preparing these
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the year ended (As restated) 31
December 2021.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1.

Accounting pelicies (continued}

1.1

1.2

13

1.4

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets.

Going concern

The use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate because there are no material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the
company to continue as a going concern.

The company has net assets and net current assets and can therefore support itself for the
foreseeable future. The use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate because there
are no material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about the
ability of the company to continue as a going concern.

The company's going concern is dependent on the company’s ability to draw on its cash balances
on demand. The company places its cash on deposit with Praxair International Finance Unlimited
Company {"PIF"), a fellow subsidiary of Linde plc, the company’s ultimate parent undertaking. Under
the terms of the deposit agreement between the company and PIF, the company is able to withdraw
its cash balances without restriction and on demand. The directors acknowledge that PIF also holds
similar deposits and agreements with other entities within the wider Linde plc group and as a result
the directors do not have visibility of PIF's ability to repay the company’s cash balances on demand
from its own assets in downside scenarios. However, in a letter dated 7th March 2023, Linde plc
confirmed its intention to provide financial support to all of Linde plc’'s subsidiaries with borrowings
from PIF as at 31 December 2022 for a period of at least 12 months from the execution of PIF’s
statutory financial statements, to enable such subsidiaries to meet their financial obligations to PIF
as they fall due.

As a result, the directors have conciuded that PIF would be able to repay the company's cash
balance on demand in the next 12 months. In making this assessment, the directors have also
considered Linde plc's ability to provide the support to PIF and have concluded that, s¢ far as they
are aware, Linde plc has the interest and ability to do so.

Conseqguently, the directors have reasonable expectations that the company wili have sufficient
funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due over the next 12 months from the date of
approval of the company's financial statements made up to 31 December 2022 and therefore, have
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Functional currency

The functional currency of Industrial Supplies & Services Limited is sterling and the accounts are
prepared using its functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates.

Adoption of revised standards

There are no amendments to accounting standards that are effective for the year ended 31
December 2022 that have a material impact on the company’s financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1.

Accounting policies {(continued)

1.5

1.6

1.7

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and
other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Trade and other debtors
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis, or on a reducing
balance basis, over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of tangible fixed assets. Land
is nat depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Land and buildings - straight line 10 years buildings/ straight line 50 years property

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.
Expenses

interest receivable and Interest payable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the profit and loss account {see
foreign currency accounting policy). Other interest receivable and similar income include interest

receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange gains.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective
interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1,

Accounting policies {continued)

1.8 Leases

The company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under |AS 17, At the
inception of a contract, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, along with one
or more other lease or non-lease compenents, the company accounts for each lease component
separately from the non-lease components. The company allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the company's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments inctuded in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixad payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the company is reasonably certain to exercise,

- lease payments in an optional renewal period if the company is reasonably certain to exercise an
extension option, and

- penalties for early termination of a lease unless the company is reasonably certain not to

terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, there is a change in the company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, if the company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option cr if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease lability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, to the extent that the right-of-use asset is reduced to nil,
with any further adjustment required from the remeasurement being recorded in profit or loss.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1.

Accounting policies (continued)

1.9

The company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the detinition of investment property in
‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liahilities in 'loans and borrowings' in the statement of
financial position.

The company has elected not to recegnise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for lease of
lowvalue assets and short-term leases. The Company recognises the lease payments associated
with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
profit and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or
other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following
temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

1.10 Impairment of fixed assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are assessed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is any indication
that an asset may be impaired, the carrying value of the asset (or cash-generating unit to which the
asset has been allocated) is tested for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset's (or CGU's) fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets that have been previously impaired are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to assess whether there is any indication that the impairment
losses recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased.

1.11 Investments

Fixed assets investments are stated at cost less provision for permanent diminution in value.
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_ DocuSign Envelope ID: 6D533155-1D54-4F BA-8879-1859F 7076A5F

INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies {continued)

1.12 Income

Income from shares in group undertakings is recognised when dividends become a legally binding
liability of the company. In the case of interim dividends declared by the board, this is on payment of
the dividend. In the case of dividends approved by the company’s members, this is recognised once
passed by the members.

1.13 Accounting estimates and judgements

Provided below are the key assumptions cencemning the future and key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date that may cause material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets or liabilities within the next financial year.

Fixed assets (impairment)
Fixed assets are depreciated on an annual basis, in accordance with the company's accounting
policy. An impairment review is carried out if a triggering event occurs during the year.

2 Expenses
2022 2021
£ £
Included in expenses:
Depreciation:
Owned assets 3,535 7,288
Right to use assets 23,356 54 931
26,891 62,216
Other expenses:
Loss on disposal of assets 21,680 -
21,680 -
Auditor's remuneration:
Audit of these financial statements 34,800 6,000
49,595 68,219

The company paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements
and for other services provided to the company and associated companies. Fees for the audit of the
Company of £5,600 (2021: £6,000). Audit fees for paid on behalf of other entities within the same group
which are borne by the Company £28,200 (2021: nil).
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3. Income from investments
2022 2021
£ £
Dividends received 3,001 -
3,001 -
4, Interest payable and similar expenses
As restated
2022 2021
£ £
Finance leases and hire purchase contracts 10,261 2,758
10,261 2,758
5. Tax on profit/(loss)
2022 2021
£ £
Analysis of charge in year Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits of the pericd - -
Deferred tax
Current year (1,727) 6,809
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous periods (3,789) (2.098)
Effect of changes in tax rates (545) -
Total deferred tax (6,061) 4711
Tax on profit/{loss) (6,061) 4,711
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

5. Tax on profit/(loss) (continued)

Factors affecting tax for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2021 - fower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK of 18% (2021 - 19%). The differences are explained below:

2022 2021
£ £
Profit/{loss) before taxation 92,395 (12,867)
Profit/(loss) multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%
{2021 - 19%) 17,555 (2,443}
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 33,398 1,343
Adjustments in respect of prior years (7,391) (2,098)
Non-taxable income (570) -
Tax rate changes {545) -
Effects of group relief / other reliefs (48,508) 7,909
Current tax charge for the year (as above) (6,061) 4,711
6. Employee numbers

The average number of persons employed by the company (including relevant directors) during the year,
analysed by category, was as follows:

2022 2021

£ £

Management and sales = 4
- 4
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 6D533155-1D54-4FBA-8879-1859F7076A5F

INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

7. Employee costs

2022 2021
£ £
Wages and salaries - 79,163
Social security costs - 8,039
Pension costs - 10,973
- 99,175

8. Direcfors’ remuneration
2022 2021
£ £
Directors' remuneration - 81,156
Pension costs - 6,005

- 87,161

Certain directors of the company are employed as managers or directors by BOC Limited and are
remunerated by this company in respect of their services to the group as a whole. Their emoluments are
dealt with in the accounts of BOC Limited. Consequently, they have not been disclosed in this note. The
emoluments of other directors directly employed by the company are as above.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

9. Tangible fixed assets
Land and
buildings Total
£ £

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022 (as restated) 775,627 775,627
Disposals (558,248) (558,248)
At 31 December 2022 217,379 217,379
Depreciation
At January 2022 (as restated) 373,457 373,457
Charge for the yvear on owned assets 3,535 3,535
Disposals {317,019) (317,019)
Charge for the year on right to use assets 23,356 23,356
At 31 December 2022 83,329 83,329
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 134,050 134,050
At 31 December 2021 (as restated) 402,170 462,170

Right to use assets

The net book value of owned and leased assets included as 'Tangible fixed assets' in the Balance Sheet

is as follows:

2022
£

Tangible fixed assets owned -
Right to use assets 134,050

As restated
2021

£

76,887

325,283

information about right-of-use assets is summarised in note 16.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

10.

1.

Investments

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2022
Disposals

At 31 December 2022

Impairment
Charge for the period

At 31 December 2022

Net book value

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2021

Investments
in
subsidiary
companies
£

3,064,332
(36,552)

3,027,780

60,843

60,843

2,966,937

3,064,332

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the company impaired equity investments in its wholly owned
subsidiaries Leen Gate Industrial & Welding Supplies (Scotland) Limited and Leengate Industnal &

Welding Supplies (Lincoln) Lid.

Debtors
2022 2021
£ £
Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by group undertakings 16,729,228 13,006,124
16,729,228 13.006,7124

Amounts owed by group companies are interest free and repayable on demand.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

12,

13.

14,

Creditors

As restated

2022 2021
£ £
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade creditors 749 813
Amounts owed to group undertakings 5,181,772 1,867 476
Lease liability 20,868 26,040
Other creditors 165,951 68,582
5,369,340 1,962,911
Amounts owed to group companies are interest free and repayable on demand.
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
As restated
2022 2021
£
Lease liability 125,086 361,086
125,086 361,086
Deferred tax
2022 2021
£ £
Fixed assets (6,061) -
(6,061) -
At 1 January - 4,711
Adjustment in respect of prior years (7,391) -
Deferred tax charge to P&L for the period 1,330 (4,711)
At 31 December (6,061) -
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

185.

16.

17.

Share capital

2022 2021
£ L

Allotted and fully paid
10,250 (2021: 10,250) ordinary shares of £1 each 10,250 10,250

The holder of the ardinary shares is entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and is
entitled to receive one vote per share at general meetings of the company.

Leases

Land and

building

E

Balance at 1 January 2022 325,283
Disposal of asset (167,877}
Depreciation charge for the year (23,356}
134,050

The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss for which the company is a lessee:

2022 2021
£ £

2022 - Leases under IFRS 16
Interest expense on lease labilities 10,261 13,306
Expenses relating to IFRS 16 depreciation 23,356 76,669
33,617 89,975

Related party transactions

In accordance with FRS 101.8, the company is exempt from disclosing transactions with entities that are
part of the Linde plc group, or investees of the Linde plc group qualifying as related parties, as it is a
wholly cwned subsidiary of a parent publishing consolidated financial statements.

There have been ng management and administration charges (As restated 2021: £nil) charged to non-
wholly owned subsidiary undertakings.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TOC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

18.  Prior year adjustment

2022 2021

£ £
Reconciliation of changes to equity
As previously stated at the beginning of the pericd 14,301,933 14,316,747
Adjustment of fixed asset valuation 217,379 217,379
Adjustment of lease liability {217,379} (217,379)
Prior year adjustment (2020) (7,309} (7,308)
Prior year adjustment {2021) {(2,758) -

As restated at the beginning of the period 14,291,866 14,309,438

Reconciliation of changes in loss for the previous financial year

Profit/(loss) for the year as previously stated - (14,814)
Adjustment of fixed asset depreciation - {21,738)
Adjustment of lease payments - 27,350
Adjustment of interest expense - {8,370)
Profiti(loss) as adjusted - {17,572)

Notes to the prior year adjustment

In 2019 the company extended the lease on a long-term leasehold property. This adjustment within
reserves reflects the long-term leasehold of this property in 2020 and 2021 of £7,309 and £2,758,
respectively.

The adjustment within the balance sheet also reflects the long-term leasehold of this property, fixed
assets and creditors balances. The restated balances can be seen in notes 9, 12, 13 and 18,

We believe that this restatement provides a more accurate representation of the fixed assets held by the
company and enhances the transparency of our financial reporting.
19. Post balance sheet events

No interim dividends were paid on the company's ordinary shares following the end of the year and
before the signing date of these financia! statements.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

20. Ultimate parent undertaking

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Welding Products Holdings Limited, a company registered
in England & Wales.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party as of 31 December 2022 was Linde plc
{registered in Ireland, number: 602527). On 1 March 2023, Linde plc changed its name to Rounderway
plc and merged with Linde plc (registered in lreland, number: 606357), with its registered office address
in Ireland at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin, D02 T380, Ireland.

Linde plc is the smallest and largest group to consclidate these financial statements. Copies of Linde
plc’'s consolidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at its principal trading
address, Forge, 43 Church Street West, wWoking, Surrey, GU21 6HT, England.
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21. Participating interests

Subsidiary undestakings

Country of
incorporation

United

Kinguom

Uiled
kingdom

rated
kingdom

United
Kingaaom

United
Kingcom

United
Kmngenm

United
KIngeom

Name

Allyseld Industral
and Welding
Supphies _imited

Express  Indusinal
& Welding
Supplies Limited

Futute  Industoal
and Weldng
Supplees Ltd

Gaffney Industral
5 Wel-ding
Suppl es Lid

(as & Gear Lumited

Industrial G
welding  Supplies
(Narthwest) Ltd

Industnial and
welding
Manage ne
Limited

% of
nominal
value held
as at
31.12.2022

100

1030

100

100

o0

140

14910}

% of
neminal
value held
asat
31.12.2021

100

104

1006

100G

100

10U

1130

Nature of
interest

Ordinary £1

Ordmary i1

Ordnary £1

Crdinary £

Ordinary £ 1

Ordinary 1

O1dinaiy ¢ 1

Notes & Registered Office

CHAMGE or REGISTIRED
ADLRESS - 0101 202/
Farge, 43 Church Street west,
woking, Suriey, GU21 6HT,

bngland

CHAMOE  OF  REGISTERED
ADDRESS 01.04.2077
Forge, 13 Chuidh Shieel west,

Wokmy, Surrey, GUZ21  GHT,
England 7

CHAMNGE OF REGISTERED
ADDRESS 01.01.2022

Forge, 43 Chuich Street West,
woking, GUZE GHT,
Figland

CHAMGE OF REGIS TEREL
ADDRESS - 01 04 2022

Forge, 43 Churchstreet West,
Woking, Surroy . G2 1 SHT,

Surrey,

England

CHAMGE QF REGISTERED
ADDRESS 01012022
Forge, 13 Church Street west,
Woking,  Suney,  GU21 0 6HT,
Egland _
CHAMGE OF REGISTERED
ADIIRESS - 02042022
Forge, 43 church Strect west,
Woking,  Surrey,  GU2Z1 0 GHI
Eagland

CHAMGI ol REGISTIRED
ADIRESS - il /007
Farge, 43 Chunh Street west,

woking, GU21

tagland

SUMey, o,
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Lnited
Kinhgdrm

Linited
kINgeom

Uit
Kingdom

tnitedd
Kingdam

Lnited
Kingdnm

United
Kingdor

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

BYS (Indusinal &
Wwelding Supplhizs:
Limited

Leen vate
Industnal &
welding  supplies
(Seetlandy Lmited

[ eongate

gt Ll &
welding  supplics
(NorthEasty [td

Leengate
ndnstral &
welding Supplics
(Nattngham; ttd

Leengate
lndustnal a
welding  Supphies
[td

Penning  Indust al
& Welding
Suppl es Limited

Rock Industnal &
welding  Supplies
Ltd

Ryval Qas Lirmited

106G

10

100

104

100

100

109

104

[y

100

Ordinary L1

Ordinary L1

Oidinary L1

Ordinary 11

Ordinary 1

Ordnary L1

Ordingiy £1

Ordingry £1

CHANGE 0OF REGQISTERED
ADDRESS - 0042022
Forge, 43 Chunls Street wWest,
Woking,  Surrey, QU2 GHIT,
Lagland o
CHAR all REGESTEREED
ADDRESS - o 02
Forge, 43 Church Stroet west,
Wokig,  Suirey, G210 6HT.
Ergland .
CHANGE Ok REGISTERED
ANNRESS - (iN12022
Forge, 43 Church Street woest,
Woking, SiLiey, GUZ1T GHT,
£agland

CHAMGE OF REGISTERED
ADDRESS - 01.04.2022
Faige, A3 Church Stieet west,
Woking,  Surrey, GUZT 6L,

Engtand
(HAMGE 0OF REGISTERED
ADDRESS - N ng 202

Forge, 44 Church Street west,
Woking,  Surrey, Gl GHI,
Fngland

CHAMGE OF REGISTERED
ADDRESS - 01.0v2022
Forge, 43 Church Street west
Woking,  Surey, G210 ol

Eagland. , ,
CHAMNOE OF REGISTERED
ADDRESS - 01012022

Forge, 13 church Stieel west,
woking,  Staey, GU21 &HI,

Fagland
CHAMGL OF RFGISTERED
ADDRFSS - 01.01.2022

Farge, 43 Church Street Wwest,
woking, Surey, GU21 0 6HT,
England
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INDUSTRIAL SUPPL{ES & SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 2022

CHAMNGE OF KEGIS TERED

United Welder Equipment ADDRESS . 0. 032022
Kingenin %e;vws le:ﬂﬁd- 100 KAIN Ordinary £ 1 toige, 33 Church Street west,
’ R . Woking,  Surrey.  GUZY ol
: Lland
CHAMGE Ot REGISTERLD
Usited wessex  Industral _ ) ANDRISS - _HE.EJ-I,/‘U/)
Kingenm & welding 1050 100 GOrdinary L1 1arge, 13 Chureh Street West,
Supplies 11d woking,  Surrey,  GUZ 1 GHI,

Ligtand

Sl nierest
The propartion of vating nght s held correspands 1a the aggregate percentage interest held by the holdine co npany gid
subsidiary undertakings

Page 27



Making our world more productive

Resilience &
Growth

Annual Report 2022




Financial Highlights

28%

16 %

Year ended December 31 o 2022 2021
Dollar amounts w millions, except per share data $ s
Reported
Sales 33,364 30,793
Operating Profit 5,369 4,984
Income from Continuing Operations 4,147 3,821
Diluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing Operations 8.23 7.32
Adjusted’
Sales 33,364 30,793
Operating Profit 7.904 7176
Income from Continuing Operations 6,195 5,579
Diluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing Operations 12.29 10.69
After-Tax Return on Capital® 22.9% 17.7%
Other Information
Cash Flow from Operations 8,864 9,725
Capital Expenditures 3,173 3,086
2022 Sales
End Markets® . Business Segments i Distribution Mode’
. |
m Chemicals & Energy Food & Beverage . WAmericas APAC (Asia, Pacific) | mPackaged Merchant
& Manufacturing Electronics W EMEA (Euicpe, u linde Engineering | m0n-Site m Other
Healthcare #® Other Middle East & Africa) # Global Other i
= Metals & Mining . !
!
i
25% i 36%
|
7 %‘“
Y
19 6p H
9% )
i E
‘ E
10% : E 25%
]
i

' Adjusted amounts are non-GAAP measures and are reconciled to ‘eported amounts in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” Section in ltem 7.

¢ adjusted after-lax return on capital 1s a non-GAAP measure. For definition and reconailiation, please see Appendix to the lnvestor Teleconference Presentation

Fourth Quarter 2022.
Total sales excluding Linde Engineering.



Letter to Shareholders

Dear Linde
Shareholders,

2022 was avear of unprecedented chellenges, mduding the
war g Ukraime, 4 global energy crises, record cost nflation
and an eccnoimic stowdown. Bespite all these heoadwinds, I'm
proud of wlhat our company and employees have achieved,
demonstrating why tindeas the best performing glabal
industrial gases and engineening company m the world

In Russia, we ceased project activities and commenced

the process to divest our local husinesses For Ukraine,

Linde employees across the world stepped up, suppoiting
humanitarnian relief work and i many €ases apening thern
homes to host Ukramian colleagues and fanilies. All this,
while doing what we do best: focusing an sa‘ety, contintous
improvenrent, profitable growth, active pncing and cost
management, aad sttong capital disupline

On the heanaal froal, earrags per share grew 20%, excluding
the effects of currency. Reluin on caprial (ROC), the truth
serum of our industry, giew 520 basis points 1 a record
272.9% we delivered a record 23 79 operating margin, up

40 basis points compared to the previous year - of 160 basis
points when you exclude the impact of cost pass-through

This 15 the fourth consecutive year where Linde delivered the
Righest operating margin and ROCin the mdustry, and 1 see
no reason why this should change We continued to gencrate
strang cash flow which bas allowed us toretyrn S7 5 billign to
our shareholders through dividends and share buybacks wihilc
mamtainag a very stiang balance sheet

During 2022, we also made sigmbicant stndes in sustairabiiity,
reducing absolute Stope 1 and Scope 2 emissions by more
than 1 million tons of CO,c compared to 2021, despite growing
valumes Ihis pesitiens us well to achieve our gogl of 35%
greenhouse gas emissions reduction by 2035, which was
recently validated by the Science Based fargets inttiative

Qur safety performance continues to be best-in-class, as
defined by a double-digitimprovement versus 2021 m jost
workday cases and commercial vethncle incdents. That said,
ane accident 1s one too many, and we will not rest untl we e
able to reach zeo acoidents globally As o local husiness,

we Continue to reman actively engaged in the communsties
i which we gperate 10 2022, Lirde teaims completod close

to 500 community projects, posttively impacting more

than 300,600 people across the world Sustamability is a
fundamental part of what we co every day, and we are proud
of our unparalleled track record of incusion i the BJSI World
for 20 consecutive years Linde was also awarded 4 double

‘A by COP forits approach to tackhng both watar secunity and
chmate change

g1



Letter to Shareholders

The basis of gur success s our peapl2 ~ 65,000 cmployecs
who serve our custamers and commumties, win new projects,
cxeute ou stialegy, dave innovat.on and deliven tesults
Having & decicated team of people who demonstrate business
owner mentality, grit and passionis what cnsures gur SUCss,
novs and i the future Maintannayg a diverse end inclusive

wo kptace whese emplayeess can achieve ther full potent al

1s therefore a prionty for me At the end of 2022, oui
woiktoree compr sed 28% women, and | hully expect us to
cxceed our target of 309 gender balance before 2030

Looking forward, we will continue to exccute o strategy
and deliver growth in 2023 and beyond Fustly, by optimizing
our base business - thiough ongaing productivity imtiatives,
active price management and continuoysly working to
Increase network density. A qood example of that 1s the
recartly completed acquisivion of nerAr, ong of the taigest
independent packaged gases businesses in the United States.

Second:y, by capitatizing on growth This means delivziing
ouf 59 2 billlon backlog of contracted projects for blue-chip
comparies, which have secured returmns, toalso maans
developing ard ommercalizing innevative technologies
and gas applications, and continuing to purste growth
opportunitics in secular end markets

Finally v gre prioritizing clean energy The indust v s
rdergoing a transarmative chiange at asea'e we hay?

not previously scer Large decarbomization prajedts have
started 10 gather pace, supported by mncentives such as the
L. Inflation Reducuon ACL Qur existing hydingen ausiness,
tecnnological advantage and asset faotprint put us in the oot
seat to win high-quahity dean energy projedds around the
wold. Qur strategy 1s to support decarbonization by warking
with off-takers to supply low-ca. bod-intensity ndustrial Jases,
sately, reliably and at scale - hke cur $1.8 billion investmert

to support OCI s worid-scale blue ammoria feality intha U'S
Gulf Coast Ir adaiticn to SUPJICIt 1g OUT ZJ5tamaTs’ emiss ons

02

r=cuchion goals through gur taditional an site modzl vie aic
alsn actively investing in our own projacts for clean energy
Fot example, we are buldig a 35 MW electiolyzer et Niagara
Falis that well effectively double Linde s green hydragen
producion i the US Winle cshimatzs on the scale of the
appoftunity vary there s no doubt that clean enzigy wi'f be a
sigmificant giowth drives for our business 10 the years ahead

Ou. resylts in 2022 ate a cu mination of a well-ingianed
performance colture bult upon a stiony foundation of
values. we are laser focused on ensaring that we arz a safe
and reliable partner for our customers, meeting qur own
hirh standaids for pedoimance and finding new ways to
improve our busiiess whether sunpiying ultra high punity
gascs to semiconductor fabs in Asia, uffering gas application
technologies for aguaculture in Europe or produang dean
hydrogen for ammonia productian in the Americas.

While we expect to soe continund geopolitical, soctal and
ceonnmic uncectamty n 2023, 1 am confident that Lide will
contirue to deliver in the years to come

Simcerely,

Lo

— -

Sanjiv Lamba
Chief Exetnnve Oificer



2022 Highlights

Clean Enerqgy

2022 saw significant momentum around
clean energy projects boosted by

the Inflation Reduction Act in the U.S.
Linde’s technology advantage, asset
footprint and operational expertise
position it well for such developments.
Ltinde announced its $1.8 billion
investment for supply of nitrogen and
clean hydrogen to OCI's world-scale
blue ammonia facility in Texas. This is
the first of many such projects that are
under development. These opportunities
follow Linde’s industrial gas model,
working with high-quality customers
and partners who are leaders in their
fields.

Linde is also increasing its own clean
hydrogen production capacities in

the U.S. and Europe to help meet the
growing demand far clean hydrogen
across several end markets, like
maobility. After providing the world’s
first hydrogen refueling station for
passenger trains in Germany, we are
proud to have begun the supply of liquid
hydrogen to the world’s first operational
hydregen-powered ferry for cars and
passengers in Norway.

Electronics

Across the world, Linde is at the

heart of the semiconductor industry.

A few years ago, we stated how we
would leverage the secular driver of
electronics capacity expansion and win
mare than our fair share of high-quality
projects. Our current project backiog of
tier one electronics customers validates
that strategy as we continue to lead

the industry. Linde secured electronics
projects in Asia and the U.S. during
2022, which are now under execution.
Linde will saon commence supplies to
TSMC's rapidly expanding multi-billion-
doilar wafer fabrication plant in Arizona.

Small On-site Projects

Linde signed 52 new small on-site
projects, which use our proprietary
technology to supply nitrogen

and oxygen. The 21% increase in
projects versus 2021 was largely driven
by growing demand for next-generatian
energy storage, such as lithium-ion
batteries. Linde also saw continued
strong demand from traditional

end markets including electranics,
manufacturing, metals and mining.
These lcng-term agreements meet
Linde's strict investment criteria, will
deliver steady revenue and contribute
to Linde's underlying growth.

Diversity & Inclusion

Creating a diverse and inclusive
environment where employees can
achieve their full potential is a priority

for Linde. Having implemented several
development programs, Linde closed
2022 with 28% women in professionat
roles - on track to exceed the company's
“30 by 30" gender diversity target.
Linde’s commitment to diversity was once
again recognized through inctusion in the
2022 Bloomberg Gender-Equality Index
and being named a 2022 DiversityInc
Noteworthy Company for the seventh
consecutive year. In 2022, the company's
first all-women-operated packaged gases
filling plant started up in Tamil Nadu,
India.
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Sustainable Development

bvery day, Linde team members aroLnd the wordc are helpirg to make a positive soual ad eavironmental impact i our
cammunities, for our customers and within ou. cwn Op(‘\d{ ans

Achievements

N
VARPAN

Diverted more than
200 million pounds
of waste from fandfills

P
{9(1!\

=

Pravided philanthropic
support to more than 1,000
organizations globally

B

On track to achieve 30%
representation of women
globally by 2030

.
'Y
fa) (e}
Benehited 300,000

pecple through
employee community

Saved approximately 400
million gallons of water
through sustainability
initiatives

::*i\
Sourced more than 1/3 of

electricity from low-carbon
and renewable sources

engagement projects

Recognitions & Awards

Dow Jores Sustamabiiity World index
{DjSHwaorld) and D51 North America:
incluced i OJSIWorld rar twenty
consecutive yeats

- SaF Global Corporate Sustamabiity
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Assassment ndustry-leading 2o en
the 99 percentle inchem.cals, =11n
irdusinal gases

SaP Sustamaniity Yearbook 2022

- CDP Lind2 named to A hist” far both

chimate change and water sacunty
Science-based target approval
Linde’s 2035 climate change goal
validated by SBTI

Halder of the Sustainable tarkets
[hhative T2ria Carta Seal

((h
©

Helped customers
avoid approximately
90 million metric tons of
equivalent carbon dioxide

v

Best-in-class
safety performance

FISE3Good Index constituent far
seventh consecutive year

- One of Werld's Most Ethical

compeancs by Ethisphers Irstitute
Bloomberg 2022 Gender-Equality
Index




p{121:]

35% Reduction
of GHG
Intensity’

Status:
Ahead of Goal

Achievements include:

- Realized steady GHG
intensity reduction since
2018

- Increased active
procurement of
renewable and low-

- carbon energy

- Commenced discussions
for several blue and
green hydrogen projects

2035

35% Reduction
of Absolute
GHG Emissions

Status:
Reduction Underway

Activities include:

> Developing several C(S?
projects

- Investigating renewable
feedstocks

- Achieved reduction
toward goal in first year

2035 goal approved by:

SCIENCE
BASED
TARGETS

DRIVING AMBITIOUS CORPORATE CLIMATE ACTION

Status.
Roadmap in Plaee

Activities include:

-» Deploy widespread use
ot CCS and renewable
feedstocks

- -> Transition fleet to zero

EmlSSlﬁﬂS

> Target sourcing of ~160%

renewable /low-carbon
power '

- Address remainder
through negative
emissions projects

Cllmate ‘,..eutralla‘ ;

* Aligned with the Paris Accords. Targets relate to all of Linde’s Scope 1 and Scape 2 emissions.
' Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions /Adj. EBITDA

Carbon capture and sequestration

3 Requires strong policy and regulatory support
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Leadership

Prucoutt, - teedarsb oo
Sanjiv Lamba

Chief Executive Officer &
mMember of the Board of Directors

Sean Durbin
Executive Vice President
EMEA

Guillermo Bichara
Executive Vice President&

Chief Legal Officer

Ben Glazer
Seniof Vice President Americas

}3_15 s

6o Leadership

Joe Abdoo
President Canada

Josue Lee
President North Latin America

Binod Patwari
President $outh Pacific

Susan Stevenson
President NuC02

pominic Cianchetti
Senior Vice President
Engineering Americas

functieral Leadesship

Desiree Bacher
Vice President Financial Plaaning &
Performance Management

Karin Griggel

Chief Compliance Officer

Luiz Oliveira
Vice President Operations
Excellence & Productivity

Sandeep Sen
Chief Information Officer
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Matt White
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Otheer

Juergen Nowicki
Executive Yice Prestdent
Linde Engineering

David Strauss
Executive Vice President &
Chief Human Resources Officer

Crispin Teufel
Senior Vice President Lincare

Moloy Banerjee
President ASEAN & South Asia

Zhengmin Li
President Greater China

Cliver Pfann
president Region Europe East

85 5ung
General Manager South Korea

Robert Eichelmann
Senior Vice President
Engineering APAC

Neil Beup
Vice President Global Public
Atfairs

Amitabh Gupta
Vice President Technology

Nicolas Pattera
Vice President Executive Statf

Vipin Sher
Vice President Mergers &
Acquisitions & Capex

John Panikar
Executive Vice President
APAC

Dan Yankowski
Senior Vice President Americas

Gilney Bastos
President South Latin America

Odessa Mann
General Manager Helium &
Rare Gas

Todd Skare
President Praxair Surface
Technoiogies

John van der veiden
senior Vice President
Engineering Sales & Technology

Anne Boyd
vice President Tax & Treasury

Kelcey Hoyt
vice President&
chief Accounting Gfficer

Juan pelaez

Vice President Investor Relations

Tony Waliace
Vice President SHEQ

Armando Botelio
President Region Eurgpe North

President Region UK & Ireland

Veerie Slenders
President Region Europe West

Vice President Sustainability

Chief Diversity Officer

Bjoern Schneider
vice President Internal Audit



Board of Directors

Steve Angel

Chairman,
Executive Committee
{Chairman}

Sanjiv Lamba
Chref Executive OHicer,
Executive Commitiee

Ann-Kristin Achleitner Thomas Enders

Hurnar Capital Committee Sustainabibity Commitice

(Chatr}, Sustamnability (Chair), Executive

Committee Commuttee, Audit
Committee

Hugh Grant

Nominatign and
Gowvernance Commiltee,
Human Capital Committee

Joe Kaeser

Nomination and
Gavernance Committee
(Chairy, Human Capital
Committee

Alberto Weisser

Audit Committee,
Sustatnability Committee

Robert Wood

tead independent Director,
Human Capital Committee,
Sustainabihty Committee,
Exccutive Commitiee

Victaria Ossadnik Martin Richenhagen

Audit Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Audit Comrmittee (Chair),
Human Capital Commitice

For mare informaticn about Linde’s corporate governance, please vistt our website at www.linde.cam/about-linde /corporate-governance
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Mission, Vision and Values

Our Mission

We live our mission of making our world
more productive every day. Through our
high-quality solutions, technologies and
services we are making our customers
more successful and helping to sustain

Our Vision and protect our planet.

We are committed to fulfilling our

vision to be the best performing global

industsial gases and engineering

company, where our people deliver

innovative and sustainable solutions for

our customers in a connected world.

Our Values

y B

) ., .$ .

* ..‘ ."“. ."' ...
T ..".

Integrity

Inclusion

Safety
Accountability

Community
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FORDBARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

[his docament contams “lomard-Tooking statements™ within the meaning o' the Private Sceurties Bitigation Reform
Act of 19935, These torward-lookmg statements are identified by termis and phrases such as: anticipate. believe, mtend.
astimate, expect. contmue. should, could, may. plan, project. predicte will, potential. forecast and similar expressions. The
are based on management’ s reasonable expectations and essumptions as of the date the statements are made butinvobve rishs
and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include. without limitanon: the pertormance ot stock markets generally,
devetopments in worldwide and national economics and other international events and eircumstances, including trade
conflicrs and tarifts: changes in forcign currencies and m interest rates: the cost and availability of clectrie power, natural gas
and other raw materials: the ability to achicve price increases to offset cost increases: catastrophic events including natural
disasters epidemies, pandemies sach as COVID-T9, and acts ot war and terrorism. the ability o atiract. hive. and retain
gualitied personnel: the impact of changes in financial accounting standards: the impact ef changes in pension plan
habilities: the impact ot tax, environmental, healtheare and other legislation and government regulation in jurisdictions in
which the company operates: the cost and outcomes ot investizations. litigation and regulatory proceedings: the impaet of
potentiz unustal or non-recurring items: continued timely development and market aceeptanee of new products and
applications: the impact of competitive products and pricing: future financial and operating performance of major customers
and industries ~erved: the impact of information technology system failures. network disruptions and breaches in data
securitv: and the eftectiveness and speed of integrating new acquisitions into the business. These risks and uncertaintics may
cause actual future results or circumstances to ditfer materially [rom accounting principles generally aceepted in the United
States of America, International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted projections. estimates or other torward-looking
srtements.

[ inde ple assumes no ubhigation w update or provide revisions o any formard-looking statement in response t
changing circumstances. Fhe above lisied risks and uncertainties are further deseribed in [tem 1A (Risk Factors) in this
report, which should be reviewed carefully. Please consider Linde ple™s forward-looking statements in light of those risks.
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Linde ple and Subsidiuaries
PARI |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
CGieneral

Linde ple is a public Timited company formed under the faw s of Treland with its principal offices in the United
Kimngdom and Unieed States, Linde is the lurgest indusirial gas company worldwide and is a major technological innovator m
the industrial gases industey. Bs primary products in its industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen,
argon. and rare giases) and process gases (carbon dioxide. helwm. hydrogen, electronic gases. specialty gases. and acetylene
cta). The company also designs and builds cquipment that produces industrial gases and offers customers a wide range of uas
production and processing services such as oletin plants. natural gas plants, air separation plants. hydrogen and svathesis gas
plants and ether types ot plants.

Linde serves a diverse group ot ndustries including healtheare, chemicals and energy s manufacturing, metals and
mining. food and beverage, and clectronics.

Linde™s sales were $33.364 million. $30.793 milhon, and $27.243 million tor 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Refer to ltem 7. Management's Piscussion and Analysis. for a discussion of consohidated sales and Note [3 to the
consolidated financial statements for addittenal mformation related to Linde™s reportable segments

Industrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmospheric gases are the highest volume products produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material. Linde produces
oxyeen. nitrogen and argon through several air separation processes of which cryogenic air separation is the most presatent,
Rare gases. such as krypion. neon and xenon. are also produced through cryogenic air separation. As a pioneer 1 the
industrial gases industey, Tinde is a leader in desveloping a wide range of proprictary and patented applications and suppls
systems technology - Linde atso ded the development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for
the production of industrial gases. These technologies open important new markets and optimize production capacity for the
company by lowering the cost of supplying industrial gases. These technologies include proprictary vacuum pressure swing
adsorption ("VPSAT) and membrane separation to produce gascous oxyvgen and nitrogen. respectively.

Process gases. including carbon dioxide. iy drogen. helium, specialty gases and acetvlene are produced by inethods
other than air separation.

Hyvdrogen is produced from a range of feedstocks using an array of difterent technologies. Despite hydrogen being an
invisible molecule. colors are often used to designate and difterentiate between the production processes used to produce the
molecule. The majority of hyvdrogen currently produced by Einde is what i~ termed gray hydrogen and s derived from
natural gas or methane, using steam methane reformation technelogy. Linde has multiple technologies o produce blue and
green hvdrogen. which are both considered types of clean energy. Blue hvdrogen is produced by capturing the carbon
cmissions from the hvdrogen plant and either utilizing them in @ way that stops them from being emitted or sequestering
them in the subsurface for the long terme Green hvdrogen is produced by electrolysis using renewable energy or from the
steam methane reforming of biomethane, Low carbon intensity. high-purity hvdrogen is also produced by purifying and
recovering by-product hydrogen sources from the chemical and petrochemical industries.

Helium is sourced trom certain helim-rich natural gas streams in the United States. with additional supplies being
acquired from outstde the United States. Carbon monoside can be produced by cither steam methane reforming or auto-
thermal retorming of natural gas or other feed streanis such as naphtha, Acetylene 1s primarily sourced as a chemical
by -product. but may alse be produced from caleium carbide and water. Most carbon dioxide is purchased from by-product
sources, imeluding chemical plants, refineries and industrial processes or s recovered trom carbon dioxide wells. Carbon
dioxide 1s processed in Linde’s plants to produce commercial and food-grade carbon dioxide.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three basic distribution methods for industrial gases: (1) on-xite or tonnage; (i) merchant or bulk liguid: and
(it} packaged or evlinder gases. These distribution metheds are otten mtegrated. with products from all three supply modes
coming from the ~sume plant. The method of supply 15 generally determined by the Towest cost means of meeting the
customer’s needs. depending upon tactors such as volume requirements. purity. pattern of usage, and the torm in which the
product 1> used fas a gas or as a cryogenic liquid).

Chi-sire. Customers that require the largest volumes of product (tvpiealls o<y gen, nitrogen and hyvdrogen) and thar hayve
a relatively constant demand pattern are supplicd by eryogenic and process gas en-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or
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adjacent to these custonrers” sites and supplics the product directly to customers by pipelime. On-site product supply contracts
senerally are total requirement contracts with erms tpicalty ranging from 10-20 years and comtaining minimum purchase
requirements and price escalaton provisions. Many of the eryogenic on-site plants also produce liguid proeducts for the
merchant market. Theretore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single custonwer. Advanced air separation processes altow
on-stte delivery 1o customers with smaller volume requirements,

Verchuit. The merchant business 15 generally associated with distributable hguid oxs gens nitrogen, argon. carhon
dioxide. hvdrogen and hehum, The debiseries generallyv are made from Linde’™s plants by tanker trucks 1o storage containers
at the customer's site which are usually owned and maintained by Linde and leased o the customer. Pue to distribution cost
mierchant oxy gen and nitrogen generally have arelatively small distribution radius (ron the plants at which they are
produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helium can be shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements usad in the
merchant business are usually three to seven-year reguirement contracts,

Pechaged Guyes. Customers requiring smatl volumes are supplied products in metal containers called oy linders, undoer
medium o high pressure, Packaged gases include atmospheric gases. carbon dioxide. hy drogen. helium, acetyvlene and
related products. Linde also produces and distributes in cvlinders a wide range of specialty cases and mixtures. Cylinders
muy e delivered Lo the customer’s site or picked up by the custoner at a packaging facility or retail store, Puckaged gases
are generally suld under one to three-year supply contracts and through purchasc orders.

Engineering

1 inde™s Fngineering business has a glohal presence, with its focus on market scgments such as air separation,
hvdrogen, synthesis, olefin and natural gas plants, The company utilizes its extensisve process engineering know-how in the
planning. design and construction of highly efficient turnkey plants tor the production and processing of gases. With its
state-pf-the-art sustainable technologies Engineering also helps custoniers asoid, capture and utibize CO2 emissions. Ity
technology portfolio covers the entire value chain tor production. Hiquefaction. storage. distribution and apphication ot
hydrogen which supports the transition to clean energy . Its digital services and solutions tacrease plant efticiency and
performance.

Linde"s plants are used ina wide variety of tields: in the petrochemical and chemical industrics, in retineries and
fertilizer plants, W recover air gases. o produce synthesis gases, o weat narural gas and to produce noble gases. The
I'ngineering business cither supplics plant components direetly to the customer or 1o the industrial gas business of Linde
which operates the plants under a long-term gases supply contract.

Inventories  Linde carries inventories of merchant and cyvlinder gases and hardgoods to supply products to its customers on
a reasonagble delivery schedule. On-site plants and pipehine complexes have limited imventory. nventors obsoleseence is not
material to Linde’s business

Customers  Linde s not dependent upon a single customer or a fow customers.

International  Linde s a globul enterprise with approximatels 68%, of 115 2022 sales outside ot the United States. The
company alse has majority or wholly owned subsidiaries that operate in approximately 435 European. Middie Eastern and
African countries (including Germany . the United Kingdom (UK ). France, Sweden. and the Republic of South Africa);
approximately 20 Asian and South Pacitic countrics (including China, Australia, India, South Korea and Thailand): and
approsimately 20 countrics i North and South America (including Canada, Mexico and Brasil).

The company also has equity method inyestments operating in Furope, Asia, Atrica, the Middle East, and North America.
Linde’s non-1".5 business is subject 1o risks custonurily encountered in non-U.S, operations. including tluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates. import and export controls. and other ¢eonomic, political and regulatory policies of local

goyernments. Also. see ltem TAL “Risk Factors™ and [tem 7.0, "Quantizative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market
Risk.”

Seasonality — Linde™s business is generally not subject to scasonal fluctuations to any signiticant exient.

Research and Development  Linde’s research and development is dirceted toward development of gas processing,
separation and hquetaction technotogies, und clean energy technologies: impros ine distriburion of industrial gases and the
development of new markets and applications for these gases. This results m the development of new advanced air
separation. hydrogen. synthesis gas. natural gas. adsorption and chemical process weehnologies: nosel clean energy and
carbon management solutions: as well as the frequent introduction of new industrial gas applications. Research and
development is primartly conducted at Munich, Germany. Tonawanda, New York. Burr Ridge. Hhnois and Shanghai. China,

Patents and Trademarks  Lindc owns or licenses a large number of patents that relate to a wide variery of products and
processes. Linde’s patents expire ab variows nmes over the next 20 vears, While these patents and licenses are considered
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important t s ncdividual businesses. Linde does not consider its busmess as a whole t be materialiy dependent upon any
one particular patent. or patent lieense. or family of patents Linde also oaens a large number of trademarks. of which the
“Linde” trademark is the most signiticant.

Raw Muaterials and Energy Costs  Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and distmbution of mdustrial
eases. Most of Linde's energy requirentents are in the form of electricity. nataral gas and diese! fuel tor distribution. The
company nutigates electricity. natural gas, and hydrocarbon price fluctuations contractually through pricing formulas,
strcharges, and cost pass through and tolling arrangements.

The supply of enerey has not heen « »tgnificant issue in the geographic areas where the company conducts business.
However, energy anvailability und price is unpredictable and may pose untorescen future risks.

For carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide. helium. hydrogen and specialty gases, rw matertals are largely purchased from
outside sources. Linde has contracts or conymitments for. or readily available sources of, most of these raw materials:
howerer, their long-term availability and prices are subject to market conditions.

Competition  Linde participates in highly competitive markets in industrial gases and engieecring, which are characterized
by a mixture of lacal. regional and global plavers. all of which exert competitive pressure on the partics. In locations whoere
Linde has pipeline networks, which enable the company to proyide reliable and cconomic supply of products to larger
customers. Linde derives a competitive advantage.

Competitors in the industrial gases industry include global and regional companies such as LTAdr Liguide S.A 0 Air Products
and Chemicals. Ine.. Messer Group Gmibl L Mitsubishi Chemieal Holdings Corporation (through Taivo Nippon Sanso
Corporation) as well as gn extensive number of small to medium sive independent industrial gas companies which compete
locally as producers or distributers. in addition. a sigmficant portron ot the intermational gasces market relates to customer-
owned plants,

Employces - The company sources talent from an ever-changing and competitive environment. The abtlity to source and
retain qualified and committed emplovees is a prereguisite for the company s success, and represents a general risk for

{inde.

The Bourd of Dircetors 17Board ™y has established a strategic business objective to maintain world-class standards in talent
management. Exccutive variable compensation is assessed annually based on performance in financial measures as well as in
several strategic non-financial arcas. including talent management. Fhe Human Capitat Committee assists the Board in ity
oversight of Linde s compensation policies and programs. particularly in regard o reviewing executive compensaiion for
Linde™s executive officers, Fhe Human Caprtal Commitiee also periodically reviews the company’s management
desvelopment and suceession progriums. diversity policies and objjectives, and the associated programs tw achicve those
objectives. The zlobul head of Human Resources reports to the Chict Executive Ofticer ("CEO7Y A global leader of
Diversity and Inclusion reports to the head of Human Resources.

Linde has aligned diversity and mclusion with its business strategies and implemented diversity action planming into business
process and performance management. Diversity and inclusion are ling management responsibilities and Linde secks
competitive adsantage through proactive management of irs alent pipeline and recruiting processes. Linde provides equal
cmployviment opportunity. and recruits, hires, promotes and compensaics people based solely on their performance and abiliy,

Lmployees receive a competitise salary and variable compensation components based on pertormance and job level. Linde
has collective bargaining agreements with unions at numerous locations throughout the world. Additional benefits are offered
such as occupational pensions and contributions towards health insurance or medical sereening. retlecting regional conditions
and local competition. Sentor managers participate directly 1n the company s growth in vatue through the Long Term
Incentive Plan of Linde ple. From tune to time. Linde may introduce special compensation schemes to recognize or reward
specific imdividuals such as the one implemented in 2020 for global front-line employces. Linde also invests in professional
development of its gmployees through formal and on-the-job training.

As of December 31, 2022 Linde had 63.010 employ cos worldwide comprised of approximately 28 pereent woeinen and

72 percent men.

Environment - [nformation required by this frem s incorperated herein by reference to the seetion captioned
“Management's Discussion and Analysis  Ervironmental Matters™ in Trem 7 ot this 10-K.

Available Information — The company makes tts periodic and current reports available, free of charge. on or through its
website, wwa dinde.com. us soon as practicable alier such material is clectronically filed with. or furnished too the Sceuntes

and Exchange Commiussion ("SECT). Investors may alse access trom the company website other investor information such as
press releases and presentations. Intormation on the company™s website = not incorporated by reference herein. In addinon.

6



the public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC Free of charge at the SECTs website, soww see oo, dul
contains reports. prosyinformation stitentents and other inforniation regarding issuers that file electronically.

Executive Officers  The tollowing Exccunve On1icers have been elected by the Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure
of the Board. 1t i~ expected that the Board will clect officers annually following cach annual meeting of sharcholders.

Sanjiv Lamba, 38, was appointed Chief Executive Otticer of Linde eftective March 1. 2022, Prior to being appointed CEQ,
he was Chiet Operating Otficer starting in January 20210 and atter serving as Executive Vice President, APAC, beginning in
October 2018, Previously. Mr. Lamba was appointed a Member of the Executive Board of Linde AG 0 2011, responsible tor
the Asia Pacitic scgment of the Gases Diviston. for Global Crises Busimesses Helium & Rare Gases. Llectronics as well as
Asia Jomt Venture Managemaent, M. Lamba started his carcer 1959 with BOC Indi in Finance where he progressed to
become Direcror of Finanee befare being appomted as Managing Director tor BOCs India’s business in 2001, Throughow
his vears with BOC Linde, he worked in various roles across a number of different geographies including Germany., the
UK. Simgapore and India.

Guillermo Bichara, 450 is Baccutive Viee President and Chiel Legal Qllicer. He previously served as Praxair’s Vice
airs at Praxair Mexico

President and General Counsel. Mr Bichara joined the contpany m 2006, first as Dircctor of Legal Aft
before being promoted to Viee President and General Counsel of Praxair Asia. He subsequently had responsibility for
LFurope. Mexico and corporate transactions before being promoted o Associate General Counsel and Assistant Seeretary.
Mr. Bichara previously held reles at Comex and various global Taw firms,

Sean Durbin, 32, became bxecutive Vice President. EMEA in April 2021, Proviously. he served as Senior Viee President,
Glebal Funetions beginning in July 2020, Durbin joined Praxair, Ine in 1993 and served in various roles across operations,
engineering, project management. business development and sales, In recent years, he has held leadership positions including
Business President. Region Furope South trom 2619 to 2020, and Prosident, Praxair Canada Ine. trom 2013 ro 2019,

Keleey B Hoxt 33, became the Chief Accounting Ofticer of Linde in October 2018, Prior to this. she served as Viee
President and Controller of Praxair, Inc, beginning in August 2016, Prior to becoming Controdler. she served as Praxair’s
Director of Investor Relations since 2010, She joined Praxair in 2002 and served as Director of Coporate Accounting and
SEC Reporting through 2008, and later served as Controller for various divisions within Praxair’s North American Industrial
Cras business. Proviousdy, she was o audic ar KPMGL LLE.

Juergen Nowiehis 5390 was appointed Exeeutive Viee President and CEQOL Linde Eugineering in April 2020, Prior to this, he
was Senior Viee President, Commercial, Linde Engincertng. My, Nowicki juined Linde in 1991 as an Internal Auditor and
held varous positons in Finance and Controlling. In 2002, he was appointed CFO Linde Gas North America, USALand was
namied Head of Finance and Control for The Finde Group in 2006, Nowicki dssumed the rele of Managing Director. Linde
Engincering in 201 1.

John Panikar. 35, was appointed Exeeutive Viee President. APAC of Linde etfective in January 2021, Previously. he served
as President UK & Adrica ol Linde since Ociober 2018, Fromm 2014 1o 20108, Mr, Panikar was President of Praxair Asia He
began his carcer with Praxair in 1991 as an Applications Engincer. Over the years, Mr. Panikar held increasingly responsible
positions including Manager of Site Services and Equipment, Business Do elopment Director for Praxair Asta, Managing
Dircetor of Praxair India, VP, South Region. North American Industrial Guases and President, Praxair Distribution, Inc.

Duvid P Strauss. 6+ is Executive Viee President and Chiet Human Resourees Olficer. He previously served as Praxair’s
Chiefl Human Resources Ofticer. Mr. Strauss jorned Linde in 1990 as an Applications Engineer before being promoted 1o
lead the electronics materials business, He subsequently semved as Vice President of Safety. Health and Enyironment.

Matthew J. White, 50, became Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Linde in October 2018, He
previously served us the Senior Viee President and Chief Financial Officer of Praxair, Ine. sinee January [ 2014, Prier 1o
this. Mr. White was President of Pruxair Canada from 2011 to 2014 e jowned Praxair in 2004 as tinance director tor the
company's Lrgest business unit. North American Industrial Ciases, In 2005, he became Viee President and Controller of
Praxair. Inc.. then was named Viee President and Treeasurer in 2010, Before joining Praxair. White was vice president.
linance. at Fisher Scientific and before that he held vartous financial positions. including group controller. at GenTek, a
manufacturing and performance chenneals company.



TIEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Due to the size and geographic reach of the company s operations. 4 wide range ol factors, many of which are outside
ot the campany s control. could materially atfeer the company s future operations and financial performance. Management
belies os the follow mg risks nlay significantly impact the company:

Weakening economic conditions in muarkets in which Linde does business may adversely impact it financial resules and/
or cush flows,

Linde serves a diverse group of industries acrass mare than 80 countries. which gencrally leads o financial stakiliny
through various business cyeles, However, a broad decline in general ceconomic or business conditions in the industries
served by its customers could adversely atfect the demand for Linde’s products and impair the ability of its customers o
satisty their obhigations to Linde, resulting in uncollected receivables and or unanticipated contract erminations or project
Jelays, For example, globat political and cconemie uncertainty coukbd reduce investment activities of Linde™s customers,

which could adversely atteet Linde s business.

In addition, many of Linde’s customers are 10 busmesses that are vyelical in nature. such as the chemicals. metals and
energy industries. Downturns i these industries may adversely mpact Linde during these eyceles. Additionally, such
conditions could impact the utilization of Linde™s manutucturing capacity which may require 1t to recognize impairnmient
losses on tangible assets such as property. plant and equipment. as well as intangible assets such as goodwill, customer
retattonships or intellectual property.

Increases in the cost of energy and raw materials and/or disruption in the supply of these materials could result in lost
sules or reduced profitability.

requirements are in the form ot clectricity. natural gas and diese! fuel tor distribution. Linde attempis io minimize the
financial impact of variability in these costs through the management of customer contracts and reducing demand through
operational productivity and energy etficiency. Large customer contracts typically have escalation and pass-through clanses

Energy is the single largest cost item in the preduction and distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy

impact Linde’s financial condition or results of operations, The supply of energy has not been a significant issuc in the
geographic areas where Linde conducts business. However, regiona! energy conditions are unpredictable and may pose
future risk.

o recover energy and feedstock costs. Such attenipts may not successfully mitigate cost variability, which could negatively
s i

For carbon dioxide. carbon monoxide. helium. hydrogen and specialty gases. raw materials are largely purchased from
outstde sources. W here teasible, Linde sources severa! of these raw materials, including carbon dioxide, hvdrogen and
calcium carbide, as chemical or industrial byproducts, In addimion, Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily
avatlable sources ol most uf these raw materiaks: however, their long-term avarlability and prices are subject to market
conditions. A disruption in supply of such raw materials could impact Linde s ability to mecet contractual supply
commitments,

Linde’s international operations are suhject to the risks of doing business abroad and international events and
circpnstances may qdversely impact irs business, financial condition or results of aperations.

Linde has substantial mternational operations which are subject to risks including devaluations m currency exchange
rates. transportation delays and interruptions. political und economic instability and disruptions, restrictions on the transfor of
lunds. trade contiiets and the imposition of duties and tariffs, import and export controls, changes in governmental policies,
labor unrest. possible nationalizanon and 'or expropriation of asscts. changes in .S, and non-US_ tax policies and
compliance with governmental regulations. These events could have an adverse etfect on the international eperations of
Linde in the future by reducing the demand for its products. deereasing the prices at which it can sell its products. reducing
the revenue from international operations or othenwise hiving an adverse eftect on its husiness.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations und other related risks may adversely affect Linde’s resulty.

Becausc a significant portion of Linde’s revenue s denominated in currencics ather than 1ts reporting currency . the
LS. dollar. changes in exchange rates will produce fluctuations in revenue, costs and carnings and may also atfect the book
value ot assets and liabilities and related equits . Although the company from time to time utilizes foreign exchange forward
contracts to haedge these exposures, its offoris o minimize currenes exposure through such hedging transactions may not be
successiul depending on market and business conditions. As a result, fluctuations in foreign curreney exchange rates could
adversely affect Linde™s financial condition. results of operatons or cash flovs.



Mucroeconovmic fuctors may impact Linde™s abiline to obtain financing or {ncrease the cost of obraining financing which
may adversefy impact Linde s financial vesults andior cash flows.

Volatility and distuption in the LS. Luropean and global eredit and equity markets, trom time to tme, could make it
mare difficult for Tinde to abtain financing tor it operations and or could inerewse the cost of obtaming financing, In
addition. Limde’™s borrowing ¢osls can be affected by short- and long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating
agencics which are based, in significant part. on its pertformance as measured by certam criterna such as mterest coverage and
leserage ratios, A decrense in these debt ratings could increase the cost of borrowing or make tt more difticult 1o obtam
flnancing.

A impairment of goodwill gr intangible assets could negatively impact the company’s financial resulis,

Ax of December 31,2022, the net carrving value of goodwill and other indefinne-lived intangible assets was
S26 bilhon and S2 billion, respectively. primarily as a result of the busmess combiation and the related acquisioon method
of accounting applied to Linde AG. In accordance with generaliy accepted accountung principles. the company periodically
assemaes these assets to determine 1 they are impaired. Signtlicant negative mdustry or cconemic trends. disruptions to
business, unexpected significant chunges or planned changes 1 use of the assets, divestitures and sustained market
capitalization declines may result in recognition of impairments to goodwill or other indefinite-lived assets. Any charges
relating to such impairments could have a material adverse impact on Tinde™s resalts of operations in the penods recognized.

Catastroplic events could disrupt the operations of Linde and/or its customers and suppliers and may have a significant
udverse impact on the results of operations,

The oceurrence of catastrophic cyvents or natural disasters such as extreme weather. including huricanes and floods;
health epidemics: pandemics, such as COVID-19; and acts of war or terrorsin. could disrupt or delay Linde™s ability to
produce and distribute its products to customers and could potentially expose Linde to third-party liabihity claims. In
addition, such events could impact Linde’s customers and supplicrs resulung in temporary or long-term outages and or the
limiation of supply of energy and other raw materials used in normal business operations. Linde evaluates the direct and
imdirect business risks. consults with vendors, insurance providers and industry experts, makes investments 1n suitably
resiliont design and technelogy. and conducts regular reviews of the business risks with management. Despite these steps.
however, these situations are outside Linde™s controf and may have o significant adverse impact on its financial results,

The inability to attract and retain gqualified personnel may adversely impact Linde's business.

If Linde fals o attracy, hire and retain qualified personnel. it may not be able to develop, market or sell it products or
suceessfully manage 1ts business. Linde is dependent upon @ highly skhitled. experienced and efficient worktoree to be
successiul. Much ef Linde’™s competitive advantage is based on the expertise and experience of key personnel regarding
marketng. technoelogy. manulacturing and distribution infrastructure, svstems and products. The inability to attract and hire
gqualificd individuals or the loss of key emiployees invery skilled areas could have a negative effect on Linde’s financial
results

If Linde faily to keep pace with technological advances in the industry or if new technology initiatives do not hecome
commercially accepred, customers may not coatinue to buy Linde’s products and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

Linde's resairch and des elopment is directed toward des cloping new and improyved methods for the production and
distribution of industrial gases, the design and construction of plants and toward developing new markets and applications for
the use ol indusrial and process gases. This results in the introduction of new applivations and the development ot new
ady anced process technologics. As a result of these efforts. Linde develops new and proprictary technologies and employs
necessary medsures o protect such weehnologies within the global geegraphies in which Linde operates. These wechnelogies
help Binde to ereate a competitye advantage and o provide a platform to grow its business. [ Linde s research and
development activities do not keep pace with competitors or i Linde does not ereate new technologies that benetit
customers, future results of operations could be adversely altected.

Risks related to pension benefit plans may adversely impact Linde’s resules of operations and cusit flows,

Pension henefits represent significant financial obligations that will be uliimately settled in the future with employees
who meet eligibility requitenents. Because ot the uncertaintics imvolyved in estimating the timing and amount of tuture
payments and asset returns, sionificant estimates ave required o caleulate pension expense and liabilities related to Linde's
plans. Linde utilizes the services of mdependent actuaries, whose models are used to facilitate these calealations, Several key
asstimptions are used inthe actuarial models o caleukate pension expense and lability amounts recorded in the consolidated
financial statements. [n particular. signiticant changes 1n actual myestment returns o pension asscts. discount rates, or
legislative or regalatory changes could impact future results of operations and required pension contributions.
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Operational risks may adversely impact Linde’s business or residts of opevations.

Linde™s operating results are dependent on the continued operation ot i1 producton facilities and its abthty to mect
customer contract requirements and other necds, [nsutticicnt or exeess capacity threatens Linde™s ability to generate
competitive profit margins and may expose Linde o liabilities related o contrace commitments. Operating results are also
dependent on Linde’s ability to complete new construction projects on ume. on budget and in accordance with performance
requirenmients. Failure to do so may expose Linde's busmess w loss of revenue, potential litgation and loss of business
reputation,

Also inherent in the management of Linde™s production facilities and delivery sy stems. mcluding storage. v ehicle
rransportation and pipelines, are operational risks that require continuous training. oversight and control. Material operating
tailures ar production, storage facihitios or pipelines, including tfire. toxic release and explosions. or the eccurrence of vehicle
transportation accidents could result in loss of life, damage w the environment, Joss of production and or extensisve properts
damage, all o which may negatively impact Linde™s financial resulrs,

Linde may be subject to information technology system fuilures, netsork disruptions and breaches in data security.
| FA R . I A

Linde relies on information technology sy stems and networks for business and operational activitics. and also stores
and processes sensitive busimess and proprictary information in these sy stems and networks, These systems are susceptible
outages due to fire. tlood. power loss. welecommunications failures. viruses. break-ins and similar events, or breaches of
sceurty.

Linde has taken steps to address these risks and concerns by implementing ady anced seeurity technologies, internal
controls. network and data center resiliency and recovery process. Pespite these steps, however, our information technology
systems have in the past been and in the future will Tikely be subject to increasingly sophisticated cyber attacks. Operational
tailures and breaches of security {rom such attempts could lead to the loss or disclosure of confidential information or
personal data belonging o Linde or our emiployees and customers or supplicrs. These failures and breaches could result in
business mterruption or malfunction and lead to fegal or regulatory actions that could result in a material adsy erse impact on
Linde™s operattons, reputation and financial results. To dare. such attempts have not had any significant impact on Linde's
aperations or financial results.

The inahility to effectively integrate acquisitions or collaborate with joint venture partners could adversely impuact Linde's
Sinancial position and results of operations.

Lindc has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate. a wide array of potential strategic acquisitions and joint
ventures. Many ot these transactions, if consummated. could be material to its financial condition and results of operations.
In addition. the process of integrating an acquired company. business or group of asscts may create unforeseen operating
difficulties and expenditures. Although historically Linde has been successtul with its acquisition strategy und execution. the
arcas where Linde may face risks include:

= the need to implement or remediate controls. procedures and policies appropriate for a larger pubtic company at
companics that prior to the acquisition lacked these controls, procedures and policies.
« diversion of management time and focus trom operating existing business to acquisition integration challenges:

«  cultural challenges associated with mtegrating employces from the acquired company into the existing
Organi s ation:

= the need to integrate cach company’s accounting. managaiment information. human resources and other
admintstrative systems to permit etfective management;

+  difficulny with the assimilation of acquired operations and products:
¢ tatlure te achieve tregeted synergies and cost reductions; and
= nability to retain key employees and business relationships of acquired companics.

Foreign acquisitions and joint ventures involve unigue nisks in addition o these mentioned herein. including those
related o ntegration of operations across different cultures and fanguages. currency rishs and the particular cconomic,
political and regulatory risks associated with specitic countries.

Also, the anticipated benetit of putential future acquisitions may oot materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions
could result i the mcurrence of debt. conungent Habilities or amortization expenses. or impairments of goodwill, any of
which could adversely impact Linde’s financial results.

10




Linde is subject to a vavieny of international faws and government regulations und changes in, or fuilure to comply with,
these Lows or regulations could have an adverse impact on the company’s business, financial position and results of
Operations.

Linde 15 subject to regulations in the following arcas. among others:

+environmental protection. including ¢limate change and cnergy efficieney laws and policies:

¢ US and non-U Sy faws and curreney controls:

« saferns:

+ securtties laws applicable in the United States. the Puropean Union, Germany, breland, and other jurisdictions;
« trade and import export restrictions. as well as econonie sanctions laws:

*  antitrust Mmatiers:

+  data protection:

«  global anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act: and

+  healtheare regulations.

Changes in these or other regulatory arcas may mmpact Linde™s profitability and may give rise to new or increased
compliance risks: it may become more complex and costly to ensure compliance, and the fevel of sanctions in the esent off
non-compliance may rise. Noncompliance with such law s and regulations could result in penalties or sanctions, cancellation
of marketing rights or restrictions ain participation i or even exclusion from. public tender proceedings, all of which could
have a material adserse impact on Linde’™s financial results and. or reputation.

Such changes may also restrict Linde™s ability o compere etffeetively in the marketplace. Changes to regulations in the
arcas of environmental protection and climare change. for example, may impact customer and competitor behavior driving
structural changes in key end markets, While Elnde will work to mitigate these risks through the pursuit of simteyie alliances
and mvestment in applications technologies to capture new growth arcas. given the uncertainty about the tvpe and scope of
new regulations, it is difficult to predict how such changes and their impact on market behavior will ultimately impact
Linde's business. However, such changes could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s results of operations.

Doing business globally requires Linde w comply with anti-corraption., trade. compliance and economic sanctions and
sinvilar laws. and o maplement policies and procedures designed to ensure that its emplovees and other imtermediaries
comply with the appheable restrictions. These restrictions include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain products,
services and any other econemic resources o cmbargoed or sanctioned countries, govermnments, persons and enlities.
Compliance with these restrictions requires. among ether things, sereening of business parmers. Despite its commitment to
legal complianee and corporate ethies, the company cannot ensure that s policies and procedires will alway s protect it from
intentional. reckless or negligent acts comnutted by emiployees or agents under the applicable laws. 1If Linde fails to comply
with laws goverming the conduct of international operations. Linde may be subjoect to eriminal and ¢ivid penaltics and other
remoedial measures, which could materially adversely alfect its reputation, business and results of operations.

The outcome of litigation or governmental investigations may adversely impact the company’s business or results of
aperations.

Linde™s subsidiaries are party to sarious Iiwsuits and governmental investigations arising in the ordinan course of
business. Adserse vutcomes in some ot all of the claims pending may result in signiticant monetany, damages or injunctise
relief that could adversely aftect Linde™s ability to conduct business. Linde and i< subsidiaries muay in the future become
subject 1o turther claims and htigation. which is impossible 1o predict, Phe litigation and other claims Linde faces are subject
to inherent uncertaintis. Legal or regulatory judgmenrs or agreed settlements might give rise o expenses which are not
corvered. or are not fully covered. by insurance benefits and may also lead to negative pubhicity and reputational damage. An
untar erable vutcome or determination could cause a materal adverse tmpact on the company s results of operations.

Potential product defects or inadequate customer care may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Risk~ associated with products and services may result m potential lability claims, the loss ol customers or damage o
Linde’s reputation. Principal possible causes of risks associated with products und services are product defects or an
inadequate level of customer care when Linde 15 providing services.

Linde is exposed o legal risks relating to product lability in the countries where it operates, including countries such
as the Lnited States, where lewal risks (in particular through class actions) hav e historicadly been more significant than in



other countries. The outcome ot any pending or future products and services proceedings or investigations cannot be

predicted and legal or regulatory Judgmenes or agreed settdements may give rise to signiticant Tosses, costs and expensoes.

The manufacturing and sale of preducts as well as the construction and sale of plants by Linde mav give rise to rishs
ussociated with the production. tilting. storage. handlmg and trunsport of rie: materials, goods or waste, Industrial gases are
potentially hazardous substances and medical gases and the related healtheare services must compts with the relevant
specttications in order o not ads ersely affect the healith of patients wreated with them.

Linde™s prodacts and services. ifdefective or nat handled or performed appropriately, may lead to personal injuries,
business interruptions, envirenmental damages or other signtticant damages. which may result, among other consequences,
1 labihty, Tosses, monetary penalties or compensation pavinents, environmental clean-up costs or other costs and expenses,
exclusion from certain market sectors deemed unpoitant tor future des clopnient of the business and loss of reputation. Al
these consequences could have o material adverse effect on Linde’™s business and resulis of operations.

LS. civil liabitities may not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde 1y organized under the laws of Ireland and substanual portons of its assets are Tocated outside of the Unned
States. In addition, certain directors and otficers of Linde and its substdiaries reside outside the United States. As a resuli, it
may be ditficult for investors to eftect service of process within the United States upon Linde or such persons. or to enforec
outside the United States judgments obtained against such persons in ULS. courts in any action, including actions predicated
upon the civil hability provisions of the ULS. federal securites laws, In addiiion, it may be difficult tor investors to enforee.
m original actions brought in courts in Jurisdictions located outside the United States, rights predicated upon the LS. federal
securitics laws,

A judgment Lor the payment of money rendered by a court in the United States based on civil liability would not be
automatically enforceable in Ireland. There 15 no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal
cnforcement of foreign judgnments. The tollowing requirements must be miet before the foreign judgment will be deemed to
be enforceable in Ireland (1) the judgment must be for a definite sum, (i) the judgment must be final and conclusive: and
(1) the judament must be provided by a court of competent juresdiction,

An Irish court will also exercise its right to refuse judgment it the foreign judgment (1) was obtained by fraud:
() vielated Irish public policy: (1) is in breach of natural justice: or tivy i the judgment is irreconcilable with an carlier
toretgn judgment.

In addition. there 1s doubt as to whether an [nish court would aceept jurisdiction and impose ¢ivil hability on Linde or
such persons n an original action predicated solely upon the LS. federal sccurities laws brought in a court of compoetent
Jurisdiction m Ireland aganst Linde or such member, officer or expert. respectis ely.

Changes in tax laws or policy cowdd adversely impact the company s financial position or restlts of operations.

Linde and its subsidiaries are subject o the tax rules and regulutions in the US. Germany. Ireland. the UK. and other
countries (n which they operate. Those tax rules and regulations are subject to change on a prospective or retroactive basis,
Under current cconeomie and political conditions tax rates and policies in any jurtsdiction. including the LS. the UK. and
the FEUL are subject to significant changes which could result in o signiticant change to Linde™s current and deferred income
tax. In particular. since Linde is currently treared as UKL tax rosident. any potential changes in the tax rules applying to UK.
tax-resident companics would directly affect Linde.

A change i Linde s wx residency could have a negative offeet on the company ™S future profitability and may trigger
txes on dividends or exit charges. I Linde ceases te be resident i the UKL and becomes resident in another jurisdiction. it
may be suhject to UK. exit charges. and or could become liable for additional tax charges in the other jurisdiction. If Linde
were w be freated as resident in more than one jurisdiction, it could be subject to duplicative taxation. Furthermore. although
Linde is incorporated i Ireland and 1s not expected to be treated as a domestic corporation for U8, tederal income tax
purposes. it s passible that the IRS could challenge this result or that changes in LS. tederal income tax law could alter this
result. 11 the IRS successtully assered such a posttion or the law were 1o change. significant ady erse tax consequenees may
result for Lindes the company and Linde’s sharcholders.

Changes in tax laws may result in higher tax expense and tax pavments. In addition, changes in tax legislanon and
uncertainty about the tax environment 1n some regions may restrict Linde™s opportunity to entoree its respective rights under
the law. Linde also operates i countries with complex tax regulatons which could be interpreted in ditferent ways. Linde
and its subsidiaries are subjeet to audits by raxing authorities in various jurisdictions or other review actions by the relevant
financial or tax authoritics. The ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recorded in Linde™s or ity subsidiarics’
tinancial statements and mayv materially affect their respective financial results for the period when such determination is
made.



Following the Reorganization, New Linde will seek Ivish High Court approval for the creation of distributable veserves.
New Linde expects this will be forthconting, but cannot guaraittee this, aind until distributable reserves of New Linde are
created, New Linde will be unaubie to make diseributions by way of dividends, share repurchases or otlhterwise under frish
faw.

Under Irish Taw. dividends may oniy be paid and share repurchases and redemptions must generally be tunded only out
of ~distributablc reserves.” which New Linde will not have immediately tollowing the Reorzanization, The ereation of
distributable reserves ol New Linde involves a reduction in New Linde™s undenommated share capital which requires the
approsal of the Lrish High Court. The approval of the Irish High Court is expected within cight wecks following the
Reorganization becoming eftective. This approval 1s the same process successfully tollowed by Linde immediately after the
Linde AG Praxair, Ine. merger in 2018, Now Linde is notaware ot any reason why the Irish High Cowrt would not approve
the ercation of distributable reserves in this manner; howeser. the issuance of the required order 1s a matter for the diseretion
of the [msh High Court. bnthe event that distributable reserves of New Linde are not created. no distributions by way of
dividends. share repurchases or otherwise will be permitted under Irish fw until such time as New Linde has created
sufticient distributahle rescrves [rom its business activitios, exeept that New Linde will be able ta pay any dividends declared
by the company prior o the Reorganization becoming eftectiv e



ITEN 1B. UNRESOLVED STAVEF COMMENTS

Linde has received no written SEC staft comments regarding any of its bxchange Act reports which remam
unresolved.

FrEN 2. PROPERTIES

Linde™s principal exceoutive offices are located in leased office space in Woking, United Kingdom and owned office
space in Danbury . Connecticut. Linde also owns principal administrative office space in Tonawanda, New York, United
states and Pullach, Germans.

Due to the nature of Linde’s industrial gas products, s generally uncconomical to transport them distances greater
than a fow hundred nules from the production factlity. As a result, Linde operates a significant number of production
facitities spread globally throughout a number of geographic regions.,

The following is a description of production facilities for Linde by segment. No significant portion of these assets was
leased at Decernber 31,2022 Generally, these facilities are utilized and are sufficient to meet the company s manutacturing
needs.

Americas

The Americas segment operates production tacilites primarily in the U5, Canada, Mexico and Brazil, approximately
3530 of which are mainly crvopenic ar separation plants, hydrogen plants and carbon dioxide plants. There are five major
pipeline complexes in North America located tn northern fndiana. Houston, along the Gulf Ceast of Texas, Detroit and
Louisiana. Also Tocated throughour the Americas arc noncervogenic air separation plants, packaged gas tacilities and other
smaller plant tacilities.

EME

The EMEA segment has production facilitics primarily in Germany. France, Sweden. the Republic of South Atrica,

and the UK. which inciude approximately 273 ervegenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located

throughout Lurope are noneryogenic wir separation plants. pipelines, hvdrogen. packaged gas facilitics and other smaller
plant facilities.

PO

The APAC segment has production facilities located primarily in China. Australia. India, South Korea and Thailand.
approximately 230 of which are crvogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located throughout Asia are
noacryogenic air separation plants. pipelines. hyvdrogen. packaged gas and other preduction facilities.

Enginecring

The Enuineering business designs and constructs wmkey process plants for third-party customers as well as for the
guses businessos In many locations worldwide, such as aw separation. hydrogen. synthests. oletin and natural gus plants.
Plant components are prodeced in owned factories in Tacherting. Germany: Hesmgue, Franee: New York and Oklabhoma.
United States: and Dalian, China,

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

tnformation required by this item s incorporated herein by reference o the section captioned ~“Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements 17 Commuments and Contingencies™ in [tem 8 of this 10-K.

ITEM4. MINE SATFETY DISCLOSURES
Nat Appitcable,



PART I
IEEM S, MARKET FOR REGISTRAN 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATIERS
ANDISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUIETY SECLURITIES
Linde ple shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange ¢ONYSE™Y and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 01 SE™) under
the ticker ssmbol “LINT A December 31, 2022 there were 7,319 sharcholders of record.

Omn January 18, 2023, sharchokders approved the company s proposal for an intercompany, reorganization that will
result in the delisting of its ordinary shares from the Frankfurt Stoek Eschange. Following the completion of legal and
resulatory approvals, Linde anticipates that the intereompany reorganizarion and delisting proces< will be compleed. and its
ordinary shares will be debisted from the Frankfurt Stoek bBxchange, on or abour March [ 2023,

Purchasey of Eguiny Securition Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalf of the company or any
affiliated purchaser tas detined in Rule 10b-18(a)2) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of s ordinary

shares during the three months ended Decermnber 2102022 1y prosided below:

Total SNumber of

1otal Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Number of Part of Puldicly v alue of Shares that
Shares \verage Announced May Y et he Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Program (1) U nder the Program (1)
Period {Thousands) Per Share (Fhrotesandsy M Milfionsy
Ovtober 2022 077 S 25737 677 S8 3832
November 20122 1.323 S 316.05 1.323 8 5414
December 2022 138 S 33388 138§ 3308
Fourth Quarter 2022 28388 30818 2138 5.3638
th On February 28,2022 the company’s board of directors approved the repurchase ot S10.0 billion of its ordinary

shares (72022 program ™) which could rake place from time to time on the open iarket (and could mclude the use of
LOB3-1 trading plans), subject o marker and business conditions, Fhe 2022 program has a maximum repurchase
amount of 13% of qutstanding shares. beginming on March £, 2022 and expires on July 31,2024,

(2) Ao of December 312022 the company repurchased S4.6 billion of ity ordinary shares pursuant to the 20227
program. As of Decomber 31,2022, $5.4 billion of share repurchases remain authorized under the 2023 program.

L



Poor Perforniance Tanic The graph below compares the most recent five-vear cumalative returns of the commoen
stock of Praxair, the company s predecessor, through October 310 2048 and Linde™s ordinary shires for periods subsequent 1o
October 31, 2018 with those ot the Stundard & Poor’s 300 [ndex (7SPX7pand the S5 Matenals Index (0S3MATR™) which
corers 29 companies. including Uinde. The fieures assume an indtal investment of S160 o December 31, 20407 and that all
dividends have been reinvested.
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ITEM 6. RESERVED

Notapplicable.
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FTEN 7, MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

I'he following discuasion of the company “s financial condition and resulis of operations should be read together with

its consulidated financial statements and notes to the consehidated financial statements imcluded m ltem 8 ot this Form [0-K.

Business Overview

Executive Summary  Financtal Resufts & Outlook
Consohdated Results and Other Information

Scament Discussion

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Other Financial Data
O1-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Critical Accounting Estimates

New Accounting Standards

Fair Value Measurements

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Supplemental Guarantee Information

Page



BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Lhe company s primary products in ity industral gases business are atmoespheric gases (0Xy gon, nitrogen. argon, rare
gaxes) and process gases (carbon dioxide. helium, hyvdrogen. clectronic gases, specialty gases. acetyiene) The company alse
designs, engineers, and builds cquipment that produces industrial gases and offers its customers a wide range of gas
producuon and processing services such ws oletin plants. natural gas plants. air separation plants. hydrogen and synthesis gas
plants and other types ol plants.

Linde™s industrial gas operations are managed on a geographical basis and tn 2022 86% of sales were generated by
Linde's three geographic seaments tAmericas. EMEA and APAC) and the remaining 14%s are retated largely to the
Fngincering segment, and to a lesser exeent Other (see Note 18 1o the consolidated financial statements for operating scgmeant
detaitsy.

Linde serves a diverse group of industrics including healtheare. chemicals and energy. manufacturing. metals and
mining. foed and beverage. and electronics. The diversity of end-markets supports financial stability for Linde in varied
business cyeles,

Linde generates most of ity revenues and carnings in the following geographics where the company has its strongest
market positions and where distribution and production operations aflow the company to deliver the highest level of serviee
to 1ts customers at the lowest cost.

Narth and South Smerica (" Americas™) Eurepe, Middle East and Africa ("EMIIAT) Asia and Pacific (" APACT)
United States Germany China
Brazil United Kingdom Australia
Mexico Eastern Europe South Korea
Canada India

I'he company manufactures and distributes its industrial gas products through networks of thousands of production
plants, pipeline complexes. distribution centers and delivery vehicles, Major pipeline complexes are primarily located in the
United States and China. These networks are a competitive ads antage, providing the foundation of reliable product supply to
the company s custemer base. The majority of Linde™s business s conducted through long-term contracts which provide
stability in cash fTow and the ability to pass through changes in energy and feedstock costs to customers. The company has
arowth opportunitics 1 all major geographies and in diverse end-markets such as healthcare, chemicals and energy.
manufacturing, metals and nuning. food and heverage. and electronics.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY — FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOKR
2022 Yeur in review

v Sales of 833304 million were 875 above 2021 sales of $30.793 milhon. Higher pricing across all geographic

segments contributed 7% to sales. Cost pass-through mcreased sales by 670 with minimal impact on operating
profit. Volume increased sales by PP Currency translation decreased sales by 3% targely in EMEA and APAC

[Dvestitures decreased sales by 194,

+  Reported operating profit of $5.369 million was 85 above 2021, Adjusted operating profic of S7.904 mullion was
10 above 2021 The inerease in the reported operating profit was primarily due o higher pricing, productivity
initiatives and lower depreciation and amortization driven by merger related aseets. which more than offser
Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges and the adverse impacts of inflatton and currency in the year. The
increase in adjusted operating proti inerease was primarily due to higher pricing and productivity initiatives.
which more than offset the adverse impaets ot intlatton and curreney in the year.®

o lneome from contmuing operations of $4. 147 million and diluted camings per share (rom continuing operations
of S8.23 increased from S3.821 miliion and $7.32. respectively in 2021, Adjusted income trom continuing
operations of $6.195 million und adjusted diluted carnings per share from continuing operations of' S12.29 were
1% and 13%, respectively above 2021 adjusted amounts. ®

o Cash flow from operations of $8.864 mulhion was $861 mullion below 20210 The deercase was driven by higher
working capital requirements. including lower inflows trom contruct liabilives from engineering customer
advanced payments. partialiy offset by higher ner income adjusted for non cash charges. Capital expenditures
were S3.173 million; dinvidends paid were $2.344 million: net purchases of ordimary shares of $5.132 million: and
debt borrowings, net were 54.475 million,

* A reconciliation of the adjusted amounts can be found in the "Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section i this
MD& AL
2023 Oudook

Linde provides quarterts updates on operating results, material ends that may attect financial performance, and
financial guidance via carnings releases and imvestor teleconterencees. These materials are available on the company s
website, www. hinde.com. but are not incorporated herein.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND OTHER INFORMATION

1 he discussion that tollow s includes a comparson of our results of operations and lrquidity and capital resources tor

the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, For the discussion comparmng the vears ended December 31, 2021 and 2024L

reler 1o Part L Ttem 7, Management™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of our

Form 10-K {or the vear ended December 31,2021

The tollowing table provides summary information for 2022 and 202t The reported amounts are GAAP amounts from
the Comsolidated Statements of Income. The adjusted amounts are intended to supplement investors” understanding of the

company’s financial information and are not a substitute for GAADP measures.

(Millions of doitars, except per share datu)

v ear Ended December 3, 2022 2021 Yariance

Reported Amotints

Sales S 33364 30,793 8%

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation und amortization S 19450 17,543 b %
As a percent ot sales 383 ST

Selling. general and administrative 5 3.107 S 3189 (3%
As apercent of sales 9.3% 10.4%

Depreciation and amortization S 4204 5 4633 (9

Russiu-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a) S 1029 s 275

Operating Profit S 5369 S dund 8"
Operating margin 161" 16.2%

Interest expense — net S 63 S 77 (18

Nt pension and OPEFR cost (henefit). excluding service cost S (237) S (192) 232,

l-tfective tax rate 23.9%, 24.7%,

[ncome trom equity invesunents 5 172 8 119 437

Noncontrolling interests from continuing operanons ) (134 S {(133) (1%

Income trom continuing oporations S 4147 S 38’2 97,

Diluted carnings per share from conunuing operations 5 82308 732 12 9%

Diluted <hares outstanding 304.038 521873 {3

Number of employ ces 63,010 72327 (10

Adfusted Amounts (b)

Operating profin S O7.904 S 76 L0 "
Operating margin 23.7% 23 3%

Income trom continuing operations 6,195 8§ 3579 I

Diluted camings per share from continuing operations S 1229 5 1069 150

Other Financial Data (b)

EBITDA from continuing operations S 9745 S 9738 Yo
As pereent of sales 2920, 31.6%,

Adjusted EBITIDA from conunuing operations S 10873 S 1179 T
As pereent of sales 326" 3317,

() See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

{by Adjusted amounts and Other Financial Data are non-GAAP pertormance measures. A reconciliation of reported

amounts to adjusted amounts can be tound in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures™ section of this MDE& A,
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Resules of Operations
Fhe following table provides a summary of ¢changes in consohdated sales:
2022 vy, 2021
o Change

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales

Volume 10,
Price Mix 70,
Cost pass-through FRC
Currencey (51
Acquisitions divestitures (1M
Engineering ooy,

2022 Compared With 2021
Sules

Linde sales inereased $2.571 million, or 8%, for the 2022 year versus 2021, Higher pricing across all geographic
segments contributed 7% to sales. Cost pass-through. representing the contractual billing of energy cost variances primarily
to onsite customers, inereased sales by 6%, with minimal imipact on operating profit. Volume growth in all end markets,
exoept healtheare, and startups inereased sakes by 120, Currency translation decreased sales by 3%, fargely in MEA and
APAC, driven by the weskening of the Luaro, Chinese yuan. British pound and Austrahian dollar against the U.S dotlar. The
mmpact of divesaitures decrcased sales by 1%,

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization

Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and amoruzation, incrcased 51907 million, or 11%. tor the vear primartly due
o inflution and higher volumes, partially oftset by productivity gains and curreney effects. Cost o sales, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization. was 58.3% and 57.0% of sales. reapectively, in 2022 compared to 2021 The increasc as a
pereentage ot sales was due primarily to higher cost pass-through to customars.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and adiministrative expense ("SG&AT) decereased $82 million, frem $3,189 in 2021 to $3.107 million
in 2022 SG&A was v.3% of sales in 2022 versus 1049610 2021, Curreney impacts decreased SGE&A by approximately
S127 million in 2022, Excluding curreney impucts, underbying SG&A increased primarily due o higher costs.

Depreciation and amortization

Reported depreciation and amortization expense decreased S431 million, or 9% versus 2021 The decrease 1s primarily
due to lower depreciation and amortization of asscts acquired in the merger and curreney impacts.

On an adjusted basis, depreciation and amortization expense decreased S49 mithion, or 2% versus 2621 Carrency
nnpacts deereased depreciation and amortization by S123 million i 20220 Excluding curreney impacts. underlying
depreciation and amortization increased including new project stant ups.

Russiu-Ukraine conflict and orther charges

Russia-Ukraine conflict and other eharges were STO29 miflion and 3273 million for 2022 amd 2021, respeciively, The

charge far 2022 relates primarily to the deconsolidation and impairment of Russian subsidiaries resulting trom the ongoing

war in Lkraine and related sanctions recorded as of June 300 2022, 2021 charges refate to cost reduction program and other
charges, pramarily severance (see Note 3w the condensed consolidited financial statenients ).

On an adjusted basis. these benefits and costs ave been excluded in both periods.
Operating profit

Reported operating profit increased S3835 million in 20220 or 8% On an adjusted basis. operating profit increascd
S728 militon. or 10%. for 2022 versus 2021,

Om a reported basis, operating protit increased $385 million. or 8% tn 2022, The increase was primarily due o higher
priving, volumes, savings from productivity intiatives, and lower deprecianion and amortization driven by merger related
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assets, These tnereases more tan offset the adverse impucets of inflation and curvency in the year as well as the Russia-
U kraine conflict and other charges ol $1.029 million. Cost reduction prograns and other charges was 8273 million in 2071
On an adjusted basis, which excludes the impacts o purchase accounting as well as Russia-Ukraine conflict and other
charges. operating profit increased $728 million, or 10%. Operating profit growth wax driven by higher pricing. velumes and
productisity initfatises. which more than oftset the effects of inflation and currency during the pertod. A discussion of
operating profit by segment s included in the seament discussron that follows,
Interest expense - net
Reported interest expense netin 2022 decreased S 14 million. or 1820, versus 2021 On an adjusted basis interest
expense deercased S32 million. or 2570 in 2022 as compared to 2021
On both a reported and adjusted basis, the decrease yoar over year was driven primarify by higher interest income on
caxh deposits. partially offset by higher borrowing costs on short-term debt.

Net pension and OPEB cost (henefit), excluding service cost

Reported net pension and OPEB cost (benetit). exeluding service cost were benetits of $237 milhon and S192 million
in 2022 and 2021, respectively. The inerease in benetit primarily relates to lower amortization of deferred losses, partially
offsct by higher interest cost reflective of the higher discount rate environment vear-over-year (sce Note 1o tw the
consolidated financial statements).
Effective tax rate

The reported ettective tax rate ("ETR™) for 2022 was 23.9% versus 24.7% in 2021, The increuse in the rate is primarily
related 1o the net tax expense resulting tfrom the deconsolidation and impairment of the company 's business in Russia in
20222021 included a deterred income tax charge related to the revaluatnion of net deferred tax habilities for o tax rate
increase in the United Kingdom (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements),

On an adjusted basts, the ETR for 2022 was 24 2% versus 24 1% i 2021,

Tncome from equity investinents

Reported income from equity investments Tor 2022 was $172 million as compared w S119 miltion in 2021, On an
adjusted basis, income (rom cguity investments tor 2022 wias $247 nullion versus 8231 million in 2021,

On a reported basis. the year-over-vear increase in income Itom equity investments was due to a $33 million
impairment charge taken i the third quarter of 20214 relared o a jomt venture 1 the APAC scament.

On an adjusted basis, the vear-over-vear increase in income from equity investments was primarily driven by the
overall pertormance of imvestments in APAC,

Nonconrrolling interests from continning operations

At December 31, 2022 noncontrolling interests from continuing operations consisted primarily o noncontrolling
sharcholders™ imvestments in APAC (primartly in China).

Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations deereased S1million, trom S135 million in 2021 to
SE34 mulhonin 2022

Adjusted noncontrolling imterests from continuing operations increasad S6 million in 2022 as compared 10 2021,
Income from continuing operations

Reported income from continuing operations increased $326 mitlien. or 9%, On an adjusted basis, which excludes the
impacts of purchase accounting and Russia-Ukraine conthict and other charges. imcome from continuimg operations increased
S616 million, or Ti%e, in 2022 versus 2021 On both a reported and adjusted basiz. the increase was driven by higher
uperating protis.
Dilured earningys per share from continuing operdations

Reported diluted camings per share trom continuing operations increased S0.91, or 12%in 2022 ax compared 1o 2021
On an adjusted basis. diluted EPS o' S12.29 in 2022 increased 13%0 versus 2021 The increase on both reported and adjusted
basis was primariiy due o higher meome from continuing operations and lower diluted shares outstanding.
Employees

The number of employees at Decenber 3102022 was 63010, a deercase of 10" or 73107 empleyces from 2021,
primartly driven by the sale of GIS T bustess. cost reducton initatives and the deconsolidation of Russian subsidraries in the
EMEA and Engincerning segments.




Orher Financial Data

EBITDA from continuing eperations inereased 1o S9.745 mithion in 2022 from 59,738 milhion in 2021, Adjusted
EBITDY A trom contimung aperations increased 1o S1O.873 mutlion tor 2022 as compared to S10.179 millhon in 2021,
primartly due to higher adpgsted income from continuing operations plus depreciation and amortization versus the prior
period.

Sce the "Non-UAAP Financial Measures™ secuon for detimitions and reconciliations of these non-GAA P measures to
reported CLAAP amounts.

Otirer Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(nher comprehensive income (lossy tor the year ended December 310 2022 was a loss of $778 million resulted
primarily trom currency ranslation adjustments of ST.835 milhon, partiadly offset by an increase in the funded status of the
company’s retirenment obligations of SL.O70 million driven by a higher discount raie environment. The translation
adjustments reflect the impact of translating local currency foretgn subsidinry financial statements to ULS, dollars, and arc
largely driven by the movement of the LS. dollar against major curreneies including the kuro, the Chinese yuan and the
British pound. Sce the "Curreney ™ section of the MD& A for exchange rates used for translation purposes and Note 7 to the
consolidated Minancial statements for a summary of the curreney wanslation adjustment companent of accumulaied other
comprehensive income by segment.

Related Party Transactions

The company’™s related parties are primarily unconsolidated equity affiliates. The company did not engage in any
material transactions i olyving related partics that included terms or other aspects that ditfer from those which would be
ncgotiated with independent parties.

Environmenial Matters

I inde™s principal operations relate to the production and distribution of atmaospheric and other industrial gases. which
for the most part are used to help customers reduce ther cimissions. Worldwide costs relating to environmental protection
may continue to grow duc to increasingly stringent laws and regulations. In addition, Linde may face physical risks from
chimate change and extremy weather.

Climate Chuange

Linkle operates o jurisdictions that have. or are developing. laws and 'or regulations to reduce or mitigate the adverse
effects of greenhouse gas CGHG™) emissions and theretore faces a highly uncertain regulatory enviromment in this arca. For
example, the U5, Emvironmental Protection Agency (CEPAT) has promulgated rules requiring reporting of GHE emissiois
to which Linde. s suppliers and customers are subject to. EPA has also promulgated regulations o restrict GHG emissions,
including final rules regulating GHG enusstons trom light-duty vehicles and certain large manufacturing facilities, many of
which are Linde supplicrs or customers. In addimion to these developments i the United States. several other countries
worldwide have already implemented carbon taxation or trading systems which impact the company and its customers,
including regulations in China, Singapore and the European Union, Among other impacts, such regulations are expected 10
raise the cost ol energy. which is a significant cost for Linde. Nevertheless. Linde™s long-term customer contracts routinely
provide rights to recover increased clectricity, natural gas. and other costs that are incurred by the company as a result of
climate change regulation.

Linde anticipates continued growth in hydrogen sales duc to inercased focus on decarbonization projects. Traditionaily.
hvdrogen production plants and a large number of other manufacturing and electricity-generating plants have been identified
in California and the European Union as a source of carbon dioxide ensissions and these plants are subject 1o cap-and-trade
regulations in those jurisdictions. Linde helieves it will be able to mutigate the costs of these regulations through the terms of
its product supply contracts. However. legislation that mits GHG emissions may impact growth by increasing capital,
compliance, operating and mamntenance costs and or decreasing demand.

To manage business risks from current and potential GHG emission regulation as well as physical consequences of
climate change. Linde actisely monitors current developments. evaluates the direct and indirect business risks. and takes
appropriate actions. Amony others, actions include: increasing relevant resources and training: maintaining contingency
plans: obtainmyg advice and counsel from cxpert vendors, insuranee providers and industry experts; incarporating GHG
provisions in commercial agreements; and conducting regular reviews of the business risks with management. Although
there are considerable uncertainties. Linde belicves that the business risk from potential regulations can be effectively
managed through its commercial contracts. Additionally, Linde does not anticipate any material effects regarding its plant
operations or business arising from putential physical risks of chimate change.

-
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Linde continuously secks opportunitics w optimize energy use and GHG enussions tarough research and development
in customer applications and rigorous operational energy efficiency. sourcing low -carbon source energy. and purchasing
hydrogen as a chemical byproduct where feasible, Linde tracks GHG cinission performance versus targets and reports
regularly o business management and annually o Linde™s Board of Directors. In 2021 a new Sustainability Commitiee was
created. The Committee 15 responsible for oversight of the Company *s programs. pelicies and strategics related to
envircnmental matters, including climate change, greenhouse gas reduction goals and decarbonization selutions, such as
clean encrgy and carbon management.

At the same time, external factors may provide Linde with future business opportunities, For example. in 20220 several
picees of legislaton were enacted. including the Inflation Reduction Actin the U.S. which provides for inyestnents in
decarbonization opportunities including hydrogen projects. Other factors include governmental regulation of GHG and other
CISSI0Ns; uncertain costs of energy and certain naiural resources: the development of renewable energy alternatives: and
new techoologies that help extract natural gus, improse air quality. increase energy efficiency and mitigate the impacts of
climnate change. Linde continues to develop new applications that can help customers lower emissions by reducing energy
consumption and increasing product throughput. Stricter regulation of water quality in emerging cconomics such as Ching
provide a growing market for a number of gases. ¢ g, oxygen for wastewater treatment. Increased concern about drought 1n
arcas such as Califomia and Australia may create additional markets for carbon dioxide tor desalination. Rencewable fucl
standards in the European Union and U.S. can crcate a market for second-gencration biotuels which use industrial gases such
as oxy gen. cirbon dioxide, and by drogen.

Costs Relating to the Protection of the Envirenment

Environmental protection costs in 2022 were not signiticant. Linde anticipates that future annual envirommental
protection expenditures will be similar to 2022, subject to any significant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based on
historical results and current estimates, management does not belies e that environmental expenditures will have a material
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, the conzolidated results ol operations or cash flows in any given year.

Legal Proceedings
8 5

See Note 17 o the consohidated financial statements for information concerning legal proceedings.

Retivement Benefits
Pensions

The net periodic benefit cost ¢henefin) for the LS. and non-U.S. pension pluns was a benefit of SL1O million,
S35 millon and S25 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respecrively.

The funded status (pension benetit obligation ("PBO7) less the fair value of plan assets) for the U8, plans was o deficit
ol 8238 million and $271 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The funded status for non-U.S. plans was a
surplus of 8208 million and deficit of $1.430 mitlion at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Both the US and
non-L.S. plans derived the benefit from a lower PBO due o an increase in discount rates.

Global pension contributions were $31 million in 2022, S42 million in 2021, and $91 million in 2020. At a minimum,
Linde contributes 10 s pension plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e g ERISA in the ULS ) Discretionary
contributioms in exgess of the local minimum requirements are made based on many factors. including long-term projections
of the plans™ tunded status, the cconomic environment, potential risk of oy erfunding, pension insurance costs and alternatisc
uses ot cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions from year to vear, Estimated
required contributions for 2023 are carrently expected to be in the range of S40 pulhion o S50 million.

Linde assumes expected reiurns on plan assets tor 2023 of 7.00%, and 3.60% tor the U.S. and non-U'.S. plans.
respectively. which are consistent with the fong-term expected returns on its invesument portfolios.

Excluding the imipact of any settlements, 2023 conselidated pension expense 1s expected to be o benefit of
approximately SUE million. The benefit derived from the expected return on assets assumpuion for Linde’s most signiticant
plans is anticipated to more than otfset the expense from service and interest cost aceruals and the higher amortization of
deferred losses.

Refer to the Critical Accounting Estimates seetion and Note [6 to the comsolidated financial statements for a more
detailed discussion of the company 's retirement benetits, includimg a description of the various retirement plans and the
assumptions used in the caleulation ot net periodic benetit cost ibenefiy and funded status.



Insurance

Linde purchases msurance o imit a varicty of property and casualty risks, including those related (o property, business
mterruption. third-party lability and workers™ compensation. Currentlyv. the company sclt retains up to S 1O mithon per
seeurrenee for yehiele Tiahilits i the United States, S5 million per occurrence for workers” compensation and general
liabihity, In addrion, the company self retams rish up to €3 mulhon at its v arious propertios worldwide tor property damuage
resulting from fire. Mood and other perils atfecting its propertics along with a separate €3 million deductible on all business
interruption resulting [rom a major peril foss. To mitigate its agercpate toss potential above these retentions. the company
purchases catastrophic insurance eoverage from highly rated insurance companics. The company docs not currently operate
OF paricIpate moany caplin e surance companics or other non-traditional risk transfer alternatives.

At December 382022 and 2021, the company had recorded o total of 571 muthon and $73 million, respectively.
representing an estimate of the retained Hability for the altimate cost of chiimy incurred and unpaid as of the balance sheet
dates. The estimated liability 15 estabhished using statistical analysis and 1s based upoen historical expericnee, actuarial
assumptions and prefessional judgment. These estimates are subject to the effects of trends in Toss severity and firequencey and
are subjeet to o significant degree of inherent variability. I actual elaims ditfer from the company 'S estimates. they will be
adjusted at that time and figancial results could be impacted.

Linde recognizes estimated insurance proceeds relating o damages at the ume of loss only to the extent of incurred
Josses. Any Insurance recos erics fur business interruption and for property damages in excess of the net book value of the
property are recognized only when realized or pending payments confinmed by its insurance companics.
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SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Linde’s operations consist of two major product lines: industnal gases and engineering. As further deseribed in the
tollow ing paragraph. Linde™s industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three ot the
company s reportable segments - Americas. EMEA (Furope Middle East Africa). and APAC (A South Pacitic): o tourth
repurtable segment. which represents the company s Engineenng busmess. designs and manutactares equipment tor ar
separation and other industrial gas applications speciticaliy for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating
in all geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a tew smaller businesses which individually do not meet the
quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Ihe industrial gases product line centers on the munufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases {axygen. nitrogen,
argon, rare gases) and process gazes (carbon dioxide. helum, hydrogen, electronie gases. specialty gases, acetylene). Many
ol these products are co-products of the same manutacturing process. Linde manufactures and distributes nearly all of us
products and manages its customer relationships on a regtonal basis. Linde™s industrial gases are distributed 1o various
end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic dismibution methods: on-site or tonnage; merchant or bulk:
and packaged or eyvlinder gases. Fhe distribution methods are generally mtegrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs
and very few of its products can be cconomically transported outside ot a region. Therefure. the distribution cconomics are
specific o the various geographics in which the company operates and are consistent with how management assesses
performance.

The company’s measure of profit loss for segmeni reporting purpeses is segment oparating profit. Segment operaring
profitis defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger. intercompany royatties.
and items not indicative of ongeing business trends. This ix the manner in which the company s Chiet Operating Decision
Maker (CODMT) assesses performance and allocates resources.

The table below presents sales and operating proftit information about reportable scgments and Other tor the yvears
cnded December 31,2022 and 2021.

(Villians of dollury)

Y ear Ended Deceniber 31, 2022 2021 Variance
Sales
Americis S 13.874 8 12,103 159,
EANEA 8443 T.643 1%
APAC 6480 6,133 6o
Engineering 2.762 2867 4170
Other [.803 2,047 (120
Total sales S 33364 S 30.793 X0y
Operating Profit
Americas S 37328 3368 11%
EMEA 2013 | 889 7%
APAC 1.670 1.5302 1%,
Engincering 555 473 175,
QOther (66} (36) (181",
Segment eperating profit T7.904 T AT 105,
Reconciliation o reported operating profit -
Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (Note 3) (1.029) (273)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (1.506) 11.919)
Total operating profit S 3369 8 4,934
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Americas

(Dodlar amownis in millions}

\arisnce

Y ear Euded December 31, 22 2621 2022452021

Sules S 13.874 E2. 103 L5%

Operating protit h 3.732 08 3368 L1t
As apereent of sales 2699 27 8%

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume

Price Mix

Cost pass-through

Currency

Acquisitions Divestitures

21022 vy, 2021

Yo U hange

4%

Hty

The Americas segment inchudes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 20 countrics including the United

States. Canada. Mexico and Brasil.

Sales

Sales for the Americas segment increased $1.771 mitlion, or 15%., in 2022 versus 2021, Higher pricing contribated 6%
1o sales. Higher v olumes inereased sales by 4%, driven by higher demand across all end markets exeept healtheare, {ed by
chemicals and energy. Cost past-through increased sales by 3%, with minimal impact on operating profit.

Operaring Profit

Operating profitin the Americas scgment increased $364 million, or 1%, in 2022 versus 2021 driven primarily by

higher pricing, volumes and continued productivity initiatives which maore than offset intlation,

EMFEA

(Dollar amouns in millions}

Variance

Yeur Ended December 3, 2022 2021 2022 s, 2021

Sales S K443 T.643 H,

Operaling protit S 2013 1.5%9 70,
As a pereent of sales 23.8% 247

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume

Price Mix

Cost pass-through

Currency

Acquisitions: PDivestitures

(£
-

2822 s, 2021

% Change

(11"
(20

10 %o



The EMEA seement includes Linde™s industrial gases operations m approsimately 45 European. Middle Eastern and
African countries including Germany, the UKL France, Sweden and the Republic of South Atrica.

Sufes

ENMEA scement sales increased SROG mitlion, or 10% i 2022 versus 2021 Higher price attainment increased siles by
1390, Cost pass-through, representing the contractual billing of energy cost variances primarily 1o onsite customers. mcreased
sales by 13%0 with minimal impact on operaning profit. Curreney translation decreased sales by 1% due largely to the
weakening of the Euro and Briush pound against the US. Dollar. Volume decreased sales by 3%, The impact of net
divestitures decreased sales by 2% primarily due to the deconsolidation of Russian subsidiaries as of June 30, 2022,
Operating Profit

it

Operatmg Profit for the EMEA scament increased S124 million. or 7%00in 2022 versus 2021, The increase was driven
largely by higher pricing and continued productivity inttiativ s which more than ottset curreney. intlation and div estitures.

APAC

(Dollar amoates in millions, Variance

Year Eaded December 31, 2022 2 2022 v, 2021

Sales S 6,480 S 6,133 6"

Operating profir S 1.670 5 1.302 [1%
As a percent of sales 25.8% 24.5%,

2022 4. 2021
%0 Change

Factors Contributing te Changes - Sales

Volume FEgquipment R
Price Mix 3y,
Cost pass-through 20,
Currency [6),
Acquisitions Divestitures —-to

6 %

Ihe APAC scgment includes Linde™s industrial gases operations in approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries
and regions including China, Australiy, India and South Korea.
Sales

Sales for the APAC segment increased S347 mitlion. or 6%e. in 2022 versus 2021, Volume increased 375 including
project start-ups in the electronies and chemicals and energy end markets. Higher price increased sales by 3% Cost pass-
through increased sales by 2% with munimal impact on eperating profin. Currencey translation decreased sales by 6% driven
primarily by the weakening ol the Austratiun dollar. Korcan won and Chinese Yuan against the TS, Dollar.
Operating Profir

Operating profit in the APAC segment inercased SToX milhion, or 119, in 2022 versus 2021, The merease was
primarily driven by higher solumes and priving and contimued productis ity inftiatis es which more than ottset the impact of
curreney and inflation,
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Engineering

D ollar aprocinis in meitlionsg

Y car Ended December 31,

Sales
Opcrating profit

As apereent of sales

Factors Contributing to Chuanges - Sales
Volume

Curreney

Sales

Variance

2022 2021 222y 2021
5 27620 2867 (4"
5 73 17%

2010, [6.5%,

2022w 2021

"o Change

haaar
{ G916
4o

Engineening seement sales decreased S103 million, or 4%, in 2022 versus 2021 . The deercase was driven by project
timing and negative curreney transiation, partially offset by a 5321 million project progress recognition during the third

quarter.

Projects for Russia that were suncuoned and have been wound down represented approximately Sx94 mitlion of the

Engineering segmient sales during 2022,

Operating profit

Engineering segiment operating profit increased S82 million. or |

5,00 2022 versus 2021 driven by the

atorementioned third quarter project and a fourth quarter project settlement, partially offset by other project tming and

CUrteney Npacts.
Other

(Pollar amounrs in mitiions)

Year Ended December 31,

Sales
Operating profit

As apercent of siles

Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume Price

Cost pass-through

Currency

Acquisitions Divestitures

Variance

2022 2021 2022 vs. 2021

) L.803 5 2047 (12)

B {66y S (56) (18
1327 (2.7

2022 vy, ZU21

%% Change

(s
(123,

(12)%,

Other consists of corporate costs and a tow smaller businesses including: Surtace Technelogies. GIST and global
helium wholesale: which indiv idually do not meet the quantitatis e thresholds Tor separate presentation.



Sales

Sales for Other decreased 8242 mullion. or 12%0, in 2022 versus 2021 Prsostitures decreased sales by 124, due
primarily to the sale of the GIST business as of Seprember 30, 2022, Currency tanslation decreased sales by 4%, Underlying
sales inereased 3% o the year dris en primarily by price and higher volumes of aviation and electronic sules in the coatings
business. Cost pass-through increased sales by 17010 2022,

Sales of the GIST business which was divested as of Seprember 30,0 2022 reprosented approximately $630 million of
Other sales during the nine months ended September 30, 2022,

Operating profit

Operating profit in Other decreased S10 million. or 18%., in 2022 versus 2021 due primarily to higher sourcing costs in
the global hehum business and the impact of divestitures, parmially ottset by lower corporate costs .

Currency

T'he results of Linde™s non-U.S. operations are translated to the company’s reporting currency. the U.S. doliur. from the
tunctional currencies used m the countries in which the company operates. For most forcign operations, Linde uses the Tocal
currency as its functional currency. There is inherent variability and unpredictability in the relationship of these functional
currencics to the ULS. dollur and such currency movements may materiaily impact Linde’s results of operations i any given
pertod.

To help understund the reported results, the following is a summary of the significant currencies underlying Linde’s

consolidated results and the exchange rates used to translate the financial statements {rates of exchange expressed in units of
local currency per ULS. dollar):

Percent of

Statements of Income Balance Sheets
('nnf:)}lzijnlﬂi \verage Year Eaded December 31 December 31,
Curreney Sales 2022 2021 2022 2021
Furo 210% 0.95 .85 093 088
Chinese yuan hA 6.72 6.4 6.90 6.30
Britsh pound &' 0.5l (.73 (.83 0.74
Australian dollar 4y 144 1.33 147 .38
Brasilian real 1% 5.16 5,39 52K 358
Korean won R 1.286 1.1 1,266 L18Y
Canadian dollar R 136 1.25 |36 1.26
Mexican peso 2%, 20.10 20.2% 1950 24).53
Indian rupce 2% 7849 73.91 8273 74.34
Republic of South Atrican rand [ 16 30 14.77 17.04 13.94
Swedish krona [° 100K 858 10,43 9.03
Thatland bhat 1V, 3496 3193 3.6l 3340



LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOHURCES AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

Millions of dolfursy
Y ear Ended December 3. 2022 2021

Net Cash Provided by (L sed for)
Operating Activities
Income trom continuing vperations {includimyg noncontrolling mterests) S 4281 5 3950

Non-cash charges (ereditsy

Add: Russia-Ukraine and other charges. net of payments (a) 002 9N

Add: Depreciation and amonization 4.204 4.633
Add {Less): Delerred imcone taxes (383) (234

Add (Lessy: Non-cash charges and other 53 109
[ncome from continuing operations adjusted tor non-cash charges and other 9.002 §.544
Less: Pension contributions (51 (42
Add (Less): Working capital (310} [ 148
Add (Less): Other 163 75
Neteash provided by (used for) uperating activitics S 88064 5 9725
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures S {73 S (3.086)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (110} (8%)
Divestitures and asset sales, net of cash divested 195 167
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activitios S (3.088) S (3.007)
Financing Activitics

Debt mereases (decreases)  net S 4475 S (314
[ssuances (purchases) of ordinary shares net {3.132) (4,362)
Cash dividends - Linde ple sharcholders (2.344) (2,189
Noncontrolling interest transactions and other {8%) 1323
Neteush provided by (used tord financing actly itics S (3.089) S (7.58%)

74y S (61

F.ftect of exchange rate changes on cash S (
S5 5436 S 2823

Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period

ta) See Note 3 to the consohidated financial statements.

Cash increased $2.613 million in 2022 versus 2021 The primary sources of cash in 2022 were cash flows from
aperations of S8 864 million and debt borrow ings. net of 84,475 million. The primary wses of cash included capital
expenditures 0of $3.173 nullion. net purchases of erdinary shares of $3,132 nullion. cash dividends to sharcholders of
S2.344 mithon.

2022 compared with 2021
Cash Flows From Operations

Cashy flows from aperations was SXs63 million, a decrease of S861 million frum 2021, The decrease was driven
primarily by higher working capital requirements, including lower inflows fram contraet fiabilities from engineering
customer advaneed pasments. partially offset by higher net income adjusted for nun cash charges. Russi-Ukraine contliet
and other charges. net of payments, were S902 mitlion and $98 mitlion for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. representing charges of $1.029 million and 5275 mithion net of refated cash outtlows of S127 million and
S173 million. respectisely. in cach period.

As of December 3102022, Linde has approxomately ST 7 billion recorded in cortract Liabilities within the conzolidated
halance sheet related o engineering projects in Russia. Any oblization to satisty the related residual contract tabilities may
have an adyerse etfect on Linde™s cash flows,



Investing

Netvash used for investing activities was $3.08% million in 2022 compared to $2,007 million in 2021 The increase
was primarily driven by higher capital expendiures and acquisitions. partially offset by proceeds from disestitures. not of
cash divested and asset sales.

7

Capital expenditures in 2022 were S3.173 mullion. an inerease of S87 million from 2021, Capital expenduures during
2022 related primarily o insestments in new plant and production cquipment for operating and growth requirements.
Approximately 32% of the capital expenditures were in the Americas segment with 27% 11 the APAC segment and the rest
primarily i the EMEA seement.

At December 31, 2022 | Linde™s sale of gas backlog of large projects under construction was approximately
S5.7 billion. This represents the tutal estimated capital cost of large plants under construction.

Acquisitions. net of cash acquired for 2022 wore S0 million, an increase of 822 million from 2021, Acquisitions. net
of cash acquired for the year ended December 31, 2021 were S88 million. Acquisitions in cach period related primarily w the
Americas and EMEA L On January 6. 2023, Linde purchased the remaining 77.2% ownership interest in nex. i, LLC inan all
cash transaction with 4 total purchase price ol approximately $0.8 billion (see Note 20 to the conselidated financial
statenments).

Divestitures and assct sales. net of cash divested in 2022 were S195 mithion as compared 1o S167 million in 2021,
Divestiture proceeds for the year include cash received from the sale of the company s CGHST business ot SUs4 million. net of
cash divested o' $75 mitlion. for net procecds of $109 million (See Note 2 1o the consolidated financial statements).

Financing

Linde’s tfinancing strategy 1s to secure long-term committed funding by ssuing public notes and debentures and
commercial paper backed by a long-term bank credit agreement. Linde's international operations are funded through a
combination of local borrow ing and intercompany funding to minimize the tetal cost of tunds and to manage and centralize
currency exchange exposurcs. As deemed necessary, Linde manages its exposure to interest-rate changes through the use of
financial derivatives (sce Note 12 1o the consolidated financial statements and lrem 7AL Quantitany ¢ and Qualitative
Disclosures Abour Marketr Risk)y

Cash used for finuncing activites was S3.089 million in 2022 compared to S7.388 mullion in 2021, Cash provided by
debt was S4.475 milhion in 2022 versus cash used for debr of $314 million in 2021 primarily driven by hrgher commercial
paper borrowings and debt issuances in 2022, Net purchases of ordinary shares were S5.132 million in 2022 versus
S4.502 millien in 2021, Cash dividends increased to $2 3344 milhon in 2022 versus S2.189 million m 2021 driven primarily
by a 0% increase in dividends per share 1o $4.68 per share from S4.24 per share. partially offset by lower shares
outstanding. Cush used tor Noncentrolling interest transactions and other was S88 million for the vear ended December 31
2022 versus cash used o S323 million tor the vespective 2021 pertod primuarily duce 1o the sertlement of the buvout of
MUNOTity Interests in the Republic of South Atrica in 2021,

The company belieyves that it has sufficient operating flexibility, cash reseryves, and funding sources to mamtam
adequate amounts of liguidity to meet its business needs around the world, At December 31, 2022, Linde™s credit ratings as
reported by Standard & Poor’s and Moody "s were A-1 and P-1 for short-term debt. respectively. and A and A2 for long-term
debt. respectiv ely.

Note [ to the consolidated financial statements includes information with respect to the company s debt activity in
2022, current debt position. debt covenants and the available eradit facititios: and Note 12 includes information relating to
derivanye financial instruments. Linde’s eredit facihities are with major financial institutions and are non-cancelable until
muturity . Therefore. the company believes the risk of the financial institutions being unable to muake required loans under the
credit factlitios, if requested. 1o be tow . Linde’™s major bank credit and long-term debe agreements contain standard covenants,
The compuny was in complianee with these covenants at December 31,2022 and expects o remam i complianee tor the
foresceable future,

I'he company maintains a $3 billion and a S1.3 billion unsecured and undrawn revolving credit agreements with no
associated Mnancial covenants. No borrow ings were outstanding under the eredit agreements as of December 31,2022, The
company docs not anticipate any limitations on its ability to aceess the debr capital markets and or other external tunding
seurces and remains commitied w its strong ratings from Moody s and Standard & Poor's

Linde's 1otal net debt outstanding at December 31,2022 was S$12.478 million. S1.094 million higher than
ST11.384 mithon at December 31, 2021, The December 31, 2022 net debt balance includes S17.361 nullion in public
securitios. and $333 million representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings, not of $3.436 mullion of cash. Linde s global
etfective borrowing rate was approximarely 1.5%s for 2022

oy
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In January 2022, Linde repatd €10 bdlion of 02569 notes that beciume due. In March 2022, Linde tssued €500 million
o 1.000%s notes due 2027, €730 million ol 1.373%, notes due 2031, and €300 million of 1.623% nates due 2035 In May
2022 fande repaid S300 million of 2.20% notes due in August 20220 In November 20220 Linde issued S300 million of 4807,
netes due in 2024 and S600 million of 4.70%, notes due 1n 2023,

On February 28, 20220 the company’s Board of Directors approved the additional repurchase ot $10.0 billion ot its
ordinary shares. For additional intormation related 1o the share repurchase programis. see Part I Item 3. Market tor
Registrant's Conunon Equity. Related Stockholder Matters and [ssuer Purchases of Equity Seeanties.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As discwssad in Note 17 1o the consolidated financial statements. at Deeember 31 20220 Linde had undrawn
cutstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees and surcty bunds entered into w connection with normal business operations
and they are not reasonably likely to have a material impact on Linde's consolidated financial condition. results of
operations, or hquidity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The policies discussed below are considered by management to be erttical w understanding Linde’s financial
statements and accompanying notes prepared in accordance with accounung principles generally accepted in the United
States ("US. GAAPT) Their application places significant importance on management’s judgment as a result of the need to
make estimates of marters that are inherently uncertain. Linde’s financial position. results of operations and cash flows could
be materially affected it actual results ditfer from estimates made. These policies are determined by management and have
been reviewad by Linde’s Audic Comimittee.

Revenue Recognition
Long-Torm Construction Contracty

The company designs and manutfactures equipment tor air separation and other varied gas production and processing
plants manutactured specilically for end customers, Revenues for sale of equipment contracts are generatly recognized over
time as Linde has an enforceable right to pavment for performance completed to date and performance does not create an
asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized over time, revenue 1s recognized primarily using a cost incurred mput
method. Costs incurred o date relative 1o total estimated costs at compietion are used to measure progress toward satisfying
performance obligations. The result s applicd to total expected revenne and results in financial statement recognizion of
revenue in addition o costs incurred to date. Any expected loss on g contract s recognized as an expense immediately.
Contract moditications arc &y pically accounted For as part ol the existing contract and are recognized as a cumulative
adjustment for the inceptivn-to-date efteet ol such change. We assess performance as progress towards completion is
achicved on spevitic projects. camings will be impacted by changes to our forecast of resenues and custs on these projects.

The cost incurred input method places considerable importanee on aceurate estimates of the extent of progress towards
completion and may involse estimates on the scope of deliverios and services required o fulfill the contractually defined
obligations. The key source of estimation uncertainty is the total estimated costs at completion including material. fabor and
overhead costs and the resultant state of completion ot the contracts. There are inherent uncertaintes associated with the
estimation process. including technical complexity, duration of construction ¢vele. potential cost inflution (whether
cquipment or manpower), and scope considerations all of which may affect the total estimation process. Changes in these
estimates may lead to a significant impact on future financial statements.

s
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Pension Benefits

Pension benetits represent financial obligations that will be ultimately settled 1n the tuture with emiploy ces who meet
eligibility requirements. Because of the uncertaintios imvolbved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments.
signiticant estimates are required to caleulae pension expense and habilities related w the company s plans. The company
utihizes the services of independent actuaries. whose models are used to factlitate these caleulations.

Seseral key assumptions are used in actuarial models to caleulate pension expensce and liabilits amounts recorded in
the financial statements. Management believes the three mest significant yartables in the models are the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets. the discount rate. and the expected rate of compensation inerease. The actuarial models also use
assumptions for various other factors, including Tong-term inflation rates. employee turnover, retirement age, and mortahity.
Linde management believes the assumptions used in the actuarial caleulations are reasonable. retlect the company 's
experience and expectations tor the future and are within accepted practices in cach of the respective geographic locations in
which it operates. Actial results in any given year will often differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and
other factors. The sensitivites 1o cach of the kev assumptions presented below exclude the impact of special items that
oceurred during the veur.

The weighted-average expected long-term rates of return on pension plan asscts were 7.00%0 tor U.S. plans and 5.60%,
tor non-U.S. plans tur the vear ended December 31,2022 {7.00% and 5.28%. respectively at December 31, 202 1), The
expected long-term rate of return on the U.S. and Non-U.S. plan assets is estimated basced on the plans™ investment strategy
and asset allocation. historical capital market performance and. to a lesser extent. historical plan performance. A 0.30%,
change in these expected long-term rates of return. with all other variables held constant, would change Linde™s pension
expense by approximately S44 mitlon.

The company has consistently used a market-related value of assets rather than the fair value at the measurement dute
to determine annual pension expense, The market-related value recognizes investment gains or losses over a five-year period.
Az a result, changes in the (i value of assets from year o year are not immediately reflected in the company s annual
pension expense, Instead, annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred investment gains or losses
are recognized in the market-related value of assets over the thve-year period. The consehdated market-related value of assets
was S8.898 million. or $1.213 miltion higher than the fair value of assets of S7.685 million at December 31, 20220 These net
deferred investment gains of S1.213 million will be recognized in the calculanion of the market-related yalue of assets ratabiy
over the next four vears and will impact future pension expense. Future actual mvestment gains or losses will impact the
market-related value of assets and, therefore, will impact future annual pension expense ina similar manner.

Discount rates are used to caleulate the present value of plan habilities and pension costs and are determined annually
by munagement. The company measures the service and interest cost camponents of pension and OPEB expense for
significant U.S. and non-U.S. plans using the spot rate approach. U8, plans that do not usc the spot rate approach continue to
determine discount rates by using a cash low matching model provided by the compuany s independent actuaries. The model
includes a portfolio of corporate bonds graded Aa or better by ut least half of the ratings agencies and matcehes the ULS. plans”
projected cash Aows ro the caleulated spot rates. Discount rates for the remaining Non-11.S plans are based on market viclds
for high-quality fixed income mvestments representing the approximate duration of the pension Liabilities on the
measurcment date. Refer to Note 16 to the consofidated financial statements for a summary ot the discount rates used to
calculate plan Labilities and benetit costs, and to the Reticement Benefits sectton of the Conselidated Results and Other
Information section of this MD& A for a further discussion of 2022 benefit costs. A .30 reduction i discount rates, with
all other variables held constant, would increase Linde's pension expense by approximately S22 million whereas o 0,304,
increase in discount rates would result in a decrease of $96 miltion. A 0.30¢, reduction i discount rates would increasce the
PBO by approximately $3462 million whereas a 0.50%, inerease i discount rates would have a favorable impact to the PBO
ol approximately S417 nullion.

-

The weighted-average expected rate of compensation merease was 3.23% for US. plans and 2.539% for non-U.S. plans
at December 31, 2022 ¢3.23% and 2.53%q, respectively, at December 31, 2021 The estimated annual compensation increuse
1s determined by management every vear and is based on historical trends and market indices. A 0.50%0 change in the
expected rate of compensation increase. with all other variables held constant, would change Linde’s pension expense by
approxunately 56 million and would impact the PBO by approximateis S28 million.

Asset Impairments

Groodw i and Ovher fndefiniie-Lived fntangibles Assels

At December 31, 2022, the company had goodwill 0f S23.817 mitlion and $1.706 million of other indefinite-lived

intangible assets. Goodwill represents the aggregate ot the excess constderation paid for acquired businesses over the fair

value of the net assets acquired, [ndetinite-lived other ntangibles relate e the Linde name.
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The company performs a goodw il impairment test annaally as of October 1 or more frequentdy if events or
circumstances indicate that an impairment foss may have been incurred. The impairment test performed dunng the fourth
quarter of 2022 dicated no impaimient, At December 31 20220 Linde's enterprise value was approxinately S173 billion
(outstanding shares multiplicd by the year-end stock price plus net debt. and without any control premium) while its total
capital was approxiniately 534 billion

The impainment test allows ar entity to first assess qualitative facters to determine if it is more Likely than not that the
fuir value ol a reporting ungt is less than carnving value, [F i 1s determined that i is mere likely than nor that the fair value of
a reporting unit is less than carrving value then the company will estimate and compare the fair value of iis reporting units to
thetr carrving value. includimg goodwill, Reporting units are determined based on one fevel below the operating seement

lav el

Management believes that the quantitative and quahtative factors wsed to perform its annual goodwill impairment
assessment are appropriate and reasonable. Although the 2022 assessment indicated that it is more Hikely than not that the fair
vatue of cach reporting unit exceeded its carrving value, changes in circumstances or conditions affecting this analysis could
has ¢ a significant impact on the fair value determination, which could then result in a material impainment charge to the
campany s resulls of operations. Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde AG assets fair valued during the 2018
Praxair. Inc.and Linde AG merger are at greater risk of impairment in future pertods.

Other indelinite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impatrment on an annua! basis or more frequentiy 1f events
and circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred. and no impairments were indicated.

See Notes 9 and 10 to the conselidated financial statements.
Lone-Lived dsvers

Long-lived assets. ingluding property. plant and equipment and tinite-lived other intangible asscrs, are tested for
impairment wheneser events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying anount of an imdividual asset or asset
group may not be recoverable. For purposes of this test. asset groups are determined based upon the lowest level for which
there are independent and identifiable cush lows. Based upon Linde™s business model an assot group may be a single plam
and related assets used to support vo-site. merchant and packaged sas customers. Alternatively, the asset group may be a
collection of distribution related assets (eylinders, distribution centers, and stores) or he a pipeline complex which includes
multiple interdependent plants and related assets connected by pipetines within a geographic arca used to support the same
distetbunion methods. As a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict. Linde deconsohdated 1ts Russian gas and engincering
busitiess entities as of June 30, 2022, See Note 3 1o the consolidated financial statements,

Income Taxes

At December 31L 2022, Linde had deferred tax assets of S1,247 million {nct of valuaton allowances of S276 nuilhony.
and deferred tax habilites of $6.903 million. At December 31, 2022, uncertain tax positions rotaled S3235 million (sce Nowe
and Note 5 to the consohdated {financial statements). Income tax expense was S 1434 milhon for the year ended

December 31, 2022, or about 23.9% of pre-tax income (see Note 5 1o the consolidated financial statements for additional

information related to taxes)y.

In the preparation of consohidated financial statements. Linde estinmxates income taxes based on diverse legislative and
regulatory structures that exist in various jurisdictions where the company conducts business. Delerred income tax assets and
liabilities represent tax benefis or obligations that arise from temporary differences due w differing treatment of certain
itents for accounting and income tax purposcs. Linde cvaluates deferred tax assets cach period te ensure that estimated tuture
taxable income will be sutficient in character (e.g. capital gain versus ordinary income treatment). amount and timing to
result in their reconery. A valuation allowance 15 established when management determines that it is more likely than not that
a deterred tax asset will not be realized 1o reduce the assets o their realizable value. Constderable judgments are required in
establishing deferred tax valuation allossances and in assessing exposures related to tax matrers, As events and circumstances
change, related reserves and valuation allowances are adjusted o income at that tme. Linde’s wx returns are subject w audn
and local taxing authorities could challenge the company s tax positions. The company’™s practice Is to review tax filing
pusitions by jurisdiction and 1o record provisions for uncertain imcome tax positions, includmg interest and penalties when
applicable. Linde believes it records and. or diseloses such potential tax liabilities as appropriate and has reasonably estimated
s invome tay Habilities and recoverable tax assets IMnew information becomes avaiable, adjustments are churged or
credited against income at that time. Management does not anticipate that such adjustnents would have a material adverse
ctteet on the company s consolidated financial posinon or hquidity: however, it 3 possible that the final outcomes could
have a material impact on the company s reported results of operations,

'aa
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Contingencies

The company accrues Habilitics for non-income tay conumgencics when managenient belies es that a loss 1s probable
and the amounts can be reasanably estimated. while contingent gains are recognized only when realized or realizable. Brnew
information becomes available or losses are sustained i exccas of recorded amounts, adjustiments are charged against income
at that time. Management does not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a matertal adverse etfect on the
company’s consolidated tinancial position or hquidity: however, itis posstble that the final outcomes could have a maternal
immpact on the company s reported results of operations,

Lindc is subject o various claims, legal procecdings and government insestigations that anise from time to time in the
ordinary course of business. These wetions are based upon alleged environmental, tax. anutrust and personal Injury claims.
among others (see Note 7w the consolidated tinancial statements). Such contingencies are significant and the accounting
requires considerable management judgments in analy #ing cach matter to assess the Bkely outcome and the need tor
establishing appropriate liahilitics and prosviding adequate disclosures. Linde believes it records and or discloses such
conlingencies as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its labilites,

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note | to the consoliduted financial statements for information concerning new accounting standards and the
impact of the implementation of these standards on the company s financial statements.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Linde does not expect changes in the aggregate tair value of its tinancial assets and hiabilities to have a material impact

on the consolidated financial statements, See Note 13 o the conselidated financial statements.



NON-GAAP FINANCIAE MEASURES

Fhe following non-GAAP measures are mtended 1o supplement investors” understanding ol the company’s tinancial
information by providing measures which investors, financial analyvsts and management use to help evaluate the company s
financial Loy erage and operiting performance. Special items which the company does not beliese o be indicative of on-going
business pertormancee are exeluded from these caleulations so that investors can better evaluate and analy e histoncal and
future business trends on a consistent basis. Detinitions of these non-GAAP measures may not be comparable to similar
definitons used by other companics and arc not a substitute for similar GAAP measures.

The non-GAAP measures in the foliowing reconciliations are presented in this MD& AL

Adfusted moenty

(Dolfar aimoents in millions, excepr per share dira)
Yeur Ended December 3, 2022 2021

Adjusted Operating Profit and Operating Margin

Reported operating protit S 3369 S 494
Add: Russia-Ukraine contlict and other charges {a» 1.029 273
Add: Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG Q) 1.506 1.919
Total adjustiments 2535 2,192
Adjusted operating profit S 7804 S 7076
Reported pereentage change 8%
Adjusted pereentage change 10"
Reporied sales S 3330408 30,793
Reported operating margin 16.1 % 16.2 %
Adjusted operating margin 237 % 23370,
Adjusted Depreciation and amuortization
Reported depreciation and amortization S 4204 S 4633
Less: Purchase accounting tmpacts - Linde AG (¢) (1481 (1.863)
Adjusted depreciation and amortization S 2.723 S 2772
Adjusted Other Income (Expense} — net
Reported Other Income {Eapense)  net S 62) S (26)
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (¢) (23 (36)
Adjusted Other Income (Bxpense)  net S (377 S 30
Adjusted Ner Pension and OPEB Cost (Benefity, Excluding Service Cost
Reported net pension and OPER cost thenetit). excluding semvice cost 5 237y S (192)
Add: Pension sewtdement charges (6) ()
Adjusted Net Pension and OPEB cost (henefin, excluding service costs S (243) S {196
Adjusted Interest Expense — Net
Reported interest expense - net S 63 S8 77
Add: Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG (c) 33 33
Adjusted interest expense net S 98 5 130
Adjusted Income Tuxes (a)
Reported income taxes 5 [434 S £.262
Add: Purchase accounting impucts  Linde AG (o) 374 452
Add: Pension settlement charges 1 1
Add: Russia-Ukraine contlict and other charges {(a) 136 249
Total adjustiments S 482
Adjusted income tuxes S oLy s LT
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{Dollar amounis in miflions, except per share duray
Y ear Ended December 3.

Ndjusted Effective Tax Rate (w)

Reported inceme before income taxes and equity investments
Add: Pension sertlement charge

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG i)

Add: Russia-Ukraing conflict and other charges (a)

l'otal adjustinents
Adjusted imcome betore income taxes and equity invastments

Reported Income taves

Reported eftective tax rate

Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted eftectis e tax rate

Income from Egquiny Investments

Reported income from equity investients

Add: Russia-Ukraine conllict and other charges (d)
Add: Purchase accounting impacts Linde AG ()

Total adjustments

Adjusted income from equity investiments

Adjusted Noncoutrolling Interests from Continuing Operations

Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Add: Purchase accounting impacts Linde AG (¢)

Adjusted noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

Adfusted Income from Continuing Operations (h)

Reported income trom continuing operations

Add: Pension settlement charae

Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a)

Add: Purchase accounting impacis — Linde AG ()
Total adjustments

Adjusted income from continuing operations

Adjusted Diluted EPS from Continuing Operatinons (h)

Reported dituted EPS from continuing operations

Add: Pension settlement charge

Add: Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges (a)

Add: Purchase accounting impact~  Lande AG (©)

Total adjustments

vdjusted diluted EPS from continuing operations

Reported pereentage change

Adjusted percentage change

2022 202
5 5543 S 509y
6 4
1471 1.866
1.029 273
2306 20453
S X049 S 7242
S 1.434 S 1.262
259, 247 9%
5 1.943 5 1,744
24020, 2119,
S 172 S Y
— 33
73 77
75 112
S 247 5 231
S (134 S (135
(22) (13)
b (136) S (150}
5 4.147 Y 3,821
3 3
893 279
1,150 1,476
2.048 1.758
S 6,193 S 3,579
S 823 S 732
0.01 0.01
.77 (L33
228 283
4.06 337
S 1229 5 11).69
[2 0“
159,



(Bollar giotenis i millions, except per sirare dita)

Y car koanded December 31, 2022 221
Adjusted EBITDA and % of Sales
Income from continuing operations S 4147 S 3821
Add: Nonconrolling interests related 1o continuing operations 134 133
Adds Netpension and OPEB cost {benetin, excludinig service cost (237) {192)
Add: Interest expense 63 77
Add: Income taxes 1.434 1.262
Add: Depreciaton and amaortizatnon 4.204 4.635
EBRUTIIA from contimiing aperations 9. 745 9,734
Adds Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges ta) 1.629 308
Add: Purchase accounting impacts Linde AG {¢) 99 33
[otal adjustments L1258 441
Adjusted EBITRA from continuing vperations S 10873 S5 10,179
Reported sales S 33364 S 30793
Yo of sales
EBITDA from continuing operations 220 316 "%
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations 3260 331 %
() The income tax expense (benefit) on the non-GAAP pre-tay adjustments was determined using the applicable tax
rates for the jurisdictions that were utthzed in caleulating the GAAP income tax expense (henefit) and included both
current and deferred income tax amounts.
(b Net of income taxes which are shown separately i~ Adjusted Income Taxes and Fitective Tax Rawe™
(<) The company believes that its non-GAAP measures excluding Purchase accounting impacts Linde AG are useful
o Investors because: (1) the business combination was & merger of equals m an all-stock merger ransaction. with no
cush consideration, (i) the company i managed on a geographic biasis and the results of certain geographics are
more heavily impacted by purchase accounting than others, causing results that are not comparable at the reportable
segment levell theretore, the impacts of purchasing accounting adjustments to cach segment vary and are not
comparable within the company and when compared o other companics i similar regions, (i) business
management is evaluated and variable compensation is determined based on results excluding purchase accounting
impacts, and: (1v) 1L important to investors and analysts to understand the purchase accounting impacts to the
tinancial statements.
A swmimary of cach of the adjustments made for Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are as follows:
Adjusted Operating Profic and Margin: The purchase accountng adjustments for the periods presented relate
primarnty to depreciation and amortization related o the fair value step up ol fixed assets and intangible dssets
iprimarily customer related) acquired in the merger and the allocation of fair value step-up for ongoing Linde AG
asset disposals (reflected in Other Income (Expensed).
Adjusred fnserest Expense Ner: Relates o the amortization of the fair value of debt acquired in the merger.
Acdjusted fneome Taves and Fffeciive Tav Rare. Relates 1o the current and deferred income tax impiict on the
adjustments discussed above. The income tax expense {benefit) on the non-GAAP pre-tax adjustments was
determined using the applicable tax rates tor the jurisdictions that were utilized in calculating the GAAP income tax
cxpetise (benefit) and included both current and deferred income tax amounts.
Adjusted Income from Equny frvesimenis: Represents the amortization of increased fair value on equity imvestments
related w depreciable and amortizable assers.
Mdjusiod Noncontrolting [pteroses from Comtinuing Operations: Represents the noncontrotling interests” ownership
purtion of the adjustments described aboy e determined on an entity by entity basis
() Impairment charge related to ajoint venture in the APAC segiment.



Net Debt and Adjusted Net Debr

Net debt s a tinuncial hguidity measure used by investors. financial analysts and management to evaluate the abihity of o

company to repas 1t debt, Purchase accounting impacts hase been excluded as they are non-cash and do not have an impact

on liguidity.

(Villions of dotlurs)

Dbt

Less: cash and cash equivalents

Natdebt

Less: purchase accounting impacts Linde AG

Adjusted net debt

40

December 31, December 31,
2022 2321

S 17914 5 14207
(5.436) {2.823)

12,478 11.384
(22) (641
S 12,436 5 11,323



SUPPLEMENTAL GUARANTEE INFORMATION

(i June 6, 2020, the compams tiled a Form 5-3 Registration Statement with the SEC {the "Registraton Statement™ 1,

Linde ple may ofter debt sceurities, preterred shaces. depositiary shares and ordinany shares under the Registration
Statement. and debr securities exchangeable for o convertible into preferred shares. ordinary shages or other debt securities
Debt securities of Linde ple may be guaranteed by Linde Ine. (previously Praxair. [ne.) and or Linde GmbH previously
Linde AG). Linde ple may provide guarantees ot debt securities otfered by its wholly owned subsidiaries Linde Inc. or Linde
Finanee under the Registration Statement.

Linde hnc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Linde ple Binde Inc may offer debt securitics under the Registration
Statement, Debt s ccuritics of Linde Ine, will be guaranteed by Linde ple. and such guarantees by Linde ple nay be
guaranteed by Linde Gmbl L Linde Ine. may also provide {1y guarantees ot debt sceurities otfered by Linde ple under the
Registration Statement and {11 guarantees of the guarantees provided by Linde ple of debt securities of Linde Finance
offered under the Registration Statement,

Linde Finance BV, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Linde ple. Linde Finance may ofter debt securities under the
Registration Statement. Linde ple will guarantee debt sceuritios ot Linde Finance oftered under the Registration Statement.
Linde GmbH and [ inde [ne. may guarantee Linde ple’s obligations under its downstream guarantee.

Linde GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of Linde ple. Linde GmbH mayv provide (1) guarantees of debt securities
offered by Linde ple under the Registration Statement and (i) upstream guaranrees of downstream guarantees prosided by
Linde ple of debt seeurities of Linde Ine. or Linde Finance offered under the Registration Statement.

In September 2019, Linde ple provided downstream guarantees of alt of the pre-business combination Linde Ine and
Linde Finance notes. and Linde GmbH and Linde Ine. respectively. provided upstream guarantees ol Linde plo’s
downstream guarantegs.

For further information about the guarantees of the debt securities registered under the Registration Statement
{mcluding the ranking of such guarantees. limitations on enforceability of such guarantees and the circumstances under
which such guarantees may be released). see Deseription of Debt Securities Guarantees™ and "Description of Debt
Sceurities - Ranking™ in the Registration Statement. which subsections are incomporated herein by reference.

The fullowing tables prosent summarized tinancial information tor Linde ple. Linde Inc., Linde GmblH and Linde
Finance an a combined hasis. atter climinating intercompany transactions and balances berween them and excluding

imvestments 1 and equity incarnings trom non-guirintor subsidiaries,

(Mitlions of dotlary)
Statement of Income Data

Twelve Months Ended Twelve Months Ended

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

Sales B 88308 7.767
Operating profit 1.337 973
Net neome 673 721
Transactions with non-guarantor subsidiarics 2.241 2,067
Balance Sheet Data (at period cnd)

Current issats (1) S F1478 8 3,826
Long-term assets (h) 13,949 13,928
Current habilitios () 11.767 X853
Long-term lisbilives (d)y 48210 12 860
(a) From current assets aboy e, amount due from non-guarantor subsidiaries S 7260 % +4.200
(b From long-term assets aboyve, amount due from non-guarantor subsidiarios 1982 3257
(¢y From current habilities above, amount due to non-guarantor subsidiaries 1.334 S04
() From long-term liabilitics above, amount due to nen-guarantor subsidiarics 33.2068 28,142
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[TEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATINVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Linde 15 exposed te market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates. The objectine ot
linancial risk management at Linde i3 to minimize the negative impact of interest rate and toreign exchange rate fluctuations
on the company 's earnings, cash ffows and cquuty.

To manage these risks, Linde uses various derbvative financial instruments. including interest-rate swups. treasury rate
locks, currency swaps, forward contracts, and commodity contracts. Linde vnly uses commonly traded and non-leveraged
instruments. These contracts are entered into primarily with major bunking institutions thereby minimizing the risk of crediz
loss. Alsuo. see Note | and Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements tor a more complete description of Linde’s
accounting policics and use of such mstruments.

I'he following discussion presents the sensitivity of the market value, camings and cash ows of Linde's financial
mstruments to hypothetical changes in interest and exchange rates assuming these changes oecurred at December 31, 2022,
I'he range of changes chosen for these discussions retlects Linde™s view of ¢changes which are reasonably possible over a
ong-year period. Market values represent the present values ol projected futere cash flows based o interest rate and
exchange rate assumptions.

Interest Rate Risk

At PDecember 31,2022, Linde had debt totaling $17.9 14 million (S14.207 million at December 31, 20213 For {iaed-
rate instruments. interest rate changes affect the farr market value but do not impact camings or cash tlows. Conversely. for
floating-rate instruments, interest rate changes generally do not affecr the farr market value of the nstrument but impact
future carnings and cash flows, assuming that other tactors are held constant. At December 31, 2022, including the impact of
dernvatives, Linde had fixed-rate debt of S13.000 million and floating-rate debt of $4.914 million. representing 73% and
27%. respectively, of total debt. At Decemnber 31, 2021, Linde had fixed-rate debt of §12.492 mullion and floating-rate debt
of $1.713 million, representing 83% and 12%, respectively. of total debt.

Fived Rute Dot

In order to mitigate interest rate risk. when considered appropriate, mterest-rate swaps are entered into as hedges ol
undertying financial instruments to etfectively change the charactenistics of the interest rate without actually changing the
undertying financial instrument. At Decembeer 31,2022, Linde had fised-to-floating interest rate swaps outstanding that were
designated as hedging instruments of the underlying debt ssuances  refer to Note 12 1o the consohdated financial statements
for additional information. Fhis sersitivity analysis assumes that, holding all other varnables constant (such as foreign
exchange rates, swaps and debt les els), a one hundred basis peint increase ininterest rates would decrease the unrealized fair
market value of the fixed-rate debt portfolio by approximately $666 million (5834 mitlion in 202 1) A one hundred bass
puint increase in interest rates would result in an approximate S21 million decrease to derivative assets recorded.

Variahle Rate Debr

At December 31, 2022, the afier-tax earnings and cash flows impact of o one hundred basis point increase n interest
rates. including offsetting impact of derivatives. on the vanable-rate debt porttolio would be approximately 523 million
{533 milhion in 2021)

Foreign Currency Risk

Einde’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its imvesunents and ongoing operations in Latin Amcerica
tprimarily Brazil and Mexico), Europe (primarily Germany, Scandinav ia. and the UKL, Canada. Asia Pacific (primarily
Australia and Chinay and other business transactions such as the procurement of equipment from foreign sources. Linde
frequently utitizes currency contracts W hedge these exposures. At December 31, 2022, Linde had a notional amount
oculstanding of $3.370 million ($3.870 million at December 31, 2021) related o foreign exchange contracts, The majorits of
these were w hedge recorded balance sheet expuosures. primarily intercompany loans denominated in non-funcuonal
currencies, See Note 12 to the conselidated financial statements.

Holding all other variables constant. 1f there were a 1070 Increase in forcign-currency exchange rates for the portfolio.
the fair market value of forerzn-currency contracts outstanding ar December 31, 2022 would increase by approximately
$%3 million and at December 31, 2021 would decrease by approximately 828 million, which would be largely offset by an
offsetting loss or gain on the toreign-currency tluctuation of the underlving exposure bemng hedged.
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MANAGENMENT'S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linde’s consolidated financial statenients are prepared by management. which is responstble tor their faimess. mregrity
and objectiv ity . The accompanying financial statements hav e been prepared o conformity with accounting principles
generally aceepted in the United States ol Anserica applied on a consiatent basis, cxeept tor accounting changes as diselosed.
and include amounts that are estimates and judgments. All historical financial information in this annual report is consistent
with the accompanying financial statements.

Linde maintains accounting systems. including itemal accounting controls, monitored by a stalT of internal auditors,
that are designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial records and the protection of assets. The
concept of reasonable assurancee 15 based on recogmition that the cost of a system should not exceed the reluted benefiss. The
cffectiveness of thase systems depends primarily upon the careful selection of financtal and other managers, ¢lear delegation
of authortty and assignment of accountability. inculeation of high business cthies and conflict-of-interest standards, policies
and procedures for coordinating the management of corporate resources. and the leadership and commitment of top
management. In complianee with Scction 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Linde assessed its internal control over
financial reporting and sssued a report (see below ).

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists solely of non-emplovee directors, 1s responsible for
overseeinyg the functioning of the accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual financial statements,
I'he Audit Committee periodically meets with management. internal auditors and the independent registered public
accounting firm to review and eviduare their accounting, auditing and financial reporting activities and responsibilitics.
including management’s assessiment of internal control over Mnancial reporting. The independent registered public
accounting firm and internal auditors have full and free access o the Audit Committee and meet with the committee. with
and withoul management present.

VANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERN AL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Linde’s management is respansible tor establishing and maintaining adeguate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(6). Under the supervision and with the participation of management,
mncluding the company s principal exceutn ¢ otticer and principal financial officer. the company conducted an evaluation of
the cffectiveness ot its internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Srecrnal Controf - hnegruted
Framework (2013) tssued by the Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commussion tofen referred to as
COSQ). Based vn this evaluation, management concluded that the company s internal control over tinancial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2022,

PricewuterhouseCoopers LLP. an independent registered public accounting firm, has andited and issued rheir opinion
on the etfectivencss of the company™s intemnat control over financial reporting as of December 310 2022 us stated in their

report.
s Sangn Loy s Kitoey B Hova
Sanjiy Lamba Keleey Ko Hoyt
Chief Executive Otficey Chief Aceounting Officer
o MR T WH
Matthew I W hite February 28, 2023

Chief Financial Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of Linde ple
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Inteenal Control over Financial Reporting

W bave audited e aceompany ing consolidated balance sheeis ol Linde ple and its subsidianes (the “Company ™)
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements ot income. ol comprehensive income, of equity
and of cash flows for cach of the three vears in the period ended December 31, 20220 including the related notes (eollectively
referred to as the “consoliduted lnancial statements™ ). We also have audited the Company s internal conrol over financil
reporting as of December 31, 20220 based on eriteria established in Divernal Conteol fregiated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Spensoring Orgunisations of the Treadway Commission (COS0).

(n our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred o above present fuirly, in all materab respects, the
tinanciat posinon of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results ofits aperations and its cash flows for
cach of the three yeurs in the period ended December 31 2022 in contormity with accounting principles generally aceepied
in the United States of America. Also in our opinion. the Compans maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of Deccmber 31, 2022 based on eriteria established in faterna! Control Integrated
Framework (201 3) 1ssued by the COS0,

Das

or Opinions

The Company™s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements. for maintaining cftectnve
internal contzol over lnancial reporting. and For its assessment of the effectiveness ot internal control over financial
reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Controf over Financial Reporting appearing under ftem 9. Our
responsibility is 1o express opinions on the Company s consolidated financial statements and on the Company s internal
control over Tinanciad reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Cempany
Accounting Oversight Board {United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Seeurities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOR. Those stundards reguire that we plan and
perform the audits to ebtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of matenial
misstatement. whether due to error or fraud. and whether effective internal contrel over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included perlorming procedures o assess the nisks ol muaterial
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. whether due to error or frinid, and performing procedures that respond
1o those risks. Such procedures included cxamining. on a test basis, ovidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. OQur audits also included evaluating the accounting prineiples used and significant
estimates made by management, as well is evaltating the overail presentation of the consolidated tinancial statements. Our
audit of internal control over tinancial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists. and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectveness
of intemal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary 1n the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definidion and Limirarions of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is o process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of tinancial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally aceepted accountmg principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that {1 pertain to the maintenance of records that. in reasonable detail. accuratcly and fairly refiect the
transactiens and disposttions ot the assets of the company: (1) proyvide reasonabie assurance that transactions are recorded as
fecessary o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally aceepted accounting principles. and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the compimy: and (i) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition. use. or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effeet on the Hnancial statements.

Because of 1ts inherent limitations. internal control over financial reporming may not present or detect misstatements,
Also. projections ol any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
nadequate because of changes in conditions. or that the degree of complianee with the policies or procedures may
detertorate.
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Critical Audit Mutter

I'he eritical audit matter communicated below 15 a matter arising trom the current period audit of the consoelidated
Hnancial statements that was conumunicated or required o be communicated o the audit committee and that (1) relates w
accounts or disclosures that are material 10 the consolidated tinancial statements and (b v elved ovr especially chaltenging.
subjectiy e or complex judgments. The communication of ¢ritical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinton on the
consolidated financial statements. taken as a whole, and we are not by communicating the crivical audit matter below.
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matier or on the accounts or disclosures o which it relates.,

Revenue Recognition  Fxtimaied Costy at Completion

As deseribed in Note 19 1o the consolidated financial statements. $2.762 million of the Company s total revenues
for the vear ended December 31, 2022 woas generated from the sale of equipment contracts. Sale of equipment contracts are
generally comprised ot a single performance obligation. Revenue trom the sale of cquipment is generally recognized over
time as the Company has an entorceable right to payment for performance completed 1o date and performance does not
create an assel with aliernative use. For contracts recognized over time, revenue Is recognized primarids using a cost incurred
input method. Costs imcurred to date relans e o total estimated costs at completion are used 1o measure progress tow and
satusly ing performance obligations. Costs incurred include material. tabor, and overhead costs und represent work
contributing and proportionate to the anster of contro! to the customer.

The principal consideranions for our determination that performing procedures relating to reyvenue recognition - -
estimated costs at completion 1s a critical audit matter are (1) the signmificant judgment by munagement when deseloping the
ostimated costs at completion for the sale of equipment contracts; (it) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and
cffort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to the estimated costy at completion and muanagement™s
signiticant assumptions related 1o the total estimated material and labor costs: and (111) the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence i connection with torming
aur overall opinion on the consolidated financul statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls
relating to the revenue recognition process, including controls over developing the estimated costs at completion tor the saie
of equipiment contracts, These procedures alse included. among others. evaleating and esting managemaent’s process tor
developing the estimarted costs at completion for the sale of cquipiment contracts. which included ovaluating the
reasenableness of management’s significant assumptions related o the toral estimated material and labor costs. Evaluating
the reasonablencss of management’s significant assumptions invoelved evaluating management’s ability to reasonably
estimate costs at campletion for the sale of equipment contracts on a sample basis by (1) performing a companrson of the
originally estimated and actual costs incurred on similar completed equipment contracts, and (i1) evaluating the timely
wdentificatton of circumstances that may warrant 2 moditication to estimated costs at completion. including actual costs in
excess of estimates. Professwonals with specialized shill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the reasonablenoss
of management’s estimates and significant assumptions related 1o the total estimated material and labor costs.

/s{ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Stamford., Connecticut
February 28. 2023

We have senved as the Company s or 1ts predecessor™s auditor since 1992,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar wnowunes in mitlions, except per share duta)

Y ear Laded December 31, 2022 2421 2020

Sales S 333645 30993 S 27233
Cost of sales. exclusive of depreciation and amortization 19,330 17.343 15383
Selling. general and adnuinistrative 3107 3189 3.163
Depreciation and amortization 4.204 4.633 4.6206
Research and development 143 43 152
Russia-Ukraine confhict and other charges 1.024 273 S06
Orther income (expenses) - net (62) 120) t61)
Operating Profit 5,309 4984 3.322
Interest expense - net 63 77 15
Nt pension and OPEB cost (benetit), excludimg service cost (237) {(192) (177

Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Equity

[y estments 5,543 50099 3384
Income taxes on continuing operations 434 1.262 N47
Income From Continuing Operations Before Equity Investments 4,109 3837 2537
Income from cquity mestments 172 119 85
income From Continuing Operations (fncluding Noncontroling Enterests) 4.281 3956 2.622
Income from discontinued operations. net of tax 3

Net Income (Including Noncontrolling Interests) 4,281 3961 2.626
Less: noncontrolling intercsts front continuing operations (t34) {135} (125
Net Income ~ Linde ple S 3147 5 3826 S 2.501
Net Income — Linde ple

[nconw rom continuing operations S 4147 8§ 3R218 2497
[ncone from discontinued operations S S S008 3
Per Share Data — Linde ple Shareholders

Basic carnings per share frem continuing operations S 33008 739 0§ +.74
Basic carnings per share frem discontinued operations 0.01 .01
Basie carnings per share 5 83008 74005 4.73
[nluted carmngs per share from continuing operations S 823 S 325 +.70
Diluted carnines per share from discontinued operations (.01 0.01
Diluted carnings per share 5 ¥.23 S 73305 4.7}
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (0(H)°s):

Basic shares outstanding AV T30 5168490 326736
Diluted shares cutstanding 304,038 S21NT5 531157

The accompany ing Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollur amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31, 21122 2021 2020
NLET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERES TSy ) 42818 3Yel S 26206
OTHER CONPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translaten adjustments:
Foreign currenes translation adjustiments (1723 (116 363
Reclassifications o net income (1) 1524
[ncome taxes (7) 30
Transtation wdpusuments 183N (1.173) 93
Funded status - retirement obligations { Note 16):
Relirement program remeiasurements 1349 826 (673)
Reclassifications to net income 80 175 92
inecente taxes (359) {255} 114
Funded status - retirement obligations 1.070 746 (469)
Derivative instruments (vore 125
Current vear wirealized gain (Joss) 107 140 (3)
Reclassitications to net income (129 (49 42
lncome tuaxes 9 (2 (%)
Dertvative imstruments (13 71 31
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1.0OSS) 1778) {358) 157
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING
INTERESTS) 3503 3.603 2.7%3
Less: noncontrolling interests 190y (135) {15%)
COMPRENLENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC S 3413 8 3468 8 2.623

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.,
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
LINDE PL.OC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in millions)

w 2022 2021
Assets
Cash ad cash equivalents S 543605 2823
Accounts receivable nat 4559 4,499
Contract asscis 124 134
[ entories 1.97% [.733
Propaid and other current assets 9350 970
Tota! Current Assety 13.047 10,139
Property. plant and equipment net 23548 26,003
FEguily i estients 2350 2,619
Goodw il 25817 27.038
Other intangible assets net 12.420 13.802
Onher long-term assets 2476 (AL
Total Asvers S 79.058 S 81,603
Liabilities and Equity
Aceounts payable S 2995 S 3,303
Short-term debt 1,117 F.163
Current portion ot tong-term debt 1.599 £.709
Contract labilities 3.073 2940
Acerued taxes 613 429
Other current habilities 4,082 3.899
Tow! Current Livhilitios 16,479 13.643
[ong-tenm deht 12,198 11.335
Other long-term liabilities 2.795 4188
Deferred eredits 6,799 6998
Tora! Liahilities 38.271 36,164
Commitments and conungencies ( Note 17)
Redeemable noncontrolling inferests 13 13
Linde pic Sharcholders” Fquity:
Ordinary shares (£0.001 par value. authorized 1.730.000.000 shares, 2022 and 2021
issued: 332,012 862 ordinary sharcs} | 1
Additional pard-m capital 40.005 40.180
Retained earnings 20,541 18710
Accumulated other comprehensive ingome (loss) (5.752) (5,043
Less: Treasury shares, ateust (2022 539,555,235 shares and
2021 43331983 shares) (14.737) (4.80%)
Fotal Linde ple Sharcholders™ Equity 40,028 34,035
Noncontrolling interests 1,346 1.393
Toral Eguine 41.37 45 428
Toral Lichilities and Equine S 79.638 S 81.605

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FELOWS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
fMillions of dallais)

Y ear Ended December 31, 2022 021 2020

Increase (Decrease} in Cash and C ash Fguisalenis

Operations
Netmeore  Linde pie ) AN E R AR 1.0
I ossmeame from discontinued operations, net of Liind noncentealling irerosis 3 143
Add Noncontrolhing miterest= lone continmng operdt.ons 134 33 125
fnconme from contiume operations (neludmg norcontrolbing mrerssts) S 4281 N 0% S ANIRA

Adiosteents 1o reconale net meoiie to net cash proveded by operanmg acoanes

Russra-U krame conthict and other charges. netof payment~ Rl R 254
Deprecttion and amaorti zation 204 4.035 4.620
Deferred meome tuxes 1333 1254 1304
Share-based compensation i’ 12% 133
Somn-eash charge s and other 4y (19 132

Woorking capiial

Negoants regeis abie (423} (353 14

Cantract assct~ and Tab:lines, net 310 1.307 ury

[nventory 1347 ] Ed

Prepand and other current assels 1137 n 124

Payables and aceruals a7 447 144

Pen~on contrthations (51 1+ Iy

L oag-term assets, Tabihities aad other [63 TA 1266

Net cash provided by operating activihies 9.R64 .28 T4

Invosting

Capial expenditares 173 1308 (3,40
Loguusittans, net ot cash acquired th 0y 18%) LORY
Dyvestiures and asset sales, netofeash des oseed (A 167 482
Net i used fur i estog actinries [RREARY 13,007y (298¢

Financing

Short-term debt borrow mes trepaymentsy et 3050 11.324) (IR A
Eong-term debt borrow ings LY 2283 1.74h
[ ong-term debt sepayiments (1 doN 120680
Fssuanees of orduary shaires 36 ) 47
Purchases of ordimary shares {5,164} 14612 12457
Cashodividends  Linde ple sharchobders 123440 12,189 (2402%)
Noncontrollig niterest rissactions and other (¥X} (32%) 122

et cash used for financing activities [RRILES (738N} [RIRE L
Ertectof eschange rate Chanees on cash and cash cganalenes {74y ol )
Change incash and cash equanvalents 2l {93 1054
Cash and cash agqui adents, beginmina-of-pertod 2823 3754 2.0
Cashoand cash eguis dents, ead-of-pertod 5 S4n % 282308 3754

Supplemental Data

Trcome tas s prad ) 17308 171 s E6n
Interast pand net of capitahesd mmteresr e Nare ™y S s BRENEEA 122

The accompanying Notes are an integral part ol these financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Linde ple C'Linde™ or “the company™) is an incorporated public limited company tormed under the taws of Ireland.
Linde™s registered office is located at Ten Earlsfort Terrace. Dublin 2. DO2 T350 breland. Linde™s principal executive otlices
are located at Forge, 43 Chureh Street West, Woking, Surrey GU21 6HT, United Kingdom and 10 Riverview Drive.
Danbury. Connecticut. United States 06810, Linde trades on the Now York Stock Txchange and on the Frankfurt Stock
i xchange under the symbei LiN.

On January 13, 2023, sharcholders approsed the company™s propasal for an intercompany reorganization that will
result in the debisting of its ordinary shares from the Framkiuet Stock Exchange. Tollowing the completion of [egat and
regulatory approvals. Linde anticipates that the intercompany reorganization and delisting process will be completed. and 1ts
ordinary shares will be delisted tfrom the Frankturt Stock Exchange. on or about March [ 2023,

In connection with the ciosing of the intercompany reorgantzation. Linde sharcholders will automatically recen e one
share of the new holding company., to be histed onr the New York Stock Exchange in exchange for cach share of Linde ple
they vwn. The new holding company will also be named ~Linde ple™ and will trade under the existing ticker LIN.

Principles of Consolidation  The consolidated fnancial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generalty acceepted n the United Stares of America (7 ULS. GAAPT)y and include the accounts of all significant
subsidiaries where control exists and, in limited situations, variable-interest entities where the company is the primars
beneticiary . Intercompany transactions and balances are climinated in consohdation and any significant related-party
transactions have been disclosed.

Fquity investments generally consist of 20%s 10 30Ma owned operattons where the company exercises significant
influence, but docs not have control. Income from equity inyvestments in corporations is reported on an after-tax basis. Pre-tax
ncome from cguity investments that are partnerships or limited-liability corperations is included in other income (Expenses)

net with relared taxes included 1o Income taxes. Equity investments are reviewed for impairment whenever ¢venis or
circumstances retlect that an impairment loss may have been incurred,

Changes in ownership interest that result either in consolidation or deconsolidation of un inyvestment are recorded at
Fair value through camings. including the retained ownership interest. while changes that do not result in cither consotidation
or deconsolidation of a subsidiary are treated as cquity transactions.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of linancial statements in conformity with US. GAAP requires management to
make ostimates and assumptions that attect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and labilities at the date of the financual statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. While actual results could ditfer, management believes such estimates o be reasonable.

Operations - Linde iy (he largest industrial gases company globally. The company produces, sclls and distributes
atmospheric, process and speclalty gases to a diverse group of industries including acrospace, chemicals, food and beverage,
clectronies., energy. healtheare, manufacturing. und mctals, Linde’s Engincering business ofters its customers an oxtensive
range of gas production and processing services including supplving plant components and services directly to customers.

Revenue Recognition — Reyvenue is recognized as control of goods or services are transferred to customers inan
amaount that retlects the consideration to which the company ¢xpects o be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or
serviees, See Note 19 for additional details regarding [inde’s revenue recognition policies,

Cash Eguivalents  Cush cquivalents are considered to be highly Tiquid securitios with original maturides of three
months or Jess,

Fventories  Inventorios are stated a the lower of cost ar net realizable value. Cost is determined using the ayerage-
cost method.

Property, Plant und Equipment — Net - Property . plant and cquipment are carried at cost. net of accumulated
depreciation. The company capitalizes labor. applicable overhead and interest as part of the ¢ost of constructing major
facthues. bxpenditures for additions and improyements that extend the Tives or increase the capacits of plant assets are also
capitalized. Depreciation is caleutated on the straight-line method based on the estimated usetul ives of the assets. which
range from ¥ years o -H) vears (sce Note 8). Linde uses accelerated depreciation miethods for tax purposes where appropriate.
Maintenanee of property. plant and cquipment is gencrally expensed as incurred.

The company performs a test for impairment wheneyer events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carnving
amount of an indnidual asset or asset group may not be receverabic. Should projected undiscounted future cash lows be less
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than the carrying anount ot the asset or asset group, an imparment charge reducing the carny ing amount to fair value may be
required Fair value is determied based on the most appropriate valvation technique. including discounted cash flows,

Asser-Retivement Obligations  An asset-reurenient obligaton s recoenized i the pertod i which sutfoient
information exists to determine the fair value of the Hability with a corresponding inereasy to the carrving amount ot the
related property. plant and equipment which 15 then depreciated over its usetul lite, The Hability is initially measured at far
value and then aceretion expense is recorded in cach subsequent perfod. The company s asset-retirement ohligations are
primarily assoctated with ts on-site long-term supply arrangemenis where the company has built a facility on land leased
from the customer and is ebligated to remove the tacitity at the end of the contract erm. The company’s asset-retirement
obligations are not material o its consalidated fnancial statements.

Foreign Currency Fransfation 1 or most toreizn operatrons. the focal curreney {s the tunctional curreney and
transfation gains and losses are reported as part of the accumulated other comprehensive income (ass) component of eguity
as a cumulative translation adjustnient {sce Note 71

Financial Instruments  Linde coters into various derivative financial instruments 1o ninige ity CXposure
fluctuating interest rates, curreney exchange rates, commeadity pricing and energy costs. Such instruments primanly include
interest-rate swap and reasury rate lock agreements: curreney-swap agreements; forward contracts: currency eptions: and
commodity-swap agreements. [hese instruments are not entered into for trading purpeses. Linde only uses commonly traded
and non-leveraged instrunents.

Fhere are three tvpes of derivatives the company enters into: (1) those relating to fiir-value exposures. (i1} those
relating to cash-flow exposures. and (i) those refating to foreign curreney net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures
relate to recognized assets or labilities, and firm commitments: cash-flow exposures relate o the yvariabitity of future cash
flom s associated with recognized assets or habilities, or forecasted transactions; and net invesunent exposures reluie w the
impact of foreign curreney exchange rate changes on the carrving value of net assets denominated in foreign currencics.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate. it s designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-
flow hedge. or a net ins estment hedge. Currentlv, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury rate locks as hedges for
accounting purposes; however. curreney gontracts are generally not designated as hedges for accounting purposes unless they
are related o forecasted transactions. Whether desienated as hedges for accounting purposes or not, all derivatives are hinked
w an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge effectiveness ot all dervatives
designated as hedges for accounting purposcs to determane i they continue to be highly erfective in offsetting changes i fuir
values or cash flows of the underlying hedged items, 11 it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective. then hedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

Changes i the fuir value of derivatives designated as fair-value hedues are recognized in carnings as an offset to the
change in the fair values of the underlying exposures being hedged. The changes in fair value of derivatives that are
designated as cash-flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive meome (loss) and are reclassified to
carmimgs as the underlying hedged transaction affects carnings. Provided the hedge remains highly ettective. any
ieffectiveness is deferred in accumulaced other comprehensive income {loss) and are reclassified 1o carnings as the
underlving hedged transaction aftfects carnings. Hedges of net investments in foreisn subsidiaries are recognized in the
cumulative translation adjustment component ol accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated balance
sheets to offset translation gains and losses associated with the hedged net imvestment, Derivatives that are entered into for
risk-management purposes and are not designated as hedges (primarily related to currency derivatrves other than for firm
commitments) are recorded at their fair market values and recognized in current camings.

Sce Note 12 tor additional infermation relating 1o [Inancial instruments.

Goodwill  Acyuisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method which requires allocation of the purchase price
to assets acqurred and habilities assumed based on estimated fair values, Any exeess of the purchase price over the fair value
ol the assets and Habilitics acquired is recorded as goodwill. Allocations of the purchase price are based on preliminary
estimates and assumptions at the date of acquisttion and are subject o reyision based on final information recened, including
appratsals and other analysces which support underlving estimates.

The compuny performs a goodwill impaiment test annually as of October | or more frequently it cvents or
circumstanees indicate that an impairment loss may have been meurred. The impairment test allows an entity o first asscss
gualitatise factors to determine it it is more dikely than net that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carry ing value. If
it i~ determined that it is more fikely thin not tat the faire value ol a reporting unit s fess than carry ing value then the
company will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units to their carrving value. including goodwill. Reporting
units are determined based on one Tevel below the operating segment level. The qualitative analyvsis of goodwill for the year
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ended December 31, 20272 shawed the fair value of the reporting units substantially execeded the carrying value, as such
further analy sis wis not pertormed,

See Note Y {or addittonal imformation relating to goodw il

Other Intangible Assets  Owher intangible assets, primarity customer relationships, are amortized over the estimated
period of benetit, The determinution of the estimated perod of benefit will be dependent upon the use and underlving
characteristics of the intangible asset. Linde evaluates the recoverability ot its intangible assets subject to amortization when
facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. 1 the carrving value is not
recos erable. impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds ity estimated fair value, Fair value is
venerally estimated based on either appraised value or other valuation technigues. Indefinite Iived intangible assets related to
the Linde brand are evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if avents or circumstances indicare an
nnpairment loss nuy hasve occurred.

See Note 10 for addinonal information relating to other intungble assets,

Income Taxes Detorred income taxes are recorded for the temporary differences between the tinancial statement and
tax bases of assets and lLabilities using currently enucted tax rates. Valuation allowances are established against deterred tax
assets whenever circumistances indicate that itis more likely than not that such assets will not be realired i future periods.

Under the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. the company can recognize the benefit ofan
income tax position only 11015 more likely than not (greater than 50%) that the tax position will be sustained upon tax
examination, based solely on the technical merits of the tax position. Otherwise, no benehit can be recognized. The tax
benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benetit that has a greater than $07% likelihoed of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. Additionally, the company acerues interest and retated penaltios, if applicable. on adl tax exposures for
which reserses have been established consistent with jurisdictional tax Laws. Interest and penadties are Classified as income
tax expense in the financial statements,

See Note 5 tor addimional imformation relating to income taxes.

Retirement Benefits  Most Linde employees participate m o form of defined henelit or contribution retirement plan,
and additionally certain employees are ¢ligible to participate in various post-cmployment health care and life insurance
benetit plans, The cost of contribution pians is recognized m the vear camed while the cost of other plans 15 recognized over
the emplovees ™ expected service period to the company, all moaccordance with the applicable accounting standurds, The
funded status of the plans is recorded as an asset or hability in the consolidated balance sheets. Funding of retirement
benetits varies and s m accordance with local law s and practices.

See Note 16 for addidonal information refating to retireiment programs.

Share-based Compensation  The company has historically granted share-based awards which consist of stock options.
restricted stock and performance-based stock. Share-based compensation expense s generally recognized on a straight-line
basis over the stated vesting period. For stock awards granted to tull-retirement-cligible employvees. compensation expense is
recognived over the period trom the grant date to the date retivement eligibility 15 achieved. For performance-based awards,
compensation expense is recognized only 1t itis probable thar the pertformance conditon will be achiey ed.

See Note 3 for additional disclosures relating to share-based compensation.

Reclassifications  Certain prior years” amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Aceounting Standards Implemented in 2022
There were nu new accounting pronouncements that would matersally impact the 2022 financial statements.

NOTE 2. Acquisitions and Divestitures
Acquisitions

Acguisitions were S1T10O million. S88 milbon and $68 million tor the vears ended December 31,2022 2021 and 2020,
respectively. Acquisitions in 2022 and 2021 primaridy related to the Americas and ENEAD Acguisitions im 2020 primarily
related to the Americas.
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Divestitures
Sale of GIST business

In the thivd quarrer of 2022 the company completed the sale of ies GIST business, Proceeds trom the sale were
S184 million. net of cash divested o' 575 million. for net proceeds ot 5109 miltion. The sale resulted inaoss of $21 nulhon
(benefit of 83 millwon, atter tax ), recorded within the Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges in the consohidated statement
of income (~ce Note 3

Deconsolidation of Joint Venture in APAC

Foective Janoary 1. 2021, Tinde decomsolidated a joint venture with operations in APAC, due to the expiration of
certain contractua! rights that the parties mutually agreed not to renew . From the effectise date. the joint s enture is retlected
as an equity investment on Linde's consolidated balance sheet with the correspeonding results reliceted in income from equity
myvestments on the consolidated statement of income.

The fair value of the joint venture at January 1. 2021 swas determined wsing a discounted cash flow model and
approximated the carrving amount of its net assets. The net carrving value o S852 million was mainly comprised of asscts of
approximately S1.9 billion (primarily Other intangibles and Property plant and cquipment  net), net of Habilines of
approximatety §1.0 billion. Upon deconsolidation an equity investment sas reeorded representing Linde™s share ot the joint
venture’s net assets, The deconsolidation resulted in a gain of 5532 million recorded within 2021 charges (see Note 3y relared
to the release of the CTA balance recorded within AQCL The company did not receive any consideravon, cash or otherwise,
as part of the deconsolidation,

The joint venture contributed sales of approxmuuely SO00 million in 2620,
NOTE 3. Russia-Ukraine Confliet and Other Charges
2022 Charges

Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges were ST billon {8896 million, after tax and noncontrolling interests) for the
year ended December 31, 20220 largely attributable to the Russia-Ukraine contlict.

Russia-Ukraine Conflict

In response to the Russian invasion of Ukraine. multiple jurisdictions, including Lurope and the U.S. have imposed
several tranches of ceconomic sanctions on Russia. As a result, Linde reassessed its ability to control its Russian subsidiaries
and determined that as of Fune 30, 2022 it can no longer exercise control over these entities. As such. Linde deconsolidated
its Russian gas and engincering busmess entities as of June 30, 2022, The deconsolidation of the company™s Russian gas and
engineering business entities resulted ina loss of 8787 nullion (5730 million after tax) during the second quarter

The fair value of Linde™s Russtan subsidiaries was determined using a probabihity weighted discounted cash flow
model. which resulted in the recogmition of'a S307 million loss on deconsolidation when compared 1o the carrying value of
the entities, This loss is recorded within Russia-Ukrame conflict and other charges in the consolidated statements of income.

Upon deconsolidation an investment was recorded, which represents the tair value of net assers. The company did not
receive any consideration. cash or otherwise, as part of the deconzohdation. Linde will maimnrain its interest in its Russian
subsidiarics and will continue to comply with sanctions and goyvernment restrictions as it continues o dovelop divesuture
options. The irvestunent will be monitored for impainnent in future periods.

Reeeivables. primarily loans receivable. with new iy deconsolidated enuties were reassessed for collectability resulting
i a write-oft ot approximatels S380 mathion.

Othrer Ruessia reluied charges

Other charges related specifically to the Russia-Ukraine contlict were $103 million (373 million after tax) for the vear
ended December 31, 2022, and are primarily comprised of impairments of assets which are mamtained by international
cntities i support of the Russian business.

Merger-Related Costs and Other Charges

Merger-related costs and other charges were $139 million (893 million. after tax) for the year ended December 31,
2022, primarily related o severanee actions within the Engineering segment recorded during the fourth quarter. the
impairment of an equity method investment m the EMEA scgment, and the sale of the GIST business completed on
September 36, 2022 (se0 Note 2).
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The following table provides a summiary of the pre-tax charges by reportable scament for the year ended December 31,

2022
Y car Ended December 31, 2022
Russia Morzer- related

Jeconsehdanion Other Ressia Total Russia  covts and other
fattifecirs ol de b0 charges velated chuarpes charges chargas I otal
Americas S 5 S S 45 4
ENTLA 733 (7 726 25 751
APAC R 2%
bEngineering 54 110 164 41 203
Other - 41 41
Tuoial S 8T S 103 S 890 S £39 S 1.029

2021 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were 5273 million (5279 million after tax) for the vear ended December 312021

5

Total cost reduction program related charges were S338 million (S233 million after w<). for the year ended
December 31, 2021 These expenses consisted primarily of seyverance charges of 8239 million and other charges of
S79 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 Other charges related primarily to the execution of the company's
synergistic actions including location consohidations and business rationalization projccts, process harmonization, and
associated non-recurring costs.

Moerger-related and other charges were benefits of $63 million (benefit of $26 milhon, after tax) for the vear ended

December 31, 2021 Fhe 2021 pre-tax henefit was primarily due to o $52 million gam triggered by a joint venture
deconsolidation i the APAC segment.

Y car Ended December 31,2021

Tatal cost

Other cos reduction Muerger

reduction program relared and
tareihrens of doffars SEVCRINCT Cimts charaes related charges  other charzes Total
Americas S 4 8 28 6 S 6ty S
ENEA 204 33 237 | 238
APAC 16 2 2 {3()) (22
Fngineering 20 6 26 26
Other 5 26 41 (1t 3
Total S 2539 S 79 3 338 S {63) S 273

N —————

2020 Charges

Cost reduction progrums and other charges were $306 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, (S372 oullion

after tax}

Total cost reduction program related charges were S391 million (S277 million after tax) for the vear ended
December 31, 2020 These expenscs consisted primarily of severance costs of S2958 milhion and other charges ot SY2 milhon
for the vear ended December 3102020, Other charges related o the exceution of the companry s synergistic activns including
location consohidations and business rationalization projects. process harmonisation. and associated non-recurring costs.



Morger-related and other charges were STLS milhon (893 nullion, atter tasy for the year ended December 31, 2020,

Year Ended December 31,2020

lotal cost

Orher cost reduction Merger

reduction progrim related and
fanielfecsnns vof dedlars, SULCLEICE Costs chisrpes related charges  uther chaiges Total
Americas S 3305 245 5908 (RIS 72
ENLEA 131 21 152 3 155
APAC 7 2 9 3 12
Lngimeering 3% 2y 6b 4 0
Other 87 iy 105 Y2 197
Total S 209808 93 5 390 S s 5 306

Cash Requirements

The total cash requiremenis of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and other charges incurred for the vear ended December 31,
2022 are expected to be immaterinl, Remaining cash requirements are expected to be paid through 2023, Russia-Ukraine
conflict and other charges, net of payvments in the consolidated statements of cash tlows tor the twelve months ended
December 31,2022 and 2021 also retlect the impact of cash pavments of liabilities, including merger-refated rax Labilitics.
accerued as of December 31, 2021 and 20200 respectively.

The following table summarizes the activities related 1o the Russia-Ukraine contlict and the company 's cost reduction
programs and other charges during 2024 and 2022:

Taotal enst

Other cost reduction Morga
Toral Russia reddivtion program related and

torellicns eof dodior, charges SO 2TANCE Conls churpes related charges  other charges Total

Balance, December 31, 2020 S S RE I 2208 303 S 64 S 3609
2021 Cost Reduction Programs and Other - 239 79 338 (63) 273
Less: Cash payments - {138) (t» (133 (22 (75
[Less: Non-cash charges 0 (41} 3 13
Foreign currency translation and other - (20} (7) (27) (27
Bilance, December 312021 5 S RLE Y 38 s 4225 RB R 433
2022 Russia-Ukraine contlict and other sS40 41 24 63 74 1,029
Less: Cash paviments (122 24 {146) 19 (127
Less: Non-cash charges (R4 (N 17 (L (1.006)
Forcign curreney translation and other - (22) [E3] (26) (3 (29)
Balance, December 31, 2022 S by 281 278 308 S 25 320

Classification in the consolidated finuncial statements

The pre-tax charges for cach vear are shown within operating profit in a separate line stem on the consolidated
statentents ol income. In the consolidated balance shects. reductions in asscets are recorded against the carrving value of the
related assets and unpaid amounts are recorded axs other current or long-term liabilitics (see Note 7). On the conselidated
statements o cash Nows, the pre-tax impact of these charges, net of cash payments, is shown as an adjustment o reconcile
net income (w net cash provided by operating activities. In Note 18 Segment [nformation. Linde excluded these charges from
its management definition of segment operating profit; a reconciliation of segiment aperating profit e consolidated operating
profit is shown within the seegment operating profit table.
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NOTE 4. LEASES

In the normal course of its busimess, Linde enters into vanous leases as the fesscee, primarily involbying manwfacturing
and distribution equipment and oftice space. Linde determines whether a contract 1s or contains 1 lease at contract meeption.
Total lease and rental expenses refated to operating lease fight o use assets for the tweboe months ended December 31, 2022
and 2021 was S283 millien and S3 17 milhon, respectis efy. Operating feases costs are included in selling. general and
administrative expenses and cost of safes, exclusive of depreciation and amortization. The related assers and eblhigations are
included in other long term assets and other current liabilitics and other long term habilities, respectively. Total lease and
rental expenses related to finance fease right of use assets for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was
S37 million and $31 million. respectively. and the costs are included in depreciation and amortization and interest. Related
assets and ubligatons are included it other Tong term assets and other current liabilities and other long term Habilities,
respectiv ely. Linde includes renewal options that are reasonably certain to be exereised as part of the lease rerm. Operating
and financing lease expenses above include short term and variable lease costs which are immaterial.

As most leases do not provide an implict rate. Linde uses the applicable ineremental burrowing rate at lease
commencement to measure lease Habthitios und mght-oituse assets. Linde determimes incremental borrowing rates through
market <ources.

The company has elected to apply the short-term lease exeeption for all underlying asset ¢lasses. Short-term leases are
lcases that. at the comimencement date, have a lease term of twelv e months or less and do not include a purchase option that
the lessee iy reasonably eortain to exercise. Leases that meet the shor-term lease definition are not recognized on the balance
sheet, but rather expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease tern.

Some leasing arrangements require variable payments that are dependent on usage. output. or may vary for other
reasons, such as insurance, The company does not have material variable lease pay ments.

Gains and losses on sale and leascback transactions were immaterial. Operating cash tlows used for operating leases
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were S254 million and S290 mithion, respectively. Cash flows
used tor finance leases for the same pertod were immaterial.

Supplemental balance sheet information related 1w leases is as follows:

(Vithions af dollary s December 31,2022 December 31, 20210
()Eeruting Leases

Operating lease right-of-use assets S 7265 833
Other current liabilities 181 215
Other long-term liabiliues 540 6%
Total operating lease liabilities 721 533

Finance Leases

Finance lease right-of-use assets 146 163
Other current habilitics 42 7
Other tong-term liabilities 114 129
Total finance lease liabilities S 136 % [ 76

Supplemental operating lease intormation:

December 31,2022 December 31, 2021

Weighted average lease rerm (years) h Y9
Weighted average discount rate 3.26% 2417




Future operating and tinance lease payments as of December 3102022 are as follow s (midlions of dollars):

reriod

2073

2024

2025

2020

2027

Thereatier

Tutal future undisceunted lease payincnty
Less imputed mterest

Total reported lease liability
NOTE S INCOME TAXES
Pre-tax income apphicable to LS and non-L.S. operitions is as follows:

fMillivay of dodlurs)
Year Ended December 31.

United Stares
Non-L:.S.

Total income before incame taxes
Provision for Income Tuxes
The tollowing is an analysis of the provision for income taxes:

t Vittioans of doflarsy
Y ear Ended December 31

Current tax expense (benefit)
LS federal

State and local

Non-Los,

Deferred tax cxpense (benefit)
LS. federat

State and local

Non-LS.

Total income taxes

LS. Tax Cuty and Jobs Act (Tax Act) 2018

As of December 31,2022 and 2021, the tax payable related to the deemed repatriation tax i~ 5178 million and
ST78 million, respectively, ofwhich S139 million and $178 mithon is classitied as other long-term liabilities on the

Operating [ eases

Linancing 1 eases

5 fwe S 48

[ 37

106 24

7Y I

SN 12

238 A7

AN 202

(1160 (16}

S 2108 136
2022 2021 020

S 250208 2020 0% 1.233

3041 3.079 2,131

) 3543 S 5.009 § 3384
2022 2021 20240

5 486 S RE TN ER3

92 87 17

1.239 1.142 L.O13

1817 1.516 213

(12} 63 20

7 b 7

(37%) (325) (393)

{383) (254) (368)

S 1434 & 1262 S 847

consolidated balance sheet 1Scc Note 7). respectively. The company is required to fund the balance in annual installments

through 2025,



Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation

For purposes of the effectis ¢ tay rate reconctlianion, the company utilizes the LS. statutory income tax rate ot 21 o

Ananalysis of the difference between the prosision for meome taxes and the amount computed by applying the US.

statatory ineome s rate Lo pre-tax income follows:

(Dodiar amounrs i miflions)

Year Ended December 31, 21122 2021 2020
LS. statutory income tax S Lied 20.0°% 8 1.071 200 % 8§ 7 210 %
State and local taxes  net of tfederal benefit 84 1.5 % 83 1.6 %y 21 (6 "
LS tax credits and deductions (ay (16} (0.3) % (23) ((5) " (8) {2y 0y
Non-US tax differentials () 1746 300y 2149 430, 167 190,
Share-Based compensation {11} (0.7) "o {56) (1.1 0, (53) (1.6} "
Russia Lkraine Charges 103 1.9 %, R Yo
Other - net (¢) 41} (0.7)%a t32) 0.0y s Y (.3 2,
Provision for meome taxes S 1434 239 % 5 1162 247 %8 547 23.0 %
(i) ULS. tax eredits and deductions relate to non-U S, derived intangible income and the research and experimentation
tax credit in 20222021 and 20240,
(h) Primarily related to differences between the U8, tax rare and the statutory tax rare in the countries where the

company eperates. Excluding 20210 which included an S83 million deferred income tax charge related to a tax rawe
inerease in the LK. other permanent irems and tax rate changes were not significant.

() Other  net includes net tax benetts related to the settlement of tax audits of $71 million in 2022, and $47 million

n 2021,

60



Ner Deferved Fax Liabifities

Net deforred tax labilities included i the consalidated balanee sheets are comprised of the following:

M T of doifirs)

Decemnber 31, 2022 2021
Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets (a) S 2077500 3177
Croodwitl 173 166
Other mtanuible asscts 2.939 3.263
Subordiary equaty iy enumante 51 R
Other (b 47] 634
S 6903 S 7.826
Deferred tax assets
Carryforwards S 2898 358
Benefit plans and related (cirdy 163 607
Inventory 68 57
Accruals and other (¢) 1.001 1.042
S 1.523 % 2,064
Less: Valuation allowances (D (276} (1233
S 1247 S 1.829
Net deferred tax liabilities S
S 636 5,097
Recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as (Note 7):
Other long-term asselts 230 242
Dreterred eredits SRS6 £.234
S
S 2.636 5,997
(a) Lxcludes $39 million and $19 million of fixed assets in 2022 related to the deconsohidation of Russia and the sale of
GIST. respectively (see Notes 3 and 2).
th) Includes S206 million in 2022 and 5236 million in 2021 related o right-ol-use fease assets
() Inciudes deterred wx habilitics of $34 million and deferred tax asseis of S303 nullion in 2022 and 2021,
respectively, related o pension - OPEB funded status (see Notes 7 and 16).
td) The amounts are net of nen-US deferred tax fabilities of 313 nullion n 2022 and S71 mullion in 2021,
() Includes $212 million in 2022 and $246 milhon in 2021 related to lease habilites and $25 million and 8542 million
m 2022 and 2021, respectively, related o research and developiment costs.
(fy Summary of changes in saluatien allowances releting to deferred tax assets follows (millions ot dollars):
2021 2020
Balance. January 1. (235) (243) S 1222
Income tax (charge) benetit (4+4) : {20
Onher. including write-offs 2
Translation adjustments 3 (23
Balance, December 31. ({270) (235 (243

Ihe company evaluates deterred tax assets quarterly to ensure that esttmated future taxable meome will be sufficient in

character (oo, capital gain versus ordinary income treatment). amount and timing to result in their recovery. Atter

considering the positive and negative evidence. avaluation allowance s established w reduce the assets to ther realizable
vadue when management determines that it is more likely than not (e greater than 3070 likelihood) that a deterred tax asset
will not be realized. Considerable judgment 15 required m establishing deferred tax valuation allowances.



As of Drecember 3120220 the caompany had $289 milhon of deferred tax assets relating to net operating losses
CNOLSY and tax eredits and 8276 milhon of valuation allowances. These deferred tax assets include S215 million relating
to NOLs of which 590 mullion expire within 3 vears, S42 million expire after 3 years and S83 million have no expiration The
deferred tax assets also include 574 mitlion related o eredits of which S5 million expire within 3 years. S66 million expire
after 3 vears. and $3 nullion have no expiratien The valuation allowances of $2760 million primarily relate to NOLs and
toreign curreney loss related to the revaluatton ot deferred rax Habilines associated with future repatriations. Management
has determined. based on financial projections and available tax strategies, that it 1s unlikely that the benefit of these Tosses
will be realized T events or circumstances changze, valuation allowances are adjusted at that time resulting in an income tax
henefit or charge.

The company has $345 mithon of non-L.S. income taxes acerued related to its investments in subsidiaries and equity
investments s of December 31, 20220 A provision has not been made tor any additional non-U.S. income wx at
December 31, 2022 on approximately 5323 billion related to its investments in subsidiaries because the company intends to
remain indetinitely remvested. While the $33 billion could beconie subject o additional non-U S, income tax if there is a sale
of a subsidiary. or carnings are remitted as dividends. it is not practicable to estimate the uarccognized deferred tax liabtin
Uncertain Tax Positiony

Unrecogmzed income tax benelits reprosent income tax positions taken on income tax returns bui not yot recognized in
the consolidated financial statements. The company has unrecognized income tax benetits totaling S323 millon,
S337 million and S4352 milhon as of December 310 2022, 2021 and 2020). respectively. If recounized, essentially all ot the
unrecognized tax benefits and related interest and penaltics would be recorded as a benefit to income tax expense on the
consolidated statements of income.

A reconctliation ot the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benetity is as follows:

{Milliows of dollars) 2022 2021 2420
Unrecognized income tax benefits, January 1 S 387 S 45208 472
Addimions for tax positions of prior vears 26 11 33
Reductions for tax positions of prior yoars (1) {45) 1l (34
Additions tor current vear tax positions 19 |
Reduetions for settfements with taxing authorities (ayh) (23) (6()) (39}
Foreign curreney translation and other {20) (24) 7
Unrecognized income tax benefits, December 31 S 325 8 INT N 452

2022 amounts are primartly related w the settlement of tax audits.

Settlements are uncertain tax positions that were effectiy ely settled with the taxing authoritics, meluding positions
where the company has agreed to amend its tax returns to eliminate the uncertainty.

The company classifies mierest income and expense refated to income taxes as tax expense in the consolidated
statements ol incume. The company recognized net interest benefit of S3 mithion and S13 million and expense of $29 million
tor the years ended Decemiber 310 20220 2021 and 2020, respectisels. The company had 535 million and S40 million of
accrued interest and penalides as of December 3102022 and 2021 respectively. which were recorded in other long-term
liabilities it the consulidated balunce sheets (See Note 7).



As of Decenmber 3102022 the compuny remained subject o examination in the folloswing major s jurisdictons for
the tax svears as indicated below:

Major tay jurisdictions Open Years

Narth and South America

Lmted States 2017 through 2022
Canada 2014 through 2022
Mexieo 2014 through 2022
Brazil 2003 through 2022

Europe and Africa

France 2019 through 2022
Germans 2018 through 2022
Spain 2010 through 2022
Lnited Kingdom 2020 through 2022

Asin and Australia

Austrahia 201 through 2022
China 2017 through 2022
India 2006 through 2022
South Korea 2020 through 2022

The company is currently under audit in a number of jurisdictions. As a result, it is reasonably possible that some of
these matters will conclude or reach the stage where a change in unrecognized mcome tax benetits may eccur within the next
twelve months. At the time new wiformation becomes available, the company will record any adjustmoent to income tax
axpense s required. Final determinations, 1 any. are not expected to be material to the consolidated financial statements
The company 1y also subject to income taxes in many hundreds of state and local taxing jurisdictions that are open to tax
CXUMINAtions.
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NOTE 6. EARNINGS PER SHARE - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS

Basic and Diluted carnings per share - Linde ple sharcholders is computed by div iding Income from continumy
operations. Income {rom discontinued eperatons, net of tax. and Net imcome  Linde ple for the period by the weighted

ascrage number of cither basic or diluted shares outstanding. as follows:

2022 021 20420
Numerator (Millions of dollars)
Income from continuing operations S 4147 S 321 S 2497
Income from discontinued aperations. net of tax 3 4
Net [necome Lande ple S 47 S 3826 S 2501
Denominator (Theusands of shares)
Werghted average shares culstanding +99.254 Slos07 326404
Shares carned and issuable under compensation plans 442 389 332
Werghted average shares used in basic carnings per share 499736 316.896 526.736
Etfeet of dilutive securities
Stock options and awards 1.302 +.979 4421
Weighted average shares used in diluted carnings per share 504,03y S21.875 330,157
Busic carnings per share from continuing operations S %30 ] 7.39 S 4.74
Buasic carnings per share from discontinued operations 0.01 (.01
Basic Farnings Per Share S ¥.30 5 740 S 473
Diluted carnings per share [fom cortinuing operations S K23 S 732 S 470
Diluted carnings per share froni discontinued operations 0.01 0.01
Diluted Earnings Per Share S 823 S 7233 S 471
[ here were no antidilutive shares for the vears ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2620,
NOTE 7. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Income Statement
(Mitlions of dollary)
Y ear Ended December 31, 2022 mn 20
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling S 1.295 8§ 34208 1.303
General and administrative L.812 847 1,890
) 07 S 3,189 8§ 31493
Year Ended December 3. 2022 2021 2020
Depreciation and Amortization (a)
Deprecration S 3.633 5 vz s 3861
Amoertization of intangibles (Note 10) 571 723 765
Depreciation and Amortization S 420405 4.635 5 4626
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S car Ended December 31, 26022 2021 2020

Other Income (Expenses) - Net

Curreney related net gains (losses) S (18 S (29 5 (2N}
Partnersthup income 18 13 10
Severance expense (13 (3 ()
Asset divestiture gains (fosses) - net (91 (3 ERE
Other  net (403 26 10

5 62y S (200 5 (61
Y ear Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

[nterest Expense — Net

Interest incurred on debt and viher S 27708 2708 277

Interest income (117 {4 (33}

Amortization on acquired debt (35} (53) (¥3)

luterest capualized (62) (37) (38)

Bond redemption (h) 16
S 63 S 7708 113

Y oear konded December 31, 222 2021 024

Income Atiributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests” operaions (¢) S 134 S 1358 125

Batance Sheer

(Millions of dollrs)

December 31, 022 21

Accounts Receisable

Trade and Other recenables S 1964 S 1904

[ ess: allowance Tor expected eredit losses (405) 1405y

5 4,359 S 4.499

Receivahles

Linde applics loss rates that are lifetime expected eredit Tosses at initial recognition of the receivables. These expected
loss rittes are based o an analvsis of the actual historical detault rates tor cach business, taking regional circumstances mto
account. 16 necessury. these historical delault rates are adjusted to reflect the impact of current changes in the macroecunoniic
cnvironment using forward-looking information. The loss rates are also evaluated based on the expectations of the
responsible management team regarding the collectability ot the receivables. Gross trade recetvables aged less than one year
were $4.498 mullion and $4.423 mithon at Deeember 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively . and gross receivables
aged greater than one year were S321 million and S329 mullion at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.
Ciross other receivables were ST43 mithion and S1T30 milhon at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively,
Receivables aged greater than one year are generally fully reserved unless specific circumstances warrunt exeeptions, such as
those backed by tederal governments.



Provisions for expected eredin losses were S 163 mitlion. S129 muthon and S182 miltion for the tach o momhs ended
Decoember 31,2022 2021 and 2020, respectively The alloswance activity an the twelve months ended December 31,2022
related o write-otts ot uncollecuble amounts. net o recoveries and curreney Mosemenis 1s not matenal,

December 31, 2022 2021

Enventories

Raw materials and supplics 5 367 5 399

Waork 1n process 368 33

Finished goods 1043 [.000
S [.U78 S 1,733

Decembier 31, 22 2421

Prepaid and Other Current Assets

Prepaid and other detferred charges (d) b R FE 327
VAT recoserable 225 196
Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 12) 23 101
Oyrher 104 146
S 930 S 970
December 31, 2022 2021
Other F.ong-term Assets
Penston assets (Note 16 S o661 S 139
Insurance contracts () 39 16
Long-term receirvables. net o) 164 103
Lease assels (Nole 4 872 1.aOl6
Deposits 32 3
iy estments carried at cost én |84 [=
Deferred charges 66 62
Deferred meome taxes (Note 3) 230 242
Unrealized gains on dermvatives iNote 12) 4 35
Other 204 278
5 2476 S 1,954
December 31, 2022 2021
Other Current Liabilities
Acerued expenses S 1,533 § t.24%
Payroll 614 710
VAT pavable 259 295
fPension and postretirement (Note 16) R 3%
Interest payable 1y 102
Lease Hability (Note b 223 02
Insurange resen es 19 19
Unreahized Tosses on derivatives (Note 12 23 27
Cost reduction progratns (Note 3) 87 200
Other 10053 9%
S 4.082 8 389y
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Decomber 31 2022 2021

Other Long-term Liabilitics

Pension and postretirement {Note 16) S 640 S 1.802
Tax labilitics for uncertain wx positions {Nole 3) 24X RIVN
Tax Act Habilities foy decmied repatriation (Nowe 5) 139 7K
Lease liability (Note -4) 634 747
Interest and penaltios for uncertain tax positions (Note 5} 35 40
Insurance reserves 32 56
Asset retirement obligation 303 305
Loarealized losses on dertvatives (Note 12) 73 b
Costreduction programs (Note 3) 133 253
(rher 516 497
S 2795 S8 4,188
December 31, 2022 2021
Beterred Credits
Deterred income taxes (Note 5} S 3886 S 6.239
Mher 913 739
$ 6,799 S 6,99
December 31 022 221
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Cumulative translation adjustmiont - net of taxes:
Americas {g) S (3.942) S {3.985)
EMEA (2) (1.249) 94
APAU (g} (835) 154
kngineering (241) 24
Other 483 (280
{5.784) {3,993}
Derivatives - net of taxes n2 75
Pension OPEDB funded status obhgation (net ot $34 milhon tax obligation in 2022 and
S305 nuthionax benetitin 2021) (Note 16) (66 (L B30y
S (5.782) S (5.048)

(a)

{h}

(<)

td)

Depreciatton and amortizaton expense in 2022 include S1.006 million and $474 million, respectively. of Linde AG
purchase accounting impacts. kn 2021, depreciation and amortization expense include $1.245 militon and
S61& million, respectively . of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts.

In December 2020, the company repaid S300 million ot $.03%0 notes and S350 million of 3.00% notes that were due
mn 26021 resulting moa $16 million mterest charge,

In 2022, 2021 and 2020 noncontrolling interests from continuing operations includes S22 million, S13 million and
S37 million, respectively, ot Linde AG purchase aeceunting impacts, The deerease in 2021 iy primarily related to
the deconsolidation of a joint venture with operations in APAC (see Note 2y and the buyout of minority interests in
the Republic of South Afriea (see Note 14)

Includes estimated income tax pasments of 164 millon in 2022 and S122 million in 2021,

Consists primarly of insurance vontracts and other investments to be utilized for non-qualified pension and OPLB
obligations,
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(f e balances at December 31, 2022 and 202 [ are net of reserves ot $30 nullton and $33 milhon. respectively. The
amounts in both vears relate primarils to tong-term notes receivable from customers in APAC and government
recen ables in Brazil, The mmount in 2022 also includes receivables from the sale of GIST,

() Americits consists of curreney translation adiusuments primarily i Canada, Mexico, and Brasl EMEN relates
primarily to Genmany, the UK. and Sweden. APAC relates primarily 1o China, South Korea. India and Australia.

"

(h} [0 2022 includes imvestments from the deconsohiduanion ot Russian subsidiaries,
NOTE 8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET

Significant classes of property. plant and equipment are as follows:

¢ Milfiens of dollars) Depreciable
December 31, Lives {¥rs) 222 2021
Production plants (primarily 13-year lifte) (a) 10-20 S 30554 S 20120
Storage tanks 15-20 4.807 4441
Transportation cquipment and other 3-15 3434 2973
Cylinders 10-30 4.604 4474
Buildings 25-4H) 3.002 3265
Land and improvements (b) 0-20 1.047 L121
Construction in progress 3.239 3.062
30.687 484456
[ess: accumulated depreciation (27.139) (224353

S 23548 S 26,003

ta) - Depreciable lives of production plants related to long-term customer supply contracts are generally consistent with the
contract fives,

(b - Land is not depreciated
NOTE 9. GOODWIELL

Clianges in the carrying amount ol gooadwill for the years ended December 31,2022 and 2021 were as tollows:

fMillivns of dollar) Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Lotal
Bulunce, December 31 2021 S 9083 S 1084 S 3262 S 2682 s 3300 S 2N.201
Acquisitions 43 I 16
Foreign curreney translation and other 141 (539, (173) (156 (7) {960
Disposals (Note 2) 8 (235) (243
Balunce, December 31, 2021 9.7 10,278 4.854 2496 323 2703
Acquisttions 41 2% — — —- 72
foreign currency translation and other 3 1773 (304) (146 13 (.23
Disposals (Note 2 & Note 3) 40 (1} (20 162)
Bulance. December 31 2022 S

S 9036 S 94v2 5 4850 2349 S 290 S 25817

Linde performs its goadw it impainment tests annualty as of October 1 or more frequently if ¢vents or cirgumstances
indicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred. For the fourth quarter 2022 test. the company applicd the FASB s
accounting guidance which allow s the compans to first assess qualitative factors to determine the extent of additional
quantitattee analysis, it any, that may be required o test goodwill for imparrment. Based on the qualitatis ¢ assessments
pertormed. the company concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of cach reporting unit substantialls
exceeded its carrving value and therclore, further quanotative analysis was not required. A~ a results no impairment was
recorded. There were no indicators of impairment since the annual goodw il impatrment test was performed through
December 3102022



NOTE 100 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following s a summary of Linde™s other intangible assets at December 31, 2022 and 20212

(ther
CMillions of dollurs)y Customer Brands/ Intangible
tor the year ended Decenther 31, 2022 Relatinnships I radenames \ssels 1otal
Cost:
Balance. December 31, 2021 5 1.8539 8 2ORS S 1.629 S 16,173
Addiions ] s3 72
forergn curreney iranstanon (6ol 11240 (o0 (836)
Disposiths (Note 2 (4 45 (155
Other* (10 16 100
Balance. December 310 2022 062 2.565 1.697 15324
Less: accumulaied amortization:
Balance. December 31, 2021 (1.540 (1359} (67 1) (2.371)
Amortization expense {Note 7 (+1v) (42} (110 (371)
Forcign currency translation 80 3 13 9%
Disposals (Note 2) 34 16 RlY;
Other* s — (1135 (1
Balance, December 31,2022 (1.841) (196) (867 (2.904
Nt intangible asset balance aut December 31,2022 S 9221 s 2369 S LRI 12.420
Other
CMillions of dollars) Customer Intangible
For the yoar ended Decenrber 31, 2021 Relationships Brands/ I radenames Awsets I otal
Cast:
Balance. December 31, 2020 5 13776 S 295N 1.6v7 8 I8.368
Additions 12 6l 73
Foreign currency translation (490 (13 (69) (G72)
Disposals (1.083) 194 (40 $1.223)
Other* (354) (3) {14y (371
Ralance, December 3102021 [1.8539 NGE 1,629 16.173
Less: accumulated amortization;
Balance. December 31, 2020 (1.470) (118 (390} (2,184
Amortization expense (Note 7) (333 (43) (123) (723%)
Forcign currency transtation 64 3 22 89
Disposals (Note 2} 66 | 13 8}
Other* 382 13 367
Balance. December 31, 2021 (1.341) (139} (671} (2370
Net balance at December 31, 2021 5 10318 S 2526 08 938 S 3,807

*

merger related customer ists mthe Amencas.

Other primarily relates w the write-otT of fully amortized assets aind reelassifications. 2021 Ouher 1s prinurily due o

There are no cxpected residual values related 1o these intangible assets. Amortization expense for the years ended
December 31,2022, 2021 and 2020 was $571 million. $723 million and S763 million. respectively. The remainimg weighted-

average amortization period tor intangible assets is approximatels 24 years.
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Totl estimated annual amortization expense related wo finie-hved intangibles 15 as follows:

(A Fittions of doffurs)

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

Thereafter

Towal amortization related to tinite-hived intangible assets
Indefinite-lived intangible assets at December 31, 2022

Netintangible assets at December 31, 2022
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NOTE 11 DEBT

Phe following s a summary of Linde™s outstandiig debt ar December 31,2022 and 2021

interest within the consohidated statements of inceme.

December 31,

December 31,

fMiflions uf daflars) 2022 202

SHORT-TERYM

Commereial paper S 3Wle S 278

Other borrowings (primarily non U.S)) 191 s

Total short-term debt 4117 1.163

LONG-TERM (a)

(LS dollur denomiineated winloss ethermvive noiedi
0.230%, Luro denominated notes due 2022 (b (v) 1,137
2.20% Notes due 2022 (<) S04
2.70% Notes due 2023 S S0¢)
2.00% Lure denominated notes due 2023 (bh) 699 759
587585 GBP denominated notes due 20723 (hy 367 432
1.20% Eure denominated noetes due 2024 388 0625
1.875% FEwo denominated notes dae 2024 (h) 324 356
4. 8007 Notes due 2024 11) 299
4.700% Notes due 202514 S9¥
2.63% Notes due 2023 406 390
1.625% kuro denominated notes due 2023 333 563
0.6y Euro denominated notes due 2026 751 790
3.20%0 Notes due 2026 724 723
3.434%, Notes due 2026 1 9% 197
1.632%, turo denomimated notes due 2027 hid 0
0.230%, Furo denominated notes dye 2027 02 850
.00 Eurv denominated notes due 2027 o) 536 -
1.00% Furo denommated notes due 2028 i) 749 749
110" Notes due 2030 696 ov6
1.90% Furo denommated notes due 2030 11l 118
1.373% Lure denentnated notes due 2031 () 803 -
0.330% Furo denominated notes dye 2032 T9% X47
0.373% buro denoninated notes due 2033 529 363
1.60253% Euro denominated notes due 2033 () £49
3.55% Notes due 2042 663 664
2.00%0 Notes duc 2050 296 296
1.00% Luro denominated notes due 2051 731 THS
Non U.S. borrowings 152 243
Other 10 10

13,797 13,041

Loss: cwrrent portion of long-term debt (1.599) (1.70%)

Fotad fong-term debt 12198 L1.333

Total debt 17914 14.207

a) Amounts are net of unamortized discounts, premiums and or debt isstiinee costs as applivable.

(h Decemnber 31,2022 and 2021 included a cumulative 536 oulhion and $S42 million adjustinent 1o carrying value,

respectively, related o hedge accounting of interest rate swaps.
9! In January 2022, Linde repaid €1 0 bitlion of 0.230%, note that became due.
(d) [n March. 2022, Linde issucd €300 million of 1.000% notes due 2027, €730 million of 1.373% notes due 2031, and
€300 mullion of 1.623"%s notes due 20335,
(c In May 2022, Linde repaid S300 nutlion of 2.20% nowes that were due in August 2022, There was no impact to



N In November 2022 Linde issued S300 millton of 3 80070 notes due in 2024 and S600 muilhion of 4 700" notes due
m 2023

Credit Facilities

On December 7, 20220 the company and cerain of its subsidiaries entered inte an anended und restated unseeured
revolving credit agreement (the “Five Year Credit Agreement™) with a sy ndicate of banking institutions. The Five Year
Credit Agreement provides tor total commitments of $5.0 bilhion. which may be increased up to $6.3 bititon, subject to
recetpt of addinional commitments and satisfacton of custemary conditons. There are no financial mainicnance covenants
contained within the Credit Agrecment. The rovolying credit facility expires on December 7. 2027 with the option to request
o one-yedr extensions of the expiration date,

In addition. on December 7, 2022, the company and certain of ity subsidiarios entered into an unscoeured 364-day revolving
credit agreement (the "364-Day Credit Agreement™ and. together with the Five Year Credit Agreement, the ~Credat
Agreements™) with a syndicate of banking mstitutions. The 364-Duy Credit Agreement provides for total commitments ol
S5 billion. There are no financial mainenanes covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving credi
facitity cxpires on December 7, 2023 with the option wo clect to hase the entire principal balance outstanding under the Credit
Agreement comeerted into non-revolving term loans, which will be due and payable one year atier the commitment
termimation date.

No borrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreements as of December 3102022,

Otirer Debt Information

[he weighted-average interest rates of short-term borrowings outstanding were 3.2% and 0.0%s as of December 31,
2022 and 202 1. respectively.

Expected maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

(Hillians of dollar)

2023 S 1,599
2024 1.219
2025 1.54%
2026 1.6860
2027 1,442
I'hereafter 6303

S 13.797

Asof December 31, 20220 the amount of Linde’s assets pledeed as cellateral was immaterial.
See Note 13 For the fair value imformadon related to debr,
NOTE 12, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In its normal operations, Linde 1s exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations 0 mterest rates. forcign currency exchange
rates, energy and commaodity costs. The objective ot financial nsk management at Linde 15 to minimize the negatiy ¢ umpact
of such fluctuations on the company s carnings and cash flows. To manage these risks. among other strategies, Linde
routincly enters into various derivative financial insmruments derivatives™y meluding interest-rate swap and treasury rate
lock agreements. currency-swap agrecments. forw ard contracts, currency options, and commaodity -swap agreements. These
Instruments are not entered o for trading purposcs and Linde only uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments,

There are three types of dertvatiy os that the company enters into: (1 these relating to Fair-value exposures. (1) those reluting
to cash-tlow exposures. and (i) those relating w forcign curiencey net iy estment exposuies, Fair-value exposures relate to
recognized assets or habilities, and fiom commuiments: cash-flow exposures relaie to the vanability of Tutare cash Mows
associated with recognized dssets or Habilities. or forecusted transactions: and net iny estment exposures relate w the impact
of forergn currences exchange rate changes on the carrying value of net assets denominated in loreign currencies.

MWohen a derivative is executed and hedge accounting 1s appropriate, 1t s designated as either a faw-value hedge, cash-flow
hedge. or a net investment hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasurs -rate lochks as hadges for
aecounting purposes: howeser, cross-currency contracts are generally not designated as hedgzes for accounting purposes
Cerwin currency contracts related to Torecasted ransactions are designated as hedges for accounting purposes Whether
designated as hedges for accounting purpeses or not, all dertvatives are linked o an appropriate underlyimg exposure. On an
ongoing bisix, the company assesses the hedge etfectiveness ot all derivatives designated as hedges for accountng purposes
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o determue f they comtinue to be highly oftectiv e in oftsetung changes in fair values or cash flows of the underly ing hedged
items. 10 i determined that the hedge 1s not highis effective. through the use ol i qualizny ¢ assessment. then hedge
accounting will be discontinued prospectively.

Counterpartios o Linde™s derbvats es are major banking institutions with eredit ratings of investiment grade or better. The
company has Credit Support Annexes ("CSAs7) in place for certain entitics with their principal counterpartics to nunimize
potential default risk and o mingare counterparty risk. Under the CSAs, the fur values of dervatives for the purpose of
interest rate and curreney managemaent are collateralized with cash ona regular basis. As of December 310 20220 the impact
of such collateral posting arrangements on the fair value of derivatives was insignitficant. Management believes the risk of
peurring losses on derivanive contracts related o eredit rish is remote and any Tosses would be immatenial.

The tollowing table s a summary ot the notonal amount and fair value of derivatives outstanding at December 31,2022 and
2021 tor consolidated subsidiaries:

Fair Value

fMitlions of dollurs) Notional Amounts Assets (1) Liabilities (a)

December 31, 2422 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging

Instruments:
Crrreney contiaers!
Balance sheet ttems S 3.036 S 4427 08 I3 8 2205 78 17
Forecasted mransactions 449 537 9 6 Q 11l
Cross-currency swaps 42 148 21 1 4
Commodity contracty N A N A
Total 3547 S A2 S 2208 49 8 17 5 32
Derivatives Designated as lfedging
Instruments:
Cierreney conttracts:
Balance sheetitems S S - 5 S S 5
Forceasted transactions 323 738 6 {4 5 3
Conmodiny comtiracty NA NA 44 4
Interest rate swaps 836 1.251 24 70)
Total Hedges 5 1,179 S 2000 S 605 87 S 79 3
Total Derivatives S 1726 S 7121 S 28 0S 136 S 96 % 33
(a} Amounts at December 31, 2022 and 2021 included current assets of $24 million and 5101 mullion. which are

recorded in prepatd and other current assets; long-term assets of $4 million and 835 million, which are recorded in
other long-term assets; current Liabilities of S23 million and $27 mullion, which are recorded i other current
labilities; and long-term Habilities ot $73 million and S8 million. which are recorded tn other long-term rabilities.

Bualunce Sheet [tems

Forcign currency contracts related to balance sheet items consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the
cxposure to luctuations in foreign-currency exchange rates on recorded balance sheet assets and labilities denominated
currencics other than the Functional currency of the related operating unit. Certain forward currency contracts are entered into
to protect underiving monetary assets and Habilities denominated in foreign currencies trom foreign exchange risk and are
not designated as hedging instruments, For balance sheet irems that are not designated as hedging instruments, the fair value
adjustments on these contracts are oftset by the Luir value adjustments recorded on the underlying monetars assets and
liabilitics.

Forecasted Transactions

Forcign currency contracts related to forecasted transactions consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the
exposure to fluctuations in toreign-curreney exchange rates on (1) torecasted purchases of capital-related equipment and
seryives, (2) forecasted sales. or 13) other [orecasted cash lows denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the related operating units. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash flow hedges. tair value adjustments are
recorded o accumuliated other comprehensive income (loss) with deterred amounts reclassilied to camings over the same
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ume peried as the ncome statement impact of the associated purchase. For forecasted transactions that do not quality for
cash flow hedging relationships. tair value adjustments are recorded directly to carmings.

Cross-Currency Swaps

CToss-curreney interest rate swaps are entered into to limut the toreign currencey risk of future principal and interest
cash Mows associated with intercompany foans, and o a more limited extent bonds. denominated in non-functional
currencivs. The fair value adjustments on the cross-currency swaps are recorded to carnings. whoere they are offset by fair
value adjustments on the underlying intercompany loan or bond.

Conmaodity Comtracts

Commodity contracts are entered into to manage the exposure to fluctuations in commuodity prices, which arise in the
normal course of business from its procurement transactions, To reduce the extent of this risk. Linde enters inte a limited
number of electricity, natural gas, and propane gas derivatives. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash Tow
hedges., fair value adiustments are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) with deterred amounts
reclassified 1o earnings over the same time period as the income statement impact of the associated purchase.

Net fnvestment Hedges

As of December 31, 2022, Linde has €8.0 billion (8.5 billion) Euro-denominated notes and intercompany loans and
¥3.2 billion 5035 hillion) CNY -denominated intercompany loans that are designated as hedges of the net investment
positions in certain foreign operations. Since hedge inception, the deferred gain recorded within cumulative translation
adjustment compenent of accumulated other comprehensive mcome {loss) in the consodidated balance sheet and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income is 3473 mullion (deierred gain of $333 million for the year ended
December 31, 20224

As af December 31, 2022, exchange rate movements relating to previousty designated hedges that remain in
accumulated other comprehensive income (losstis a loss of $42 million. These movements will remain in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). until appropriate. such as upon sale or liquidation of the related toreign operations at which
time amounts will be reclassitied o the consolidated statements of income.

Interest Rate Swaps

Linde uses fnterest rate swaps to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial
liahilities as a result of interest rate changes. These interest rate swaps effectively convert fisxed-rate mterest exposures to
variable rates: fuir value adjusonents are recognized incarnings along with an equally offsetiing charge benefit to carnings
for the changes in the fair value of the underlying financial usset or financial Habiliny (See Nete 11,

Derivatives Impact on Consolidated Stutemems of Income

The tollowing table summarizes the impact of the company’s derivatiy es on the consolidated statements of income:

Amount of Pre-Tay Gain (Loss)

(Millions of dollars) Recognized in Earnings *

December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Currency contracts:

Balance shect tems:

[Debt-related S 12 s 42 ) (123
Other balance sheet items ¥ (5} (30
Total S RO 3% S (163)

* The gains tlassesy on balance sheet items are oftser by sains (losses) recorded on the underly ing hedged assets and
liabilities. Accordingly. the gains (fosses) for the dervanves and the underly ing hedged assets and labilities velated to debt
items are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as mterest expense-net. Other balance sheet items and
anticipated net income gains (losses) are recorded in the consolidated statements of income as other income (expenses)-net.

The amounts of gain or loss recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (lossy and reclassified 1o the
consohdated statement of income was not material tor the vears ended December 3102022, December 3102021, and

r—

Jecember 31, 20200 Netimpacts expected to be reclassified to camings during the next twelv e months are also not material,
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NOTE 13 FAIR VALUE DISCLOSL RES

The fair value hicrarchy prioritizes the inputs to valwion techniques used to measure fair value inte three broad levels

as tollows:

Lovel T queted prices inactive markets for idenucal assets or labilities
Level 20 guoted prices tor siondar assets and liabilities in active nurkets or inputs tat are obsernvable
Lesel 30 inputs that are unobservable (for example cash Tow modeling inputs based on assumiptions)

Assets and Liahilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The tollowing table summarizes assets and labiliries measured at tair value on a recurring basis ai December 31, 2022

and 2021

Fair Value Measurements Lsing

rMitlion of dollars) Fevel | Tevel 2 Level 3
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 021

Assets

Derivative assets S S -8 285 136 S S

Investments and wecuritios # 20 12 - 13 20

Total S 205 425 285 136 S (38 24}

Liabilities

Derivative habilitios 5 5 S BISIN 355 — 5
* [nvestments and securities are recorded in prepaid and other current assets and other long-term assets in the

compans s consolidated balance sheets.

Level Tinvestments and securities are marketable securfties raded on an exchange. Level 2 investments are based on
market prices obtained trom independent brokers or determined using guantitatis ¢ modcels that use as their basis readily
abscrvable market parameters that are actively quoted and can be validated through external sources, imcluding third-party
pricing services, brokers and market transactions. Level 3 investments and securities consist of a venture tund. For the
valuation. Linde uses the net asset value recened s part of the tund’s quarterly reporting, which for the most part is not
based on quoted prices in active markets. in order to reflect current market conditions, Linde proportionally adjusts these by
obsernvable market data (stock exchange prices) or current transaction prices.

Changes in level 3 investnents and securibies were mumnaterial

The fair value of cash and cash cquivalents, short-term debt. accounts receivable-net. and accounts pavable
ApProximaie carrving value because of the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of long-term debt s estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues. Long-
term debt is categorized within either Level 1T or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the trading votume of the
issues and whether or not they are actively quoted in the market as oppesed to traded through over-the-counter transactions.
At December 31, 2022, the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolie swas S11.9934 million versus a carrying
value ot SE3.797 million. At December 31, 2021 the estimated farr value ol Linde™s Jong-term debt portiolio was
S 219 mullion versus a carrying value of 513.044 million. Differences between the carmving value and the fair value are
attributable o fluctuations in interest rates subsequent to when the debt was issued and relative to stated coupon rates.

NOTE L EQUETY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde plc Shareholders” Equity

At December 31,2022 and 2621 1inde has total authorized share capital of €1.823.000 divaded o 1.730.000.000
ordinusry shares of €L0GL cach, 23,006 A ordinary shares of €1.00 cach. 250060 deterred shares of €160 cach and 23500060«
preferred shares of €0.001 cach.

At Deeember 31,2
respectively, At December
autstanding.

(022 there were 332,012,862 and 492.457.627 of Linde ple ordinary shares issued and outstanding.
31, 2022 there were no shares of A ordinary shures, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or



At December 31,202
respectively. At December

U there were 332012862 and 3D8.080.879 of Linde ple ordinary shares ssied and outstanding.
31,2021 there were no shaces of A ordinary shares. deferred shares or preferred shares bsued or
outstandimg.

Linde™s Bouard of Directors may from tume o tme authorize the issuanee of one or more seres ol preferred stock and,
in connection with the creation of such series, determine the charactenstics of each such sertes includimg, without imitation.
the preference and relative. participating. optional or other special rights. and the qualitications. lunitations or resrictions of
the series.

Orher Linde ple Ordinary Share and Treasury Share Transactions

Linde may issue new ordinary shares for dividend reim estment and stock purchase plans and emplosyee savings and
neentive plans. No new ordmary shares were ssued in 2022, 2021 and 2020.

On January 22, 2019 the company™s bourd of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its
ordmary shares under which Linde had repurchased 24.847 3354 shares through December 31, 2021 Linde completed the
repurchuases under this program m the Arst quarter o 2021,

On January 25, 2021 the company s board of directors approsed the additional repurchase of S3.0 billion of 1t
ordinary share~ (2021 program™) under which Linde had repurchased 16,662,678 shares through December 31, 2022 This
program is set to expirve on July 31, 2023, Linde completed the repurchases under this program in the first quarter ot 2022,

On February 2820220 the company s board of dircctors authonzed a new share repurchase program for up to
S10.0 billion of its ordinary shares {72022 program™) under which Linde had repurchased 15,474,759 shares throuah
December 31, 2022 This program expires on July 31, 2024

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interest ownership changes are presented within the consolidared staremenrs of equity. 2022 includes
ihe impact of deconsolidating the company "s Russian gas and engincering business entitics (see to Note 3).

Ihe decrease during 2021 1s primarily related to the deconsolidation of a joint venture with operations in APAC (see to
Note 21

The decrease during 2020 primarily relates to the initiated buvout of minority interests in the Republic of South Africa.
As of December 31, 2020, the conditions of the bayout were met obligating the company to execute in January 2021,
Iherefore. the company reclassified S196 million from non-controlling interest to other current habilitics reflecting the
trunsaction price. An additional 835 million ot dividends declared to the miority owners, reflected on the Dividends and
other capital reductions hine. was also reclassified to other current habihties at December 31, 2020 and was pand in 2021

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests with redemption features. such as put sell options. that are not solely within the company ’s
control Credeemable noncontrolling interests™y are reported separately in the consohidated balance sheets at the greater of
carrying value or redemiption value. For redeemable noncontrolling interests thar are not yeot exercisable, Linde caleulates the
redemiption value by acereting the carrying value to the redemption value over the period untl exercisable. [ the redemption
value is greater than the carry g value. any increase is adjusted directly 10 retained carnings and does not impact net income.
At December 31,2022 and 2021, the redeemable noncontrolling interest balance includes an industnal gas busiess in
EMEA where the noncontrolling sharcholders have put options,

NOTE 15 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-based compensation expense was S TOT malhon m 2022 (5128 mathion and S133 mullion in 2021 and 2020,
respectively b The related income tax benefin recognized was $64 milhion m 2022 (564 mitlion and 879 million m 2021 and
20200 respectinels 1 The expense was primarily recorded m selling, general and adminstranve expenses and no share-bhased
COMPENSAtion CXpense was caplialized,

Sumumary of Plans

Ihe 2021 Linde ple Long Lerm Incentive Plan fthe ~2021 Plan™) was adopted by the Board ot Directors and
sharcholders of Linde ple on Julv 26, 2021, Upon adoption of the 2021 Plan. any authorized shares that remained available
[or grant for new awards under the Amended and Restated 2009 Linde Long Term [neentive Plan ithe <2009 Plan™y were
cancelled. The 2021 Plan permits awards of stock options. stock appreciation rights. restricted stock and restricted stovk
units. performance-based stock units and other cquity awards to cligible officer and non-officer emplosy ces and
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non-employee directors of the company and its aftifiates. A~ of December 31, 20220 8 271252 shires remained available for
cquity granis under the 2021 Plan. of which 2,726,282 shares nas be granied as wwards other than options or stock
appreviation rights

Exercise prices for options granted under the 2021 Plan may not be Tess than the clesing market price of the company s
ordinary shares on the date of grantand granted options may not be re-priced or eachanged without shareholder approval.
Opnions granted under the 2021 Plan subject only to time vesting requirements may become partially exercisable atter a
minmunt of ene vear atter the date of grant but may not become fully exercsable until at least three years have clapsed trom
the date of grant, and all opuons have a maximum duration o ten vears.

In order to satish option exercises and other equity grants, the company may issuc authorized bat previously unissued
slEres U1 TE DY U reastry shares,

Srtock Option Fair Value

The company utilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model to determine the fair value of stock options consistent
with that used 1 prior years. Management is reguired w make certam assumptions with respect w selected model inputs.
includimg anticipated changes in the underly ing stock price {i.e.. expected volatility) and option exercise activity (e,
cxpected life). Expected volaritity is based on the historical volatility of the company s stock over the most recent period
commensurate with the estimated expected hife of the company s stock options and other factors. The expected life of options
granted. which represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outstanding. s based primarily on historical
exercise eapericnee. The expected dividend vield is based on the company "> most recent history and expectation of dividend
pavouts. The risk-free rate is based on the U S, Treasury vield curs e in eftect at the time ot grant for a perod commensurate
with the estimated cxpected life. T factors change and result in different assumptions in fluture periods. the stock option
expense that the company records for future grants may differ significantly from what the company has recorded in the
current period.

The weighted-as erage fuir value of options granted during 2022 was S35.07 (837.80 in 2021 and $17.37 in 2020) based
on the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing model. The increase in the grant date twir salue year-over-sear is primarily attributable
to the increase in the stock price.

The following weighted-an crage assumptions were used o value the grants in 2022, 20210 and 2024:

Year Ended December 31, 2022 piiha | 2020

Dividend vield [.7"% 1.7% 22%
Volauliry 20.0°% 12.4% 15.8%
Rish-free interast rate 1.70% L0 0.60%
Expected term vears 5 f 6

The tollowing ble summarizes option activity under the plans as of December 31,2022 and changes during the period
then ended faverages are caleelaed o0 a weighted basis: l1he in yearst intrinsic value expressed in milhonsy:

Number of Average Average Agdregate
Options Exaervise Remaining Intrinsic
Activity (0007) Price Life Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2022 7.066 S [32.56
Granted 476 270.99
Exercised (880} 125.03
Cancelled or expired (42 23921

-

Outstading at December 31, 2022 20008 164.03 5005 1w

Excreisable at December 31, 2022 3383008 145,71 5008 G971

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the ditference between the company s closing stock price of $326.18 as of
December 31,2022 and the exerctse price multiplicd by the number of in the money options outstanding as of that date. The
total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during 2022 was S176 million (5294 million and $264 million in 2021 and
2020, respectively).

Cash received lrom option excrelses under all share-based pavment arrangements for 2022 was S36 mithon

(530 millwn and S36 milhon in 2021 and 2020, respectively). The cash x benetit reabized from share-based compensation
wetaled 361 million tor 2022 (564 million and $70 million ¢ash tax benetivin 2021 and 2020, respectively ).

=
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As of December 3120220815 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options is
cxpected to he recognized over a weighted-av erage pertod of approximarely I ycar

Performance-Based and Restricted Stock Unir Awards

In 2022, the company granted 368,600 performance-based stock unit awards under the 2021 Plan to sentor
management that vest, subject to the attainment of pre-established minimuam performance criteria. principaily on the third
anniversary ot their date of grant. These awards are tied 1o either after tax return on capital ("ROCT) performance or relative
total shareholder retum (CTSR™) performance versus that of the S&P 500 (weighted 6770 and Eurofirst 300 (weighted 33%),
The actual number of shares issued in settlement of a vested award can range trom sero o 2006 perceni of the target number
of shares granted based upon the company s atiinment of speciiied performance targets at the end ofa three-vear peried
Compensation expense related to these waards is recoenized over the three-vear performance period based on the fair value
of the closing market price of the company”s ordinary shares on the date ol the grant and the estimated perlommance that will
be achieved. Compensation expense for ROC awards will be adjusted during the three-year pertormance period based upon
the estimated performance levels that will be achieved. TSR awards are measured at their grant date fair value and not
stbscquently re-measured. The number of perfurmance-based stock unit awards granted i 2022 mcludes an inerease of
226,690 stoch units to the target number of performance-based awards originally granted in 2019, as these avoards achieved a
higher pavout factor upon completion of the three-yvear performance pertod.

The weighted-average fair value of ROC awards granted in 2022 was $2537.63 (82411010 2021 and S161.36 10 2020y,
These fair values are based on the ¢losing market price of Linde™s ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends
that will not be paid during the vesting peried.

The weighted-average fair value of TSR awards grunted n 2022 was S30142 (S301.04 in 2021 and S198.61 in 2020}
and was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation performed as of the grant date.

Fhere were 139.512 restricted stock units granted to employees by Linde during 2022, The weighted-ay erage fair value
of restricted stock units granted during 2022 was S260.27 (S242.60 in 2021 and S174.95 10 2020). These fair values are based
on the closing market price of Linde™s ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends that will not be paird during
the vesting perted. Compensation expense related to the restricted stock snits s recognized over the vesting period.

The following tablie summarizes non-vested performance-based and rostricted stock unit award activity as of
December 31, 2022 and changes during the period then ended (shares based on wrget amounts, averages are caleulated ona
wetghted basis)y:

Pertormance-Based Restricted Stock
Number of wverage Number of Average

Shares Cirant Date Shares Cirant Date

[UIGLEY] lair v alue (1) s) Iair Value
Noa-vested at January 1L 2022 610 S 20439 636 S 172.90
Giranted 369 273351 140 260.27
Vested (383) 184 32 {113 168.33
Cancelled and Forfeited (13) 25001 (17 23251
Non-vested ar Decemnber 31, 2022 3835 226.04 616 S 190.33

There are approximately 12 thousand performance-based stock units and 18 theusand restricted stock units that are
non-yested ar December 31, 2022 which will be settled i1 cash due to foreign regulatory mitations. The liabihity related to
these grants retlects the current estimate of performance that will be achieved and the current shuare price.

As of December 31, 2022, S42 million of unrecognized compensation cost related o performance-based avwards and
$32 mullion of unrecognized compensation cost related to the restricied stock unit awards is expected to be recognized
primarily through the tivst quarter ot 2025,

NOTE 16. RETIREMENT PROGRANMS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans — LU.S.,

The Linde retirement plans are non-contributory defined benetit plans covering eligible employees and its participating
atfiliates. Bffective July 1. 2002, the Linde U.S. Pension Plan was amended to giv ¢ participating employvecs a one-time
irren ocable choice between a traditional benefit (the “Traditional De~gn™) and an account-based benetit (the " Account-
Based Design™ Fhe dradivonal Design pavs a monthly benefit based on vears of service and as erage pay during the last
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vears of the participant’s career with Linde. The Account-Based Design erves partieipants annual pay credits equal w 4% of
chatble compensation. plus interest eredits based on ong-term treasury rates on the accumulated account halance. This new
formitla apphios to all new emiployees hired atter April 30, 2002 into businesses adopring this plan. The U 8. pension plan
ass¢ts are comprised ot a diversitied mix of investments, including corporate cquitics. government securitics and corporate
debt seeurttios. Linde has several plans that provide supplementary retirement benetits primarily to higher level emiployees
that are untunded and are nongualitied for tederal tax purposes. Pension coverage for emplovees of certain of Linde's
non-L.S. subsidiaries generally s provided by those companics through separate plans. Obligations under such plans are
primarily provided tor through diversified inyestment portfolios. with some smaller plans provided for under insurance
policies or by book rescryes.

Defined Benejit Pemsion Flans — Non-UU8.

Linde has Non-125., detined benefit commitments primarily i Germany and the UK that include pension plan assets
comprised ol a diversified mix ol invesiments. The detined benefir commitments in Germany relate to old age pensions,
insyalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. These commitments also the into account vested rights for periods
of service prior to January 1. 2002 based on carlier final-salary pension plan rules. In addinen, there are direct commitments
in respect of the salary conversion scheme for the form ot cash balance plans. The resulting pension payments are caleulated
on the basis of an interest guarantee and the performance of the corresponding iny estment. There are no minimum fundmg
requirements. The pension obligations in Gennany are paitly funded by a Contractual Trust Agreement (CTA). Defined
benefit commitments in the LK. prior to July 1. 2003 arc carnings-related and dependent on the period of serviee. Such
commitments relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. Beginning in April 12011,
the amount of tuture increases in intlation-linked pensions and of increases in pensionable emoluments was restricted.

Multi-employer Peasion Plans

In the United States Linde participates in cight multi-employer detined benefit pension plans (*MEPS7) pursuant to the
terms of collective bargaming agreements. that cover approximately 200 union-represented employees. The collective
hargaining agrecments expire on different dates through 2026, in connection with such agreements. the company s required
Lo make periadic contributions to the MEPs in accordance with the terms of the respective collective bargaining agreements.
Linde’s participation i these plans is not material either at the plan les el vrin the aggregate, For all MEPs, Linde's
contributions were significuntly less than 120 of the total contributions to each plan for 2021 and 2029, Total 2022
contributions were nor vet available from the MEPs,

Linde has obtined the most recently av ailable Pension Protection Act ("PPA™) annual funding notices from the Trustees
of the MEPs, As of December 31, 2022, there were three Red Zone plans, decimed o be in emtical”™ or “eritica] and declining™
status that have implemented financial improvement or rehabilitation plans. Linde does not currently anticipate significant tuture
obligations due to the tunding status of these plans and such obligation would be imnwaterial. 1 Linde determined it was
probable that it would withdraw Trom an MEP. the company would record a lability for its portion of the MEP™s unfunded
pension obligations, as calewdated at that time. Historieally . such withdrawal payments have not been significant.

Defined Contribution Plans

Lindc™s LS. cmplovees wre eligible o participate 1n detined contribution savings plans offered by their applicable
business. Emplos ce contribution percentages vary by plan and are subject to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. The
cost for these detined contribution plans was $56 million in 20220 551 million 11 2021 and $46 million in 2024 (these costs
are not included in the tables that follow ).

The defined contribution plans include a non-ley craged employvee stock ownership plan ("ESOP”) which covers all
employvees participating in this plan. The collective number of shares of Linde ordinary shares i the ESOP towled 1,733,281
at Pecember 31,2022,

Certain non-L. 8. subsidiaries of the company also sponsor defined contribution plans where contributions are

determined under various formulas. The expense tor these plans was S80 million in 2022, 10§ million in 2021 and
S106 million in 2020 (these expenses are not included in the tables that tollow),

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPLB)

Linde prosides health care and hie insurance benefits to certain eligible retired emplovees. These henelits are provided
through various insurance companics and healtheare providers. The company does not currently tund its postrenrement
benetits obligations. Linde's retiree plans may be changed or terminated by Linde at any time for any reason with nu lability
to current or future retirees,

Linde uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.,
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Pension and Postretirement Benefitr Costs

I'he components of net pension and postretirement benetits other than pension ("OPLB7) costs for 2022, 2621 and
2024 are shown in the table below:

Year Ended December 31,

(Aiftions of dollars) 2022 2021 2020
Ameunt recognized in Operating Profit
Service Cost S 2705 157 S =2
Amgount recognized in Net pension and OPERB cost (benefit), excluding service
cost
Interest cost 201 154 213
Expected return on plan assets {518 (321 (482}
Net amortizaton and deterral 74 171 X6
satthement charges (i) 6 + ¢]
5 (237 S {192y s L
Net periodic benetit cost {benefit) S (L s (35 5 (23)
ta) Setrfement charges were triggered by lump sum benetit pay ments made trom a 1.8, non-qualitied plan.
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Fruuded Statiy

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan asacts for Linde s pension and OPER programs, including reconcilwnon of

the funded status of the plans (o amounts recorded 10 the consolidated balanee sheet. as ot December 31, 2022 and 2021 are

shown below,

r Witlions of doliury)
Change in Benefit Obligation ("PBQO™)

Benefit obhizanon, fanuary |

service Cost

interest cost

P ostitures

Partcipant contributions

Plan amendment

Actuarial Toss (gain)

Benetits pard

Plan settlement

Foreign currency translation and other changes
Benefit obligation. December 31
Accumulated benefir obligation ("ABO™)

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value ot plan assets, January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Participant contributions
Benetits paid from plan assets
Mivestitures
Forcign currency translation and other changes
Fair value of plan asscts, December 31

Funded Status, End of Year

Recorded in the Balance Sheet (Mote 7)
Other long-term assels
Other current labilities
Other long-term liabilities
Net amount recognized. December 31
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income
{loss) consist of:
Netactuarial loss {gain)
Prior service cost {eredit)
Delferred tax obhgation (benetity (Note 7)
Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income
{los<) (Note 7)

Y ear FEaded December 31,

2022 2021

LA, Non-1.S, LS. Non-1 5.
2719 9398 5 KIS N o0l
34 93 39 by
o) 141 48 HO6
(13)
11 In 11 19
(528) (28972 (101 (210
(1538 1296) (166) (335
) (8} {7 (13
(787 (286)
2,129 5586 S 2719 S 9,398
1,982 S508 S 2503 S Q278
244 TU6R S 2310 5 7,653
421 (1,302) 281 738
Sl 42
— 1 19
(136) (24¥8) (143 (272
(14
(H92) (188
1.891 570408 24488 7968
(238) 208 s (270 s (1AM
13 (A8 S 15 8 124
{38) (13 25 13
(213 (427) (261) (1,340
1238) 208 S 271y s (143
357 (343 S 3408 1078
(12 4 (13) 6
(8Y) |39 {88) (210
260 (2000 S 263 8 867




Comparativ e funded status information as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 for select non-U .S pension plans is

presented 1n the tble below as the benetit oblivations of these plans are considerad w be significant relative o the total

benelit oblivaion:

t nited Kingdom

Germam

Other Non-1 5.

fotal Non-L.S.

{Miltions of doliurs 2022 20)22 2022 2022

Benefit obligation, December 31 S 30008 1485 S 1001 S S3N6
Fairvalue of plan assets. December 31 3625 [.2K3 Hnd 5.794
Funded Status, Fnd of Year ) 32508 (200) S (H7 s 208

L nited Kingdom

Ciermany

Other Nan-U'5.

Total Non-1 .S,

(Mitlions of dollary} 21 2021 21 2021

Benetit obligation. Decemmber 31 S RTS8 2240008 1.279 % 9 398
Fairvalue of plan assets, December 31 5,577 1,354 LO32 7.968
Funded Status. Ead of Year S (302) S (881 S (247) S (1430

The changes in plan asscts and benetit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income in 2022 and 2021 are as

follows:

Pensions

(Millions of dollars) 2022 2021

Current year net actuarial losses (gains)y™ S (1,259 S (7871
Amuortization of net actuarial gams (losses) (75) (170
Amortization of prior service credits (Costs) | (1)
Pensian settlements (61 (4
Foreign curreney translation and other changes (9 130
Total recognized in other comprehensive income S (1.429) S (1.000)

&

Pension net actuarial gains in 2022 are largely driven by the continued inerease in the discount rate envirenment

resulting i actuarial gains trom a lover PBOC which s partially offset by untivorable plan assct expericnce tor both
non-ULSand LS. plans, [n 20210 the actuarial gains were atributable to an tnierease in actual retum on assets and
fuvorability generated trom a lower PBO duce the initial inercase in discount rates

The following table provides information tor pension plans where the accumulated benefit obliganon exceeds the fair

value of plan assets:

Pensions
22 2021
¢ Villivns of dollars) i .
Yoar Ended Decomber 31, L5 Non-1.5. U5 ~on-L.5.
Accumulated benefit obligation (" ABO™) S X958 1848 8 2387 S 8404
Fair value of plan assets S 1791 S 1472 S 23708 6,947
Ihe tollowing table provides intormation for penston plans where the projected benefit obhgation exeeeds the fair
value of plan assets:
Pensions
22 2021
rMillions of dollars; 3 B
Yeur Ended December 31, LS Son-LoS L Nont oS
Projected benefit oblization {"PBO™) S 1948 S Lwol s 24678 8.4
Fair value of plan assets S 1.791 S [47% S 2317 S 06.964



Assumptions

Lhe assumptions used to determine benetic obligations are as of the reapective balance sheet dates and the assumptions
used to detenmuine net benefit cost are as ot the previous year-end. as shown below:

Pensions
L.5. Non-1.5S.
2022 2021 2022 2021
Weielied averadge assumptions sed to determine henetis oblications at
December 3,
[Drscount rate 3.35% 278y 4.58%, 18274
Interest crediting rate $.02%, 206", 2.13% 1.003%,
Rate of increase in compensition levels 3050, 3.25% 2.59%, 2.55%
W eighted wverage assumptions used (o determine net periodic henefit cosi
for vears ended December 31,
Discount rate 278y 2.40% 1.82%, 1.36%
[nrerest erediving rate 206, 1.37% 1.03%, [.O1%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.535%, 2.35%
Expected long-tenm rate of return on plan assets (1) 7.00%, 700", 3.60% 328

i The expected long term rate of return on the ULS. and non-1.S. plan assets is estimated based on the plans’
investment strategy and asset allocation. historical capital market performance and. to a lesser extent. historical plan
performance. For the TS, plans, the expected rate of return of 7.00% was derived based on the target assct
allocation of 30%-70% equity securitics (approximately 7.70% expected return), 20%-30%q tixed income securities
(approximately 5.4076 expected return) and 2%6-8% alternative investiments (approxinately 6.30% expected return),
For the non-US. plans. the expected rate of return was derised based on the weighted average target asset allocation
of 13%4-25%, equity securitics (approximately 6.40% expected return), 30%6-30'% fixed income securities
tapproximately 3.30% expected rewrn), and 30%6-30%% alternative investments (approximately 3.00%, expected
return). For the 1S, plan assets. the actual annuahized total return for the most recent L0-vear period ended
December 31, 2022 was approximately 7.00%, For the non-US plan assets, the actual annualized total return for
the same period wis approximitely 5.10%. Changes to plan asser allocations and myestment strategy over this time
period limit the value of historical plan performance as a factor in estimating the expected long term rate of return
For 2023, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 7.00%) for the ULS. plans For 2023, the
expected weighted average long-term rate of return tor non-US. plans will be 5.60%5.

Pension Plan Assens

The investments of the ULS. pension plan are managed to meet the future expected benefit labilities of the plan over
the Tong werm by invesung in diversiticd portfolios consistent with prudent disversification and historical and expected capital
market returns. Iy estment strategics are reviewed by management and iny estmient performance 15 tracked against
appropriate benchmarks. There are no concentrations of risk as it relates 1o the assets within the plans. The non-ULS. pension
plans are managed individually based on diversified inyvestment portfolios, with ditferent target asset allocations that vary for
cach plan. Weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2022 and 2021 for Einde’s L8, and non-L.S. pension plans.
as well as respective asset allocation ranges by major asset category. are generally as foliows:

L5 Nap-L.S,
Asset Category Farget 2022 Larget 2024 2022 2021 Target 2022 larget 2021 2022 2021
Bquity securities 500700 404,-60%, 60 06", 15%%-23% 13002589 200 270,
axed me LSO Fities 20%s-3 Ynooa 0=, 2498 28MG 0 30630 3)7-30%8 IRV 334,
Fixed imcome seeurin 20%0-30%, 3P e-30%, 290 2% 3005-30% 30%%-30° A" 354
Oher 2%0-R0 Sg-15% Fi% 9L 3020-500  309%0-30%y S0 3Ry



Fhe following table summarizes pension assets measured at faiv value by asset category at December 31, 2022 and 2021,
Fransters of asset~ were not material for the yvear ended December 312022 and 2021 See Note 13 for the detinition ol
levels within the fair value hicrarchy:

Fair ¥ alue Measurements | sing

Level ) Level 2 Level 3 = Fotal
f Wiltians of dotlarsy 22 2021 2022 021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Cash and cash cquivalents S 3138 259§ S 5 S S 313 8 239
Equity securitics:
Global eauities TR L6333 R 1633
Mupal funds 248 314 24¥ 34
Fixed income securitios:
Government bonds [.317 1.621 - 317 1.624
Fanerging market debt 245 30 245 309
Mutual funds 1 121 35 12 156 133
Corporate bonds 372 647 372 647
Rank loans - [ 233 18 253
Allernative myesuments:
Real estate funds - 353 360) 3353 360
Privale debt - 360 1308 1,360 1.368
Insurance contracts - 46 t2 46 P2
Liquid alternative : 9R2 1193 uy2 1,193
Other Investments | | 39 38 - 40 39
Total plan asscts at tair value.
December 31 STAHL 82328 S3.028 S4.296 S1.739 SL740 S 6,228 S8.304
Pooled tunds * {437 2052
Total fair value plan assets
December 31. S 7.68% 04106

* Pooled funds are measured using the net asset value ("NAVT) as a pracucal expedient for fair valuc as permissible under
the accounting standard for fam value measurements and haye not been categorized in the tair yvalue hicrarchy,

¥* The following table summartzes changes in fair value of the penston plan asscts classified as tevel 3 tor the periods ended
December 31,2022 and 2021

Insurance Real Estate
( Mitlions of doflury Contracts Funds Private Debt Total
Balance. Ddecember 31, 2020 S S 33508 L2005 1466
Gain {Loss) for the period | 27 o8 36
Purchases 13 Rh 302
Sales 4 142 (46
[ranster into tout of) Level 3 | (1)
Foreign curreney translation (1) (1)) 127y (3%)
Balunce, December 31, 202 12 360 1.36% {740
Crain (1oss) for the perod 3 33 9y
PPurchases 2 13 63 33
Sales (22) {34 {36}
Transter into (out oty Level 3 33 33
Foreign currency translation (1) (8 (130} 1 139)
Batunce, December 31, 2022 S 46 S 353 08 1360 S 1.739
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The deseriptiions and fair sy alue methodologies for the company™s pension plin assets are as follows:

Cash and Cash Fquivalears This category includes cash and short-term mierest bearing iny estments with maturitios
of three months or less. Investments are valued at cost phis acerued interest, Cash and cash equivalents are clissitfied within
fevel 1o the valuation hicrarcly

Fouwine Secoriviov . This category is comprised of shares of common stock in ULS. and non-L' .S, companies from a
diverse set of industries and size, Common stock s valued at the elosing market price reported ona LS. or non-U.8,
exchange where the seeurity Is actively taded. Equity securities are classitied within level T ot the valuation hicrarchs .

Mutuad Funds These carcgories consist of publicly and priv ately managed funds that invest primarily in marketable
cquity and tixed meome securities, The fair value of these imvestments is determined by reterence to the net asset salue of the
underlving securitics of the fund. Shares of publicly traded mutual funds are valued at the net asset value quoted on the
cxchange where the fund 1s traded and are primarily classified as level | within the valuation hierarchy.

Emerging Marker Debt - This category includes fixed income debt issued by countries with developing ceonomies as
well as by corporations within those nations. They tvpically have higher vields but lower credit rutings relativ e o deycloped
country corporate and govemment bonds. The fair values tfor these investments are classified as level 2 within the valuastion
hierarchy.

U8 and Non-00.8. Governgenr Bonds - This catcgory includes ULS. treasuries, ULS. federal ageney obligations and
pon-L 8. gonernment debt. The majority of these imvestments do not hay e quoted market prices available tor a specitic
government security and se the fair value is deteemined using quoted prices of similar securities in active markets and is
classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Corporate Bonds  This category is comprised of corporate bunds of U.S. and nen-U.S. companies trom a diverse set
of industries and size. The fair values for LS. and non-U.S. corporate bonds are derermined using quoted prices of similar
seeurities in active markets and observable data or broker or dealer gquotations. The fair values For these investments are
classified as level 2 wathin the valuation hicrarchy.

Pocled Funds Pooled fund NA Vs are provided by the trustee and are determined by reference to the fair value ot the
underlying sccuritios of the truse, less ity fiabilities. which are valued primarnly through the use of dircetly or indirectly
observable inputs. Depending on the pooled fund. underlving securities imay inciude marketable equity securitics or fixed
Qe seeuritics.

Bank Loans  This category is comprised ot traded syndicated loans of larger corporate borrow ers. Such loans are
tssued by sub-investment grade rated companies both in the U.S. and intemationally and are syndicated by investment banks
to institutional investors. They are regularly traded i an active dealer market comprised of large investment banks. which
supply bid and offer quotes and are theretore classificd within fevel 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Ligguidd Alrernaiive Invesipenss This category is comprised of investuments in alternative mutual funds whose holdings
include liquid securitics. cashe and derivatives. Such funds focus on diversitication and cmploy a variety of investing
strategies including long short equity. multi-strategy, and global macro. The fair valuc ot these s estments is determined by
reterence to the net asset value of the underlying holdings of the fund. which can be determined using obsenvable data (e.g..
mdices, yield curves. quoted prices of similar securities). and is classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Inswrance Contracts This category is comprised of purchased annuity insurance contracts (annuity contract buy-ins)
and i intended to mitigate the Company’s exposure to certain risks, such as longevity risk. The fair salue is culculated based
on the cash surrender value of the purchased annuity insurance contract, which is determined based on such factors as the tair
value of the underly ing wssets and discounted cash flows, These contracts are with highly rated insurance companices,
Insurance contracts are classiticd within level 3 of the valuation hicrarchy.

Real Estate Fusds  This category includes real ostate propertics. partnership equitics and investments in operating
companics. The fair vatue of the assets is determined using discounted cash flows by estimating an income stream for the
property plus a reversion into a present value at a risk adjusted rate. Yield rates and growth assumptions utilized are derived
from market transactions as well as other financial and industry data. The fair value for these myestments are classitied
within level 3 of the valuation bicrarchy.

Private Debt This category mcludes nen-traded. privately-arranged loans between one or i small group of private
debt imvestment managers and corporate boerrowers. which are typically too smatl w access the syndicated market and have
no credit rating. This category also includes similar loans w real estate companies or individual preperties. Loans included in
this category are valued at par value, are held to maturity or to call, and are classiticd within level 3 ot the valuation
hicrarchs .
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Conrributionys

Ata minimum, Linde contributes to its pension plans to compls with local regulatory requirements (e.g.. ERISA inthe
U nited States). Discretionary contributions m exeess of the local minimum requirements are made bused on many factors,
including long-ierm projections of the plans™ tunded status, the cconomic environment, potential risk of overtunding. pension
msurance costs and altemative uses of the cash. Changes o these factors can nmpact the tming ot discretionary conmbutions
from vear to vear. Pension contributions were 851 million in 20220542 mulhon 2021 and §91 mulhion in 2020, Lstimated
required contributions for 2023 arce currently expected 1o be in the range of S40 mitlion to $30 million.

Estimated Future Benefit Puyments

The following able presents estimated Future benefit payments. net of participant contributions:

(Milliens of

dollars) Pensions

Yeur Ended

December 31, L.S. Non-1 LS,
2023 S216 S 320
2024 13% 30
20258 161 327
2026 160 346
2027 163 345
2028-
2032 813 1.738%

NOTE 17. COMYUTMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company accrues non income-tax habilitics for contingencies when management beheves that a loss is probable
and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. while contingent gains are recognized only when reabized. In the event any
losses are sustained in excess of aceruals, they will be charged against income at that time. Attorney fees are recorded as
incurred. Commitments represent obligations. such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that are not vet
recorded on the company s balance sheet as Iabilities. The company records habilities tor commitments when incurred (e,
when the goods or services are received).

Contingent Liabilitiex

Linde is subject to various law suits and government iy estigations that anse from time to tme i the ordimary course of
business. These actions are based upon alleged environmental, tax, antitrust and personal injury clatns, among others. Linde
has strong defenses in these cases and intends o detfend iselt vigoroushy, [tis possible that the company muy ineur fosses in
connection with some of these actions in excess of acerued labilities, Management does not anticipate individually or in the
ageregate such Jasses would have a material adverse effect on the company s consolidated tinancial positton or liquidity
howeyer. it 1s possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the company s reported results of
operations i any given period.

Significant matters are:

. During 2009, the Braszilian government published Law 11041 2009 instituting a new voluntary amnesty
program {"Retis Program ™ which allowed Brazilian compantes to settle certain tederal tax disputes at reduced
amounts. During 2009, the company decided that it was economitcally beneticial to settle many of its
vutstanding federal tax disputes and such disputes were enrolled m the Retls Progrant. subject to tinal
caleulation and review by the Brazihian tederal government. The company recorded estimated habilines based
on the terms of the Refts Program. Since 2009, Linde has been unable to reach final agreement on the
caleulations and initared litigation against the gosernment in an attempt to resolve centam items. Open issues
rekate to the following matiers: (i application of cash deposits and et operating loss carry forwards to satisty
obligations and (1) the amount of tax reductions available under the Refis Program. Tt is difficult to estimate the
timing of resolution of fegal matters in Brazil.

. At December 31, 2022 the most signiticant non-income and income tax claims in Brazil. atter enrollmentin the
Refis Program. relate to state VAT tax matters and a federal income tax matter where the taxing authorities are
challenging the tax rate that should be applied w income generated by a subsidiary company that pres fousiy



received favorable ralings The towal estimated exposure relanng w such claims, including interest and penalties.
ds approprigic. s approxinmately $240 million. Linde bas not recorded any liabilities related to ~such clainis based
on mangement judgments, atter considering judements and opinions of cutside counsel, Because hidgation in
Brazil historically takes many vears to resoh e, itis very difficult to estinuie the timing of resolution ot these
matters: however iis possible that certain ot these maders may be resohved within the near term. The compainy
Is vigorously defending agaimst the proceedings. On February ¥, 2023, the Brazilian Supreme Court issued a
decision confirming the consutunonality of a specific federal income tax, with retroactive etteet. This decision
has not yet been finalized and is subjeet to ongoing motions tor clantication. The timing ot when this decision
will be tinal and the potential impact on the company’s tax liability remain uncertain at this time.

On September | 2000. CADE  Brarihan Administrative Council for Economic Defense) announced alleged
anticompetitive activity on the part of fisc industrial gas companies in Braztl and imposed fines. Origially.
CADFE impaosed a envil fine of RS2.2 billion Brazihan reais (8417 milhon) on White Martins, the Brasl-based
subsidiary of Linde Inc. The fine was redueed to RS bullion Brazilian reais (S322 mulliony due toa caleudation
crror made by CADE. The fine against White Martins was overturned by the Ninth Federal Court of Brasilia
CADE appealed this decision. and the Federal Court of Appeals rejected CADE s appeal and confirmed the
decision of the Ninth Federal Court of Brasilia. CADE bas filed an appeal with the Superior Court of Justice and
a decision 1s pending.

Stmtbarly. oa September 1 2010, CADE maposed a civil 1ine of R$237 million Brasilian reais (5435 million) on
Linde Gases Ltda.. the former Brazil-based subsidiary of Linde AG. which was divested w MG Industries
GmbH on March 1. 2019 and with respeet to which Linde provided a contractual indemmnity. The tine was
reduced to RSIRE mitlion Braslian reais (836 million) due to a caleulation error made by CADE. The finc
against Linde Gases Lida. was overturned by the Seventh Federal Court in Brasilia. CADE appealed this
decision, and the Federal Court of Appeals rejected CADE s appeal and confirmed the decision of the Seventh
Federal Court of Brasilia. CADE fifed an appeal with the Superior Court of Justice, and a final decision is
pending.

Linde has strong detenses and is confident that it wiil prevail onappeal and have the fines overturned. Linde
strongly believes that the allegations of anticompetitiyve activity against euar current and furmer Brazilian
subsidiaries are not supporied by valid and sufticient evidence. Linde belicves that this dectsion witl net stand
up o judicial review and deems the possibility of cush outflows to be extremely unlikely. As a resull, no
reserves have been recorded as managenent dovs not behieve that a loss from this case s probable.

On and after April 23, 2019 former sharcholders of Linde AG filed appraisal proceedings at the Disrict Court
{Landgericht) Munich T{Gernuny), secking an increase of the cash consideration paid in connection with the
previousty completed cash merger squecze-out ef all of Linde AG™s minority sharcholders for €189 46 per
share. Any such inerease would apply to all 14763113 Linde AG shares that were eutstanding on April &,
2019, when the cash merger squeeze-out wis completed. The peniod for plaintiftfs to file claims expired on
July 9. 2019, The company belicves the consideration paid was fair and that the clatms lack merit, and no
reserve has been established. We cannot estimate the timing of resolution

On December 300 2022, the Russian Arbitration Court of the St. Petersburg and Leningrad Region issued an
injunction presenting (1) the sale of any shares in Linde’s subsidiaries and joint ventures in Russia, and (i1) the
disposal ol any of assets in those entities exceeding 3% ol the relevant company s overall asset value. The
injunction is not expected to have any impact on the operations of Linde™s Russian businesses. The injunction
was requested by RusChemAlliance (RCA) as a preliminary measure to sceure payment of an eventual award
under an arbitration proceeding RUA intends 1o tile against Linde Engincering tor alleged breach of contract
under the agreciment to build a gas processing plant in Ust Luga, Russia entered into between a consortium of
Linde Engineering and Renaissance Heavy Industries LLC and RCA on July 7. 2021, Performance of the
agreenent was law fully suspended by Linde Enginecring on May 27, 2022 in complianee with applcable
sanctions and in accordance with a decision by the sanctions authority in Germany.

As of December 31, 2022, Linde had approximately S1.2 billion of advance payments recorded in contract
liubilitics related to engineering projects with RCA which are subject to sanctions and have been suspended
accordingly as of Mav 27,2022, Contract liabilities are typically recognized as revenue as performance
obligations are satistied under contract terms. Linde deconsolidated its Russian gus and engineering business
entitics as of June 30, 2022 (see Note 3). and the remaining insestment salue of its Russia subsidiarics is
immaterial. As such. the obligatzon to satisfy any residual conrract liabilities is not expected to have an adverse
impact on carnings, but may result in net cash outflows.
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It is ditticult to estimate the tming of resclution of this matrer The company 1ntends o viorously defend its
interests in both the injunction and arbitration procecdings.

Commitments

At December 31,2022 Linde had undrawn outstanding tetters of credit. bank guarantees and surety bonds valued at
approximately $3.578 million from financial institutions, These relate primarily o customer contract performance guarantecs
tincluding plant construction in connection with cortain on-ste contracts), self-insurance elaims and other commercial and
governmental requirements, including non-ULS. Iiegation matlers.

Other commitments related to lcases. tax labilitics for uncertain tax positions, long-term debt. other post retirement
and pension obligations are sumimarized clsewhere in the financial statements (see Notes 4 5. 11 and 163,

NOTE 18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Linde’s operations consist of two major product hines: industrial gases and engineering. As further desceribed in the
tollowing paragraph, Linde s industrial gases operations are managed on i geographic basis, which represent three ol the
company’s reportable segments  Americas, EMEA (Europe Middle East Africa). and APAC (Asia South Pacific): a tounh
reportable segment. which represents the company™s Enginecring business, destgns and manufactures equipment for air
separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating
in all three geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and @ few smaller businesses which individually do not
meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation,

The industrial gases product tine conters on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases toxygen. nitrogen.
argon, rare gases amt process gases fearbon dioxide. helium. hydrogen. electroniv gases. specialty gases, acetylene). Many
uf these products are co-products of the same manufacturing process. Linde manufactures and distributes nearly all of it
products and manages ws customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde’s industrial gases are distributed 1o various
end-markets wirhin a regional scgment through one of three basic distribution maethods: on-site or tonnage: merchant or bulk:
and packaged or eylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order o best meet the customer’s needs
and very few of its products can be econemivally transported owside of a region. Theretore, the distribution economics are
specific to the various geographics in which the company operates and are consistent with how management assesses
performance.

The company s measure of profit loss for scgment reporting is segment operating profit. Segment operating profit 1s
detfined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercompany royalties, and
itenrs not indicative of ongoing business trends. Phis 1s the manner 10 which the company s CODM assesses performance
and allocates resources. Similarly, total assets have not been mcluded as this is not provided to the CODM for their

assessment.

I'he table below presents information about reportable segments tor the vears ended December 31,2022, 2021 and

2020,

( Milkiaus of dullars) 2022 2021 2020

Sales (a)

AIMericas S 13.8574 S 12103 8 10,439

EMEA 8.143 7.643 6449

APAC 6.480 6,133 5,687

Engincering 2.762 2867 2851

Other 1.803 2,047 1.797
Total Sales S 33364 S 30793 0% 27.243
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Segment Operating Profit
Amerieas
EAEA
APALU
Enginecring
(ther
Reported Segment operating profit
Russia-thraine contlict and othier chiarges ¢ M ote 3y
Purchase accounting impacts Linde AG

Total operating profit

Depreciation and Amortiration
Americas
[MLEA
APAC
Engincering
Other
Segment depreciation and amortization
Purchase accounting impacts  Linde AG

Toetal depreciation and wnortization

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Amercas

FMEA

APAC

Fngineering

Orther

Total Capital Expenditures and Acguisitions

Sales by Major Country
United States

Ciermany (¢)

China

United Kingdom
Australia

Brasil

Other non-L.S.

Total sales

20212 2021 2020

5 2732 3.3068% 2773

2.013 [.889 | 463

1.670 1.302 1.277

533 473 33

(66) (30) {153}

7904 7.176 5.797

11.029) (273 {3006}

{1,306} (1.919) (1.9064)

S 5.369 4.984 3.322
2022 2021 2020

S 1.320 1,243 1.196

661 752 723

593 611 619

33 39 36

116 127 132

2723 2,772 2.7006

1,481 1.863 {920

b 1204 4.635 4.626
24022 2021 2020

S {098 1.354 1,425

330 HOY 0670

WX 995 1.214

238 25 13

118 131 146

S 3.283 3174 3468
2022 2621 2020

S 143.333 9123 8.473

3.662 3.601 3.740

2643 2562 2.061

1.934 2.060 1,595

1.372 1,307 [.071

1,138 [.065 822

(2,022 11,073 9.479

S 33,3604 30,793 27,233




2022 2021 2020

Long-lived Assets by Major Country (b)
United States S 7,603 S 7659 S

T 7 ;
Germany 1.67% 2,003 2394
China 2176 2383 2413
United Kingdom 704 [.078 [.313
Australia GRE 872 165
Bracil 720 705 734
Other - non-L.S, 9,919 1301 12,976
Total long-Tved assets S 23,548 S 26,003 5 28,711
(a) Sales reflect external sales only. Intersegment sales, primarily trom Engineering 1o the industrial gases segmients,
were STLO35 milhion, S896 million and S786 million for the year ended Decomber 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
(b) Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment  net.
(c} Sales in Germany include Engineerning sales to third parties, locally and internationatly, and represents 44% | 53%,

and 62% of Germany sales in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
19. REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is accounted for in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue is recognized as control of guods or services are

transferred to customers 1n an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to receive in
exchange tor the goods or services.

Contracts with Customers

Linde serves dodiverse group ol indusines including healtheare, chemicals and energy. manufacturing, metals and
mining, food and beverage, and electronics.

Tdustricd Gases

W ithin cach of the company s geographic segments for industrial gases. there are three basic distribution methods:
{1} on-site or tonnage; (i) merchant or bulk liquid: and (iih packaged or eylinder gases. The distribution method used by
Linde to supply a customer is detenmined by many factors, including the customer’s volume requirements and location. The
distribution method generally determines the contract terms with the customer and. accordingly. the revenue recognition
accounting practices. Linde™s primary products in s industrial gases business are aunmospheric gases (oxvgen, nitrogen,
argon. rare gases) and process gases {carbon dioxide. helium, hvdrogen. electronic gasas. specialty gases. acetylene). These
products are generally sold through one of the three distribution methods.

Following is a description of cach of the three industrial gases distnbution methods and the respective revenue
recognition policies:

On-site. Customers that require the largest v olumes of product and that have a relatively constant demand pattern are
supplicd by ¢rvogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers” sites and
supplics the product direetly 1o customers by pipeline. Where there are lurge concentrations of customers, a single pipeline
miy be connected to several plants and customers. On-site product supply contructs generally ure total requirement contracts
with terms tvpleally ranging from 10-20 vears and contain minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions,
Many of the eryogenic on-site plants also produce hguid products for the merchant mark et Theretore, plants are typically not
dedicated o o single customer. Addinonaliy. Linde is responsible for the design. construction. operations and maintenance of
the plants and our custemers typically have no oy olvement in these activities. Advanced air separation processes abso allow
on-site debivery to customers with smaller volume requirements,

The company s performance obligations related to on-site customers are satisfied over time as customers receive and
obtain control ot the product. Linde has elected wo apply the practical expedient for measuring progress tow ards the
conmipletion of a performance obligation and recognizes revenue as the company has the right to invoice cach customer.
which generally corresponds with product delivery. Accordingly. revenue 1s recognized when product 1s delnvered o the
customer and the company has the right o invoice the customer i accordance with the contract terms. Consideration in these
contracts is generally based on pricing which fluctuates with vanous price indices. Variable components of consideration
cxist within on-site contracts but are censidered constrained
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Verchanr Merchant dehyertes generally are made trom Linde™s plants by wnker trucks to storage containers at the
customer’s site. Due e the relatively high distribution cost. merchant oxyvgen and pitrogen generally have a relatively small
distribution radius from the plants at shich they are produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helium can be shipped much
longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are ustally three w soven year supply agreements
bised on the requirements of the customer. These contracts generally do not contain nunimuam purchase requirements or
volume commiunents,

The company 's performance oblicanons related to merchant customers are generally satisfied at a poeint in time as the
custoniers receiny e and obtain control of the product. Reyenue 15 recognized when product is delivered to the customer and
the company has the right o inveice the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any variable components of
constderation within merchant contracts are constrained how ey er this consideramion i~ not significant.

Puchaged CGuses, Customers requiring small volumes are supphicd products m containers called evlinders. under
medium to high pressure. Linde distributes merchant gases from its production plants o company -owned eylinder fitling
plants where eylinders are then filled for distribution to customers. Oy linders may be dehinvered to the customer’s site or
picked up by the cusiomer at a packaging lacilizy or retail store. Linde invoices the customer tor the industrial gases and the
use ot the eylinder container(s). The company also sells hardgoods and welding cquipment purchased from independent
manufacturers. Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-vear supply contracts and purchase orders and do not
contain minimum purchase requirements or volume commitments.

The company s performance obligations related to packaged pases are satistied at a point in time. Accordingly, revenue
is recognized when product is delivered to the customer or when the customer picks up product from a packaged gas tuctlity
ar retail store, and the company has the right to payment from the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any
variable consideration is constrained and will be recognized when the unceriainty related to the consideration is resolved.

Frgincering

I'he company designs and manutactures equipment tor air separation and other industrial gas applications
manutactured specitically for end customers. Sale of equipment contracts are gencrallv comprised of a single performunee
obligation. Revenuce trom sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as Linde has an entorecable right to payment
fur perfurmance completed to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized
over time. revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input method. Costs incurred to dute relative to wtal
estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satistving performance obligations. Costs incurred include
material. labor, and overhead costs and represent work contributing and proportienate w the transfer of conwrol t the
customer. Changes to cost estimates and contract moditications are typically accounted tor as part of the existing contract
and are recognized as a cumulative adjustments For the inception-to-date effect of such change.

Conitract Assets wund Liahilitios

Contract assets and labilitics result from dilferences in timing of revenue recognition and customer inveicing. ¢ ontract
assets primarily relate t sale of equipment contracts for which resenue is recognized osver ime. The balance represents
unbilled res enue which occurs when rescnue recognized under the measure ol progress exceeds amounts invoiced w
customers. Customer mvoices may be based on the passage of time. the achievement of certain contractual milestones or a
combination of both eriteria. Contract liabilities include ady ance payments or right to constderation prior to performance
under the contruct. Contract lighilities are recognized as revenue as performance obligations are satisfied under contract
terms. Linde has contract assets of $124 million at December 31,2022 and S134 million at December 31, 2021, Total
contract liabilitics are $3.986 million at December 31,2022 (current of $3.073 million and $913 million within deferred
credits in the consolidated balance sheets). As of December 31, 2022 Linde has approximately S1.7 illion recorded in
contract liabilities related to engineering projects in Russia subject to sanctions Toral contract liabilities were $3,699 mitlion
at December 31, 2021 (current ¢ontract liabilitics of $2.940 million and $739 million within deferred credits in the
conselidated balance sheets). Revenue recognized for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 that was included in the
contract Habiliey ar December 31, 2021 was ST.305 million. Contract assets axl labilities primartly relate to the Einde
Enginecring business,

Peavment Terms wid Other

Linde generalls receises paviment after pertormance obligations are satistied. and customer prepayments are not typical
for the industrial gases business. Payviment terms vary based on the countny where sales originate and local customary
payment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of customary payment ternms. Amounts billed for sales
and use taxes, value-added taxes, and certain excise and other specific transactivnal taxes imposed on vy enue producing
transactions are presented on a net basis and are not included in sales within the consolidated statement of income.
Additionally, sales returns and atlow ances are not a normal praciice m the mdustry and are not significant.
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Disagpregated Revenue fnformation

Palal

Ax desenbed above and in Note [X the company manages its industrial gases business on a geographie basts, while the
Engineering and Other businesses are generally managed on a global basts. Furthermore, the company believes that reporting
sales by distribution method by reportable veosraphic segment best itlustrates the nature. Gming. type of customer, and
contract terms for its revenues, including terms and pricing.

The following tables show sales by distnbution method at the conselidated level and for cach reportable segment and
Other for the years ended December 31, 20222021 and 2020,

N s of dodices Yeur Ended December 31, 2022
Sales Americas EAEA APAC Engineering Other Total S
Merchant S 37860N 2509 S 2220 08 -5 76 5 K6l 26%
On-Site JU048 2415 2471 e ¥.934 27%
Packaged Gias 5831 3466 1523 e S 10.871 33
Other 209 33 266 2.762 L5378 1. 868 14%0
S 3874 s sd4d3 S 6480 S 2762 S LL.8OS S 33364 100%0
et of offars) Your Ended December 31 2021
Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total Y
Merchant S 3279 S 2227 8§ 21081 S S 173§ 7.860 26%,
On-Site 3223 1. 824 2206 .- 7.345 24%,
Packaged Gas 3436 3,539 1.532 24 10,551 34%0
Other 143 33 124 2867 F.R30 3.037 16%a
S 12103 s 7643 0S8 6133008 2RO7T S 2047 S 3(L793 100%
(X Ity oF dotfer Y ear Inded December 3. 2020
Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engincering Other Total Y
Merchant S 2839 S 187 S 2005 S S 143 S 6,859 237,
On-Site 2313 1.334 2.049 - 3916 KA
Packaged Cias S.G34 3175 1,559 22 9790 36%a
Other 73 S0 74 2RI 1.630 1.678 17%
S 10439 % 6449 S 50637 S 2ZXILOS L7978 27243 10024

Remaining Performance Obligations

As deseribed above, Linde™s contracts with on-site customers are under long-term supply arrangements which
generally require the customer to purchase their requirements from Linde and alse have minimum purchase requirements.
Additionally. plant sales from the Linde Engineering business are primarily contracted on a fixed price basis. The company
estimates the consideration related e future minimun purchase requirements and plant sales was approximately S51 billion
texcludes Russian projects which are impacted by sanctions. refer to Note 3). This amount excludes all on-site sales abose
minimum purchasc requirements. which can be signiticant depending on customer needs. In the future, actual amounts will
be different due to impacts from several fiuctors. many of which are bevond the company’™s control including. but not limited
to, timmyg of newly signed. termimated and renew ed contracts, inflanonary price escalations, currency exchange rates, and
pass-through costs related to natural gas and electricity. The actual duration ot Tong-term supply contracts ranges up to
twenty years. The comparny estmates that approximately halt of the revenue related to minimum purchase requirements will
be carned in the next five yvears and the remaining thereatier.

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 6, 2023, Linde purchased the remaiming 77.2% ownership interest in nexAirn LLC, nexAir, LLC 1y one of the
largest mdependent packaged gas distributors m the United States with annual sales of approximately S400 milbon in 2022,
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ITEN 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTEING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
[TEM YA CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Bisclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation of the etffectiveness ol Linde s disclosure controls and procedures. which was made under the
supervision and with the participation of management. including Linde™s principal exceutive ofticer and principal tinancial
efficer. the principal executive oflicer and principal financial officer have cach concluded that, as ol Deeember 31, 2072,
such disctosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by Linde in reports
that 11 files ur submits under the Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded. processed. summarized and reported within the time
periods specitied in the Securitios and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. and accumulated and communicated 1o
management including Lmde™s principal exceutine officer and principal financial officer. to allow timely decisions regarding
required diselosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Refer to ltem ¥ for Management’s Report on Internal Contro! Over Fiancial Reporting as of December 31,2022
Changes in Internat Control over Financial Reporting

Ihere were no changes in Linde™s internal control over tinancial reporting that occurred during the gquarter ended
Docember 31, 2022 that hav e materially atfected. or are reasonably hikely to materially affect, Linde™s internal control oser
financial reporting.

ITEM OB, OTHER INFORMATION
None.

ITENYC, DISCLOSLRE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THA'L PREVENT INSPECTIONS
None.



PART HI
ITEM 10, IMRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVYERNAME

Certata information required by this item is incorporated herein by reterence t the sections capuioned “Corporate
Governanee and Board Matters Director Nominees™ and “Corporate Governance And Board Matiers “Delinguent

Section 16 (ar Reports™ in Linde™s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 300 2025 tor the Annual General Meeting.
Ideneification of the dwdit Committee

Linde has a separately -designated standing Audit Commiitee established in accordance with Section 3{a) 53%)(A) of the
Seeurities Exchange Act of 19534 as amended (the “Exchange Acet™). The members ot that audit committee are Prof.
Dr. Marun H. Richenhagen (chairman). Dr. Thomas Enders. Dr. Victoria Ossadnik and Adberto Weisser and each member is
mdependent within the meanimyg of the mdependencee standards adopted by the Board of Directors and those of the New York
Stock Fxchange.

Atidiv Commitice Financial Evpert

The Linde Board of Directors has determined that Alberto Weisser satisfy the eriteria adopted by the SEC 1o serve 4y an
“audit committee financial expert™ as defined by Tem 407(d)(3)631) of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is
independent within the meaning of the independence standards adopied by the Board of Directors and those of the New York
Stock Exchange.

Cude of Ethics

Linde has adopred a code of ethics that applics w the company s directors and all emplovees, including as Chief Executive
Otficer, Chict Financial Officer. and Chief Accounting Ofticer. This code vf ethics. including specitic standards for
implementing certain provisions of the code, has been approved by the Linde Board of Dircctors and is named the “Code of
Business Integrity™. This decument is posted on the company’s public website, www . dinde.conm but is not incorporated
hereim.

ITEM11. EXECLTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections capiioned “Executive Compensation
Maers™ and “Corporate Governance and Board Matters - Director Compensation™ in L inde’s Proxy Statement o be filed by
April 3002023 for the Annual General Meeting.
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ITEM 12 SECLRITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICLAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Eyuite Compensarion Plans Informarion The table below prosvides tiformation as of December 21, 2022 about
company shares that mas be issued upon the exercise of options. warrants and nights granted to emplovees or members of
Linde s Board of Directors under equity compensation plans with avards outstanding as of December 31, 2022,

FQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities
remaining available lor

NSumber of securities (o Weighted-u erage future issuancc under |
he issued upon exergise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of putstanding options, outstanding vptions. (excluding securities

Plan Category warrants and rights (a) warrants and rights (b) reftected in column (a)) (¢)

Eguity compensation plans approved by

sharcholders 7961 733 (1 S 164.11 8.271,232(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved

by shareholders

Total 7.961.733 S 164.11 8.271.252
(1 This amount includes 649,987 restricted shares and 383,330 performance shares.
(2 This wmount refleets shares available for future issuances pursuant 1o the 2021 Linde ple L ong Term incentive Plan

that was approved by sharcholders on July 26. 202 1.

Certain information required by this item regarding the beneticial ownership of the company 's ordinary shares is
incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “nformation on Share Ownership™ in Linde™s Proxy Statement to
be filed by April 300 2023 for the Annual General Mecting.,

ITEM13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item s incomporated herein by reference o the sections captioned “Corporate Governanee
And Board Matters  Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons.” “Corporate Governance And
Board Matters  Certain Relationships and Transactions,” and ~“Corporate Gos ermance And Board Matters — Director
Independence™ in Linde's Proxy Statement to be fifed by April 30, 2023 for the Annual General Meeting.

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item 1 incorporated herein by reference to the scetion captioned ~Audit Matters™ 1n
Linde™s Proxy Statement to be tHed by April 30, 2023 for the Annual General Meeting.



PART IV

TTEM IS, EXHIBIFS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
() The tollowing documents are filed as part of this report:
ti) The company’s 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report of the Independent Registered

Public Accounting Frem are included m Part 1L Ttem 8. Financial Statciments and Supplementary Data,

(i) Financial Statement Schedules - All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not
applicable or the required information is shown in the tinancial statements or notes thereto,

tii) Exhibits  The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form {0-K are [isted in the accompanying
index.
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Lahibit Mo,

2.1

* kY

"

3.01

4.03

4.04

+.05

INDEX TG EXHIBITS

Linde ple and Subsidiariev

BDescription

Business Combination Agreement by and among Linde Akticngescilschafte Praxamr. Inc.. Zamalight
PLC. Zamalhight Holdeo LT.C and Zamahight Subco. tne. dated as of June 1. 2087 (Filed as Exhibi
2.1 o Praxair, Ine.”s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 1, 2017, Filing No. 1-11037, and 1»
incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment Noc b odated Anonst 1002017, to the Business Combimation Agreement, by and among
Praxair. inc., Linde Aktiengesellschati. Linde ple, Zamalight Holdeo LLC and Zamalight Subco, Ine.
(Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Praxair, [ne.’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August (O, 2617, Filing
No. 1-11037. and is incorporated hereby by reference)

Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July 5. 2018, by and among Praxair, Inc., Taive Nippon Sanso
Corporation ("Taivo™), and Linde ple with respect o the sate of a majority of Praxair’s businesses in
Lurope to Taivo in connection with the Business Combination Agreement (Filed as Bxhibit 2.1 1o the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Seprember 36, 2018, File

Ne. [-33730., and is incorporated hereby by reference).

Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated July $6. 2018, by and among Linde ACL Praxair, Ine. MG
Industries GmbH. Messer Canada Ine.. MG Industries USA, Ine. (the MG entities and Messer
Canada. Inc. being collectively referred to as ~Messer™) and Linde ple with respect to the sale of
certain assets of Linde AG in the Americas and certain assets of Praxair. Inc. to Messer in connection
with the Business Combination Agrecment (Fited as kExhibit 2.2 1o the Company s Quarterly Report
on Farm 10-Q for the quarter ended September 300 2008, File No. 1-38730, and is incorporated
hereby by reference).

First Amendment dated September 21, 2018 w the Sale and Purchase Agreement., dated July 16,
2048, by and among Linde AG. Praxair, Inc.. Vesser. and Linde ple with respect to the sale of certain
additional asscts of Linde AG in the Americas 1o Messer in connection with the Business
Combination Agreement (Filed as Exhibit 2.3 to the Company™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for
the quarter ended September 30. 2018, File No. 1-387360. and 15 incorporated hereby by reforence ).
Sceond Amendment dated October 19, 2018 w the Sale and Purchase Agreement. dated July 16,
2018, as amended by the First Amendment thereto, by and among Linde AG. Praxair, Inc.. Messer.
and Linde ple, with respect to the sale of certain additonal asscts of Linde AG in the Amerteas to
Messer in connection with the Business Combination Agreement (Diled as Exhibit 2.2 to the
Company s Quarterky Report on Form [10-Q) tor the quarter ended September 30, 2015, File

No. [-11037, and s incorporated hereby by reterence).

Third Amendment dated February 20. 2019 to the Sale and Purchase Agreement. dated July 16, 2018,
as amended by the First and Sceond Amendiment thereto, by and among Linde AG. Praxair. Tnce |
Messer, and Linde ple, with respect to the sale of certain additional assets of Linde AG in the
Americas W Messer in connection with the Business Combination Agreement dated as of June i,
2017, as amended. to ¢ffeet a combination of the businesses of Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. (Filed as
Exhibit 2.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 3-K, filed on March 7. 2019, File No. 1-11037.
amd 15 incorporated herehy by reference).

Amended and Restated Public Fimited Company Constitution of Linde ple (Firled as Exhibit 3 1 to
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K. filed on October 310 2048, File No. 333-218485. and
incorporated herein by reference).

Description of Linde ple Ordinary Shares (Filed as Exhibu 4,01 to Linde ple’s 20019 Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference).

Indenture. dated as of July 15, 1992, between Praxair. Ine. and ULS. Bank National Assoctation, as
the wltimate suceessor rustee to Bank of America, Hlinos, formerly Continental Bank, National
Assoctation (Filed as Exhibit 4 1o Praxair, [ne. s Cuarrent Report on Form 8-K dated March 19,2007,
Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by referenced.

Form of Subordimated lndenture for Praxair. Ine. ¢Fited as Exhibit 4.3 to Praxair, Ince.’s Form 8-3.
tiled on May 12,2085, File No. 333-204093, and s incorporated herein by reterence.)

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 3, 2019, among Linde ple. Praxair, Inc., Linde AG
and U.S. Bank Nutional Association, as trustee (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 1o the Linde ple Form 8-K dated
September 6. 2019, Filing No. 1-38730, and mcorporated herein by reference).

Guarantee and Negative Pledge of Finde ple dated May 11 2020 ¢Fited as Exhibit 4.3 to the Linde
ple Form 8-K dated May 26, 2020, Filing No. 1-38730, and 1~ incorporaged herem by refereneey
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trvhibit No.

4.06

4.07

+.08

+.09

410

4.1t

*10

10.01

[6.02

*10.03

*10.03a

*10.03b

*10.03¢

*10.03d

*10.04

*10.05

*10.05a

Description

Upstream Guarantee to Linde ple provided by Linde Gmbll dated May 11, 2026 (Filed as Fxhibit 4.4
to the Linde ple Form ¥-K dated May 26,2020, Filing No. [-38730, and incorporated hercin by
reference).

Lpstream Guarantee to Linde ple provided by Praxair, Ine. dated May 11, 2020 (Filed as Exhibu 4.3
to the Linde ple Form 8-K dated May 26, 2020, Filing No.1-38730, and incorporated herein by
reference).

Fiscal Ageney Agreement, dated May 11, 2020, among Linde ple. as Issuer and as Guarantor, Linde
Finance BV as Bssuer. and Deutsehe Bank Aktiengesellsehafi, as Fiscal Agent and Paving Agent
(Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Linde ple Form 8-K dated May 26, 2020, Filing No [-37830. and
incorporated herein by reference).

Indenture. dated as of August 10, 2020, among Praxair, Inc.. Linde pic and U.S. Bank National
Assaciation. as trustec (Filed as Exhibit 4.1 1o the Linde ple Form 8-K dated August 10, 2020, Filing
No. [-38730. and incorporated herein by reference ).

Amended and Restated Fiscal Agency Agreement. dated August 3. 2021, ameng Linde ple, as Issuer
and as Guarantor, Linde Finance B. V. as Issucer, and Deutsche Bank Akticngescllschaft, as Fiscal
Agent and Paving Agent (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to Linde ple s current report on Form 8-K. dated
Scptember 30, 2021, Filing No 1-38730, and incorperated herein by reference).

Coepies ot the agreements related to long-teem debe which are not required 1o be filed as exhibits w
this Annual Report on Form 10-K will be turnished to the Securitics and Exchange Commissien upon
request,

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term
Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.0¢ to Linde ple’s 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing

N 1-38730, and is incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Five Year Credit Agreement. dated as of December 7, 2022, among Linde
ple, certain of its subsidiaries parties thereto as borrowers, the lenders party thereto and Bank of
America, NoAL as Administratve Agent(Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Linde ple’s current report on Form
8-K. dated December ¥, 2022, Filing No. 1-387 30, and incorporated herein by reference)

364-Day Credit Agreement, dated as of December 7. 20220 among Linde ple, cortain ofits
subsidiaries parties thereto as borrowers. the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, NoA L as
Administrative AgenttFiled as Exhibit 10.2 1o Linde pte™s current report on Form 8-K. dated
Pecember 8, 2022 Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference)

2021 Lande ple Long Term Incentive Plan, Etfective as of July 26, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 10,01 to
Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021, Filing No. 1-38730.,
and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of I'ransferable Stock Option Avward Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term [neentive Plan
{Filed as Exhibit 10.01 1o Linde ple’™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 300 2021, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated hercin by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan (Filed as
Exhibit 10.02 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2021, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance Share Unit Award Lnder the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plan with
Return on Capital performance mietries (Filed as Exhibit 10.03 o Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 300 2021, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Performance Share Lnit Award Under the 2021 Linde ple Long Term Incentive Plen with
Total Shurcholder Retum performance metries (Filed as Exhibit 10.04 w0 Linde plo’s Quarterls
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2021, Filing No, 138730, and
mcorporated herein by reference).

Linde plc Annuual Variable Compensation Plan effective Junuary 1, 2019 (Filed as Fxhibit 101 o the
Company 's Current Report on Forma 8-K. filed on fanuary 25, 2019, File No. 1-38730. and i~
mcorperated hereby by reterence.

Praxair. [nc. Supplemental Retirement income Plan A effective January 1, 2008 (Fiied a~

Exhibit 10,034 1o Praxair, Inc.”s 2008 Annual Report en Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037. and
nevrporated herein by reference)

First amendment to the Praxair. [ne. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effective January |,
2000 (Filed as Exhibic 10.03b w Praxair. Ine’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing

No. -1H03 7 and incorporated herein by reference.
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Exhibit M.
*10.05b

*10.03¢

*10.05d

“10.03¢

*10.057

*10.0

A

‘I

*10.G5h

*10.06

#10.00a

*10.06h

*10.06¢

*10.06d

*10.06¢

*10.061

*10.07

*10.0¥

*10.09

1010

*10.10a

Deseription

Sceond Amendiment to Prasair, Ine. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan A effective February 28,
2017, (Filed as Exhibit 10,05¢ w Praxair. Ine.’s 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Fiiing

Now L-TTO37 amd is incorporated hereby by pelerence).

Third Amendment to the Praxair, inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan v ctfective

Decermber 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10.03m to Praxair. Inc.’s 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
File No. 1-11037_ and is incorporated herein by reference).

Praxar. he. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B amended and resiated etfective December 31,
2007 Filed as Exhibit 10055 o Praxair, Inc.”s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing

No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by referenced.

Firstamendment 1o the Praxair. Ine. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective January (.
2010 (Filed as Exhibir 10.03d 10 Praxair. Inc.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing

No. -T2, and incorporated herein by reference).

Sceond Amendment to Praxair. Ine. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effecuve July 12012
(Filed as Exhibit 10.93¢ to Praxair Ine.”s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. -1 1637, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Third Amendmen to Praxair, Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effective February 28,
2017, (Filed as Fxhibit 10.05g to Praxair. Inc.”s 2016 Annual Report an Form 10-K, Filing

No. 1-1TT037 and 1s incorporated herein by reference

Fourth Amendment to the Praxair, Ine. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B effecnve

December 1, 2017 (Filed as Exhibit 10.031 1w Praxair. Inc.”s 2017 Annual Report on Fonm 10-KL File
Moo -T1037, and is incorporaied herein by reference),

Praxair, Inc. Fqualization Benefit Plan amended and restated eftective December 31, 2007 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.03¢ to Praxair. Inc.”s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Tiling No. 1-1 1437 and
incorporated herein by reference).

First amendiment to the Praxair. Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan effective January £, 2010 ¢Filed as
Fxhibit 10,05 10 Praxair Ine.’s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and
incerporated horein by referenee)

Sccond Amendment o the Praxair. Inc. Equatization Benefit Plan eftective February 28, 2017 (Filed
as Fixhibit 10637 to Praxair. [ne."s 2016 Annual Repert on Foom 10-K, Filing No. 111037 and is
incorpurated herein by reference).

Third Amendment to the Praxair. Inc. Fqualization Benefit Plan effective December 1. 2017 (Fiied as
Exhibit 10.05Kk to Praxair, ine.’s 2017 Annua! Report on Form 10-K, File No. 1-11037. and is
incorporated herein by reference).

Lide Ine. 2015 Equalization Benetit Plan. Amended and Restated effective September [ 2020 (Filed
as Exhibit 10.5 1o Linde ple's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2020, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference),

Linde [nc. 2018 Supplemental Retirement Income Plan AL Amended and Restated etfective
September 12020 (Filed as fxhibit 1013 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 16-0Q for the
quarter ended Seprember 30, 2020, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorperated herein by reference).

Lindc fne. 2018 Supplemental Retirement Income Plan B, Amended and Resuated eftective
September 1. 2020 (Filed as Exhibit B34 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form HG-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2020, Filing No. 1-38730. and incorperated herein by reference).
Praxair, Inc. Dircctor’s Fees Deterral Plan amended and restated effective January 26, 2010 (Filed as
Exhibit 10.06 to Praxair Inc.s 2009 Annual Report on Forim 10-K, Filing Nov. 1-11037, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Linde Compensation Deferral Program Amended and Restated etteetive September [ 2020 (Fited as
Exhibit 10.2 to0 Lide ple™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q tor the quarter ended September 30.
20200 Filing Noo 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reterence).

Frest Amendment w the Linde Compensauon Delerral Program effective April 120210 (Filed as
Exhikit 10.01 to Linde ple™s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ended March 31, 2021
Filing No, 1-38730 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ine. Long Term incentive Plan (Filed as Bxhibit 403 to Praxaur,
Ine.’s Form S-8. filed on October 31, 2018, File No. 333-228084. and incorporated herein by
reference).

First Amendment. dated as of April 25, 2017 to the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long
Term Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.01 to Praxair, Ine."s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q tor the
yuarter ended March 31, 2017, Filing No. [-11037, and s mcorporated herein by reference).
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10010
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21401
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Description

seeond Amendment dated September 8. 2020 to the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ine Long
Torm Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10,1 to Linde ple’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) for the
quarter ended Septomber 30, 2020, Fihng No. 1387300 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Standard Option Award under the 2000 Praxaur. inc. Long Term incentive Plan (Filed as
Exhibit 10,22 1o Praxair. [ne.”s 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K Filing No. 1-1 1037, and
incorporated herern by reference).

Form of Transterable Optiion Award under the 2009 Praxair, [ne, Loag Term Incentive Plan (Filed as
Exhibit 16.23 to Praxar, Ine.”s 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037. and
incorporated herein by referencel

Form of Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ince. Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants made in 2013-2017 (Filed as Exhibit 10.26 to Praxair, Inc.’s 2014 Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-11037, and incorporated herein by reterence).

Form of Transferable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ine. Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants made 1 2018 (Filed as Exhibit 10.26a to Praxair. Inc.’s 2017 Annual Report
on Form 10-K. File No. [-11037, and wcorporated herein by reterence).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Ine, Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants made 11 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10.27a to Praxair. Ines 2017 Annual Report
on Form 10-K. File Noo 1-1H037, and incorporated hercin by reference).

Form of Non-Emplovee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009
Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive Plan for grants made in 2019 and thereatter (Filed as Exhibit
10.101 to Linde ple’s 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. [-38730. and mcorporated
herein by reference).

Forro of Transterable Option Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair. Inc. Long Term
[ncentive Plan tor grants beginning in 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10.TEL to Linde ple™s 2018 Annual
Report on Form [0-K. Filing No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair., Ine. Long Term
Incentive Plan for grants beginning in 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10.11M to Linde ple™s 20108 Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. 1-38730, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 20009 Praxair. Inc, Long
Term Incentive Plan tor grants beginning n 2019 with Return on Capital performance metries (Filed
as Exhibit 10. 11N to Linde plc™s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing No. 1-38730. and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Performance Share Unit Award under the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long
Term Incentive Plan for grants beginning in 2019 with Towl Sharcholder Return performance metrics
(Filed as Exhibit 10,110 to Linde ple™s 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Filing No. [-387360, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Pension Agreement among Linde AG. Linde Holding Ginbi and Mr. Sanjiv Lamba. dated
December 200 2019 (Filed as Exhibit 10.13a to Linde ple™s 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Filing
No. 1-38730. and incorporated herein by reference).

Otter Letter berween Linde ple and Sanjiv Lamba dated November 12, 2021 (Filed as Exhibit 101 to
Linde pic’s current report on Form &-K dated November 18, 2021, File No. 1-38730. and
incoerporated herein by reference).

Nondisclosure, Nonsoliciation and Noncompetition Agreement between Linde Ine. and Sanjis
Lamba dated as of November 7. 2021 thiled as Exhibit 10.2 1o Linde ple™s current report on Form
8-K dated November I8 2021 File No. 1-38730. and incomporated herein by referenee.

Form of Linde ple Dircctor Indemnitication Agreement (Filed as Exhubir 1001 1o the Company’s
Current Report on Form ¥-K. filed on October 31, 2015, File No. 333-2 18485, and incorporated
herein by reference).

Subsidiarics of Linde ple

Consent of Indepondent Registered Public Accounting Firm,

Rute [3a-14ay Certification

Rule 13a-T4Gn Certihication

Section 1330 Certitication (such certifications are fumished ror the infermation of the Commission
and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any (iling ander the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act).
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Exhilvit No. Description

3202 Section 1330 Certification (such certifications are furnished for the mformation of the Conunission
and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Secunties Actor the
Exchange Act).

I01.INS XBRL Instance Document: The XBRL Instance Document docs not appear in the Interactive Data
File because its XBRL tags are embeddad within the Inline XBRL document.

T01.SCHE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

I01.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Caleulation Linkbase

101.LAR XBRI. Taxonomy Eatensiton Label Linkbase

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Einkbase

101 DEY XBRI Taxonemy bxtension Detinition Linkbase

Copics of oxhibits incorporated by reterence can be obtained from the SEC and are located in SEC File No. [-11037.

[ndicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arangament,

*E Certain schedules or similar attuchments have been omuted pursuant to Bem 60 1¢{b)( 2} of Regulation 5-K. The
Registrant agrees to furnish supplemental copies of any of the omitted schedules or attachmenis upon request by the
SEC.

11



SIGNATURES
Linde ple and Subsidiaries

Pursuant to the requirements ot the Securities Exchange Act of 19340 the registrant has duly caused this report w be
signed on its behal by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Linde ple
(Registrant)

» bl ~ K I G 8 ]
Date: February 28, 2623 By c bt

Kelees F. Host
Chief fccomnting (ffiver
Pursuant ta the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the
tollowing persons on behalt of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 28, 2023,

s SN FoasGrL s Sy Lasia s MarHew ) Wi
Stephen F. Apgel Sanjis Lamba Matthew J. White
Chutrimn Chief Executive Officer und rector Chief Financiaf Officer
5 PROF. DDBRCANN-RRISTIN ACTIE IETNR 5 RopBrri L. Woob 50 DR THOMANS ENDERS
Ann-Kristin Achleitner Robert L. Wood Thomas Enders
Directur Birecter Director
s JOskr Karser s DrROVICTORIA OS5 ADNIK ~ Eowarp G Galanin
Juset Kaeser Victoria Ossidnik Fdward G. Galaote
Directior Director Direcror
s AT BERTO W ISSER s Pror DroMar s HORcn sHAaGeN s Huon Grandg
Abherto Weivser Martin Richenhagen Hugh Grang
Director Divector Director
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Juan Pelaez
vice President investor Relations
juan Pelaez. linde.com

General Inquiries
tnvesior Relations - linde.com
+1 203 837-2210

Ordinary Shares Listing (Symbol: LIN}
New York Stock Exchange

CUSIP: G54950 103
ISIN: TEQ00STYST62

For mere infarmation, visit us ondine
at www linde com




At Linde, we are relentless in our
mission of making our world more
productive, sustainably.

We build on our pioneering past to

shape the future, propelled by the
being power of today’s transformative
what’s next technologies and our people’s

ingenuity. We believe in the benefits

of collaboration and promote a culture
of respect, integrity, recognition and

‘ . inclusion, and take pride in delivering
a / innovative and sustainable solutions
T 4 for our customers.
by o E
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Be Limitless.
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